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GENERAL STATEMENT 


The Society, a private non-profix organization, is dedicated ro the collection and preservation of the history 

of the Supreme Court of the United States. Incorporated in the District of Columbia in 1974, it was founded 

by Chief Justice Warren E. Burger, who served as irs first honorary chairman. 

The Society accomplishes its mission by conducting educational programs, supporting historical 

research, publishing books, journals, and electronic materials, and by collecti ng antiques and artifacts related 

to the Court's history. These activities and others increase the public's awareness of the Court's contri butions 

to our nation's rich constitutional heritage. 

The Society maintains an ongoing educational outreach program designed to expand Americans' 

undemanding of the Supreme Court, the Constitution and the judicial branch. The Society cosponsors 

Sneet Law Inc:s summer institute, which trains seconda ry school teachers ro educate their students about the 

Court and the Constitu tion. It also sponsors an annual lecture series at the Supreme Court as well as 

occasional public lectures around the country. The Society maintains its own educational website and 

cosponsors Landmarkcases.org, a website that provides curriculum supporr to teachers about important 

Supreme Court cases. 

In terms of publications, the Society distributes a Quarterly newsletter to its members containing short 

historical pieces on the Court and articles describing the Society's programs and activities. It also publishes 

the Journal of Supreme Court History, a scholarly collection of articles and book reviews, which appears in 

March, July and November. The Society awards cash prizes to students and established scholars to promote 

scholarship. 

The Society initiated the Documentary History of the Supreme Cou rt of the United States, 

1 78~1800 in 1977 with a matching grant from the National Historical Publications and Records Commission 

(NHPRC). The project seeks to reconstruct an accurate record of the development of the federal judiciary in 

the formative decade between 1789 and 1800 because records from this period are often fragmentary, 

incomplete, or missing. The Supreme Court became a cosponsor in 1979; since then the project has completed 

seven Out of the eight volumes. An oral history program in which former Solicitors General, former 

Attorneys General, and retired Justices are interviewed is another resea rch project sponsored by the Society. 

The Society maintains a publications program that has developed several general interest books: The 

Supreme Court Justices: Illustrated Biographies 178~1995 (1995), short illustrated biographies of the 108 

Justices; Supreme Court Decisions and Women's Rights: Milestones to Equality ( 2000), a guide to gender 

law cases; We the Students: Supreme Court Cases for and About High School Students (2000), a high 

school textbook written by Jamin B. Raskin; and Black White and Brl)Wtl: The Landmark School 

Desegregation Case in Retrospect (2004), a collection of essays to mark the 50th anniversary of the Brown 

case. 

The Society is also conducting an active acquisitions program, which has substantially contributed to 

the completion of the Court's permanent collection of busts and portraits, as well as period furnishings, 

private papers, and other artifacts and memorabilia relating to the Court's hisrory. These materials are 

incorporated into exhibitions prepared by the Court Curator's Office for the benefit of the Court's one 

million annual visitors. 

The Society has approximate ly 6,400 members whose financial support and volunteer participation in 

the Society's standing and ad hoc committees enables the organization to function. These committees report 

to an elected Board of Trus tees and an Executive Committee, the latter of which is principally responsible for 

policy decis ions and for supervising the Society's permanent staff 

Requests for additional information should be directed to the Society's headquarters at 224 East Cap itol 

Street, N.E., Washington, o.c. 20003, telephone (202) 543-0400, or to the Society's website at 

www.supremecourthistory.org. 

The SocielY has been determined eligible co receive tax deductible gifts under section 501 (c) (3) of the Internal Revenue Code. 

http:www.supremecourthistory.org
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Introduction 

Melvin I. Urofsky 

Longtime readers ofthe Journal know that 
I often get very enthusiastic about the wide 
range of topics that we now include regularly 
under the rubric of Supreme Court history. 
When I first began studying constitutional his­
tory in graduate school, one read cases and lit­
tle more. The art ofjudicial biography was in its 
infancy and essentially limited to a few books 
by Alpheus Mason. Scholars had not yet begun 
to plumb the riches that could be found in court 
records and papers, nor had they begun to ex­
plore the relationships among the men (at that 
time only men) who sat on the nation's high­
est court. All that has changed, of course, and 
while we still study cases-because, as Judge 
Richard Posner says, that's the bottom line­
we now know that there is a great deal beyond 
the bottom line. 

The first article this month, by Brendan 
Doherty, shows us how scholarship has devel­
oped in the oldest portion of our scholarship, 
the examination of cases. Barron v. Baltimore 

(1833) is, of course, a staple in ConLaw I 
courses, as the case that held that the Bill 
of Rights did not apply to the states. Usually 
it was taught as a prelude to the doctrine of 

incorporation, but rarely did law-school teach­
ers spend the time to examine the historical 
and political context surrounding the case. As 
Professor Doherty shows, to do so is to find 
layers of meaning. 

Law clerks are such a staple part of 
the Court these days that many people as­
sume there were always clerks. In fact, Justice 
Horace Gray began the practice ofhiring bright 
young graduates from his alma mater, the 
Harvard Law School, when he served as chief 
judge of the Massachusetts high court. (One 
of these bright young men, Louis D. Brandeis, 
had a rather extraordinary career ahead of 
him.) Gray continued the practice in Washing­
ton; it was picked up by his successor, Oliver 
Wendell Holmes, Jr., and it spread until for­

. 	malized and funded by Congress. Todd Pep­
pers has long been fascinated by the role of 
clerks, and his research led him to look into 
who these "first clerks" were. 

As editor, I am of course always on the 
lookout for articles, and the Civil War mem­
oirs of the first John Harlan resulted from a 
research trip I made to Louisville. While work­
ing on Brandeis, I took a break to chat with 

v 
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one of the law librarians, Scott Campbell, who 
had been some materials in the Har­
lan Papers. He asked if I might be interested 
in a memoir of the Civil War that Harlan had 

and the answer was yes. Scott's 
work is oart ofan """y_nYA", corpus ofwork 
on Harlan I, who for many years remained 
buried in a totally undeserved 

Felix Frankfurter once tried to rebut Hugo 
Black's assertion that the First Amendment 

"nrpfprred" position in our const!­

tutional Frankfurter wondered how 
that could be, since if one part is 
than another must be inferior. Well, yes, but 
as most scholars and some 

of the Constitution are less important 
than others-until you get a case involving 
these unremarkable clauses. That happened in 
the 1 when adjusted 
salaries at the same time it imposed an income 
tax under the new Sixteenth Amendment. As 
Barry Price this created a personal as 
well as a jurisprudential for the Jus-

and how much earned would 
on the answer. My guess is that at the time that 
last sentence in Article Ill, Section I, did not 
seem "inferior." 

When Justice Stephen tlreyer tmally re­
linquished his title ofjunior Justice afternearly 
a dozen years, our editor, Clare 

decided to ask him about that unique 
From in 1994 

until the appointment ofChief Justice Roberts 
and Justice Alito, we had one of the longest 
"natural courts" in the nation's history: that 
a court in which the members remained the 
same Term after Term. One of the effects of 
such a long-standing natural court is that the 

atthe is Jus­
tice for a long time. Aside from opening the 
door when there is a message during the Con­
ference, what does the junior Justice do? Ms. 
Cushman us the answer. 

Over fifteen years ago, I interviewed Mar­
shall Small and about a dozen other former 
clerks of Justice William O. for an ar­
ticle I was oreoaring as part of a celebration 

to mark the fiftieth of 
to the Court. My con­

clusion was that while Douglas worked his 
clerks hard, and certainly was not the warm 
and cuddly boss that Felix Frankfurter tried to 
be, for the most part his clerks recalled their 
year with Douglas as one of hard work, learn-

a deal,and 
affection--for their boss. In his 2003 bi­

ography of Wild Bill, Bruce Allen 
Murphy painted a very unflattering portrait of 
his subiect. alleging that treated his 

and that many of them disliked 
him After that book came out, some 
of Douglas's clerks held a and they 

that their memories of the Justice dif­
fered considerably from those depicted in the 
book. decided to set the record straight, 
and Marshall Small, remembering our con­
versation of many years ago, contacted me 
to see if the Journal would be interested. Of 
course we were, and this "collective memory" 
by some of his clerks offers us an interest­
ing into how one Justice and his clerks 
interacted. 

In recent years there have been a number 
of books and articles on the role of the So­
licitor the lawyer who the 
government before the Court. It has 
long been known that the Justices show a 
deal of deference to the SG's views, because 
he does speak for the Executive Branch-and 
when defending a law, for as well. 
One scholar has called the Solicitor General 
the "tenth Justice." But the Solicitor General 
does not work in a vacuum. While he has 
discretion in deciding how to defend laws and 
when the government should submit a brief, 
certain matters are their na­
ture, and then the decision about what the gov­
ernment's posture shall be is in the hands of 
the President or the General. A 
debate about one of the most important group 
of cases decided in the early 1960s saw At-

General Robert F. Kennedy and Solici­
tor General Archibald Cox former 
teacher at Harvard) adopting different views 
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of the federal government's stance on reappor­ count that further explores that conflict and its 

tionment. In our last issue, we published an resolution. 

article by Helen Knowles examining the sub­ Last, but never least, Grier Stephenson's 

ject (see "May It Please the Court ... ," vol. "Judicial Bookshelf" reviews some recent 

32, number 2) . Bruce 1. Terris, who worked books on the Court and, as ever, shows us the 

in the Office of the Solicitor General during breadth of current scholarship on the subject. 

that time, has written a behind-the-scenes ac- As always, enjoy! 





Interpreting the Bill of Rights 
and the Nature of Federalism: 
Barron v. City of Baltimore 

BRENDAN J. DOHERTY* 

In 1833, a mere forty-five years after the Constitution of the United States took effect, the 
young republic was striving to establish the form its constitutional government would take. For 
while the Constitution and its first ten amendments had set forth many principles regarding the 
rights of individual citizens with respect to the actions of their government, the precise nature 
of these relations would be determined in large part by U.S. Supreme Court Chief Justice John 
Marshall. 

Central to this relationship was the extent 
to which individual rights, as articulated in the 
Constitution, would constrain the actions of 
both federal and state governments. The de­
cision of the Supreme Court in a case originat­
ing fewer than forty miles away, in Baltimore, 
Maryland, would playa key role in determin­
ing the course of this complex and developing 
relationship. This case, Barron v. City of Bal­

limore, marked the first time that the Supreme 
Court faced the issue of whether the govern­
ment of a state was subject to the restraints set 
forth in the Bill of Rights. l The questions in 
the case centered on the very nature of the fed­
eral compact on which the United States had 
been founded. 

Charles Warren declared Barron v. Balti­
more "the last of a series of vital decisions on 
constitutional law which had made the Chief 
Justiceship of John Marshall so memorable an 
era in American history.,,2 David P. Currie de­
scribed it as having "enormous significance,"3 
and Robert F Cushman claimed that the case 
has made "an indelible impression on the de­

.velopment of civil rights in this country."4 
G. Edward White hailed it as "perhaps the one 
Marshall Court decision that seems ofimmedi­
ate contemporary significance."s Despite this 
abundance ofeffusive proclamations of its sig­
nificance and frequent references in legal texts, 
however, little is known about the case of Bar­

ron v. Baltimore. This case, which marked the 
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The 1833 case of Barron v. City of Baltimore marked the first time the Supreme Court faced the issue of 
whether the government of a state was subject to the restraints set forth in the Bill of Rights. It originated in 
the city of Baltimore, Maryland, shown here in 1831. fewer than forty miles away from the Court. 

final constitutional decision ofJohn Marshall's 
tenure on the court,6 has been remarkably un­

studied. a better of 

Barron v. Baltimore, we can more 

ciate the impact ofthis landmark case upon the 

evolution of individual and American 

federalism. 

in the Early 

The in Barron v. Baltimore centered 

on a wharf in that port Trade 

fueled the prosperity of the growing metropo­

lis of Baltimore in the early 1800s. Its west­
ward on the 

Bay made it the principal of trade to 
the Midwest until the advent of stearn navi­

on the Ohio and Rivers in 
1813 threatened to benefit New Orleans at the 

expense of Baltimore. A decline in trade with 

following the War of 1812 also men­

aced the commercial but Bal­

timore countered with an aggressive road- and 

canal-building program to the Midwest and 
maintained its mercantile prominence by ex­

panding its trade to include new markets in the 
7western 

Baltimore was a center of both inter­
national and domestic trade. flour 

proved particularly suited to fresh in 

Brazil's tropical sparking trade with 

South America that would make Baltimore 
a crucial center of the coffee trade. In ad­

dition, brought guano from Chile and 

which was then converted into ferti lizer. 8 

These products were much in demand along 

the eastern seaboard of the United States. Cot­
ton and tobacco flowed to the from the 
south, and ice and manufactured espe­

carne from New as Bal­

timore served as a hub of coastal commerce.9 

The census of 1830 found Baltimore to be the 

second most populous in the United 

trailing only New York City; much of the 

populace on trade for their way of 
life. 10 
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Craig and Barron's Wharf In the trial record, numerous witnesses de­

John Barron was a Baltimore merchant, 

wealthy enough to be co-owner of a prosper­

ous wharf in the eastern part of the harbor, yet 
obscure enough that little can be found about 

him in the historical record. While many other 

figures in this case were mentioned at least 
tangentially in the books describing Baltimore 

at the time, Barron's name was nowhere to be 

found. II There is even some confusion about 

the date of his death. The Maryland Historical 

Society has a record of the death in 1828 of 

a John Barron who lived and ran a rope store 
near the site of the wharf in question. 12 In the 

Census Indices of 1810 and 1820, a John Bar­

ron is cited as living in Baltimore. In the 1830 

index, no John Barron is to be found in Bal­

timore, but one is listed as living in nearby 

Harford County.13 Court records indicate that 

John Barron was alive when the U.S. Supreme 

Court issued its 1833 ruling in the case, which 
creates a bit of confusion in the effort to sort 

out who he was, where he lived, and when he 

died. 

Only slightly more is known about 
Barron's co-owner, John Craig, though the 

dates of his life can be more definitively es­

tablished. While he also managed to avoid 

mention in numerous books about Baltimore 

during his lifetime, records about his life were 
found at the Maryland Historical Society. Born 

in 1770, he lived at #37 Thames Street, mere 

blocks from the site of the wharf. As the wharf 
was known as Craig and Barron's wharf, he 

may have been the senior partner in their ven­

ture. His death in 1827 deprived him of a place 

in history, as the 1833 Supreme Court deci­
sion ultimately bore the name of his business 
partner. 14 

Craig and Barron purchased their wharf 
in 1815 for the sizable sum of $25,000. One 

of thirty-four wharves in Baltimore harbor at 
the time,IS it was located on the eastern side 

of Fell's Point in Baltimore Harbor, between 

Thames Street and Lancaster Street (see Plan 

of the City of Baltimore in 1836 on page 217). 

scribed it as being one of the best and most 

valuable wharves in the city due to its loca­

tion and the depth of the water surrounding it, 

which enabled it to serve vessels bearing up to 
500 tons of cargo] 6 Yet, in discussing its size, 

a historian at the Maryland Historical Society 

observed, "I have no idea of its dimensions, 
but I have to warn you I've never encountered a 

wharfwhich wasn 't 'one of the largest wharves 
in Baltimore,' according to its owners." 17 

While case records indicate that the wharf 

was quite profitable at the time Craig and 
Barron purchased it, their business declined 

precipitously thereafter. Beginning in 18J5, 

the city of Baltimore took steps that dramat­

ically affected the accessibility of Barron and 
Craig's wharf. In accordance with the power 

accorded by its charter "over the harbor, the 

paving of streets, and regulating grades for 
paving, and over the health of Baltimore," the 

city redirected the courses of several streams 

originating in the hills around the city. The wa­

ter from these streams was diverted to the har­
bor directly in front of the merchants' bustling 

wharf. Throughout the ensuing seven years, 

periodic heavy rains sent rising waters down­

stream loaded with sediment, filling in the har­

bor by the wharf. Eventually, the water was 

left so shallow as to be useless for service as a 
whatf for large vessels.18 

The Case before the County Court 

In early 1822, Craig and Barron sued the mayor 

and city council of Baltimore for damages to 

compensate for a decline in the value of their 

wharf due to the actions of the city (see Ap­

pendix I for a detailed chronology of the case). 

On March 21, 1822, Craig and Barron, rep­
resented by Charles F. Mayer, headed to the 

County Court of the Sixth Judicial District 

of Maryland.19 While both sides would make 

changes to their legal teams throughout the 

twelve-year course of the case, the common 

denominator would be excellence. At different 

http:Maryland.19
http:vessels.18
http:County.13
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points in the proceedings, both sides 

some of the most in Mary­

land. 

a Baltimore native and an 1812 

graduate of Dickinson College, was a success­

ful attorney who in 1819 bested famed counsel 
William Wirt in his first case, He would later 

serve in the Maryland Senate from 1830 to . 

1835 and would become president of the Whig 
convention of Baltimore. In 1844, he would 

help found the Maryland Historical 

the organization that so helpful in the 

of this case.20 represented 
and Barron from their first court appear­

ance in 1822 the Supreme Court deci­
sion in 1833. 

John 

was also a fixture in the case. While 

he represented the mayor and city council of 

Baltimore from the initial court date in 1822 

the final resolution ofthe case in 1833, 

little information on Scott's career is available. 

The mayor he is equally elusive: 

Mayor Edward Johnson was mentioned 
once in the in the lower court, 

unlike several members ofthe council, was 

not called to testify. While he was the nominal 

object of the lawsuit, it does not appear that he 

was involved in the case21 

Delay was the hallmark of the case at the 

county court level. It took three full years from 
that initial court date in 1822 for the substan­

tive issues of the case to be addressed. At the 

court appearance in March 1822, Mayer re­
quested "leave ofthe court here to imparle until 

the third Monday of 

was a British term, to a mo­

tion to adjourn for the purpose of negotiating a 
settlement23 Opposing counsel consented, and 

the 

1822. 

For the next three years, the case followed 
what became a familiar pattern. In 

the parties returned to court, whereupon 

Mayer requested leave to imparl. Oppos­

ing counsel consented, and the parties recon­
vened in March 1823. Again. 

Mayor Edward Johnson (pictured) was mentioned only 
once in the Barron proceedings in the lower court, 
and, unlike several members of the city council, was 
not called to testify. While he was the nominal object 
of the lawsuit, it does not appear that he was involved 
in the case. 

and was granted leave to imparL In Sentpmhf>r 

I March 1824, and September I 

parties met in court and mutual consent 

adjourned for three successive six-month in­
tervals. While there is no record of what at-

were made to settle the case during 

these recesses, it is evident that no settlement 
was reached, The two returned to court 

in March 1825.24 

In March ] Mayerwasjoinedincourt 
two other attorneys for and Barron, 

The Peter H. appears to have 
played a minor role in the case, as he re­

mained involved only until September 1826­

a mere blip on the screen in the context of the 
twelve-year duration of the case. The other at­

David Hoffman. reDresented Craig and 

had almost reached the U.S. 

I 
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Hoffman was a renowned legal educator who 

was one of the first professors at the Univer­

sity of Maryland . He published A Course of 

Legal Study,25 which was declared by u.s. 
Supreme Court Justice Joseph Story to be "by 

far the most perfect system for the study of 

law which has ever been offered to the publick 

[sic]." Hoffman was the son-in-law ofPennsyl­

vania Governor Thomas McKean, and, by all 

accounts, brought a sharp legal mind to bear 

on behalf of Craig and Barron 26 

On that day in March 1825, three years 

after first bringing suit, Mayer, Cruse, and 

Hoffman filed a declaration before the county 

court, outl ining their grievances against the 

mayor and city council of Baltimore. After de­

scribing the property in question and detail­

ing the former profitability of the wharf, they 

concluded with the following summary of the 

actions of the city and the damages they had 

allegedly sustained: 

[The mayor and city council of Bal­

timore] wrongfully and injuriously 

turned and diverted certain streams of 

water, and graded and paved certain 

streets, and cut down certain grounds, 

and erected and made certain dams 

and ditches and embankments, by 

means and in consequence whereof, 

the waters whereon and whereat the 

said pieces ofground and wharves ... 

were, at the times aforesaid, and con­

tinually up to the time of the impetrat­

ing [sic] the writ aforesa id, obstructed 

and filled up with sand, and dirt, and 

clay, and otherwise, and the depth 

of sa id waters lessened, and the said 

Craig and Barron disturbed in the use, 

and deprived of the benefits and ad­

vantages aforesaid of said pieces of 

ground, and wharves, and wharf, and 

of said buildings and appurtenances; 

and the said mayor and city council 

of Baltimore kept up and continued 

to the time aforesaid, and yet keep up 

and continue the obstructions and in­

juries aforesa id on those several days 

and times, and during all the time 

aforesaid, and ever since have, by the 

mayor and city council of Baltimore, 

been greatly injured and disturbed in 

the use, enjoyment, value, profit, and 

advantage, as aforesaid ... and could 

not nor can have and enjoy the same 

in so large, ample, and beneficial 

a manner as they otherwise, during 

all the time aforesaid, and thereafter, 

and henceforward, might, would, and 

ought to have had and enjoyed, and 

to have and enjoy the same, to wit, at 

the city of Baltimore, at the county 

aforesaid. 

Wherefore the said Craig and 

Barron say that they are injured, and 

have sustained damage to the value 

of twenty thousand dollars; and there­

fore they bring suit, &cY 

The court ordered that the mayor and city 

council of Baltimore respond and directed the 

parties to return in September 1825. The en­

suing three years followed a pattern similar to 

the past three. Every six months, the parties 

met in court and were instructed to return six 

months later. At each meeting, it is recorded 

that " the mayor and city council of Baltimore 

and their attorney as before, defend the force 

and injury, when, and so forth." The trial was 

then recessed by the consent of all parties un­

til the following meeting six months hence. In 

September 1827, attorneys for the mayor and 

City of Baltimore did "defend the force and in­

jury, when, and so forth, and say that they are 

not guilty of the premises in the declaration 

. aforesaid mentioned." 

During these three years, two other devel­

opments of particular significance took place. 

First, Roger B. Taney joined John Scott as 

counsel for the mayor and city council of 

Baltimore at the hearing in March 1827 . 28 

When Taney became involved in the case, he 

had already achieved notable prestige, though 

his greatest fame lay before him. The second 
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son of a Maryland tobacco plantation owner, 

he studied the law and became a successful 

and in 
in western 
he married Anne C, sister of the famed 
Francis Scott and was elected to the Mary­
land senate as a Federalist After moving to 
Baltimore in 1823, was named Attorney 
General of Maryland in 1827, He was by that 

time a of Andrew Jackson, 
and would go on to serve as U.S, Attorney 

of the Treasury, and 

Chief Justice of the U.S. Court. He 
would be most remembered for his opinion in 
the Dred Scott case,29 in which he held that 

slaves were not citizens and could not sue in 
federal courts, and that did not have 
the to forbid in the territories 
of the United States.30 

The other be-

for and Barron when the again 
convened in March of I six years after the 

suit had been filed. informed 
the Court that Craig had recentlv died, and 
offered no for his death. 

did not live to see the cone! usion of the 
on in search of compen­

had suffered.3l 

Three court that 
would hear Barron's case. In 1 Steven­
son Archer had been chief 
of the Sixth Judicial which consisted 
of Baltimore and Harford counties. An 1805 
graduate of Archer entered 
as an Independent and then became a Demo­
crat, serving in Congress from 1811 until 1817 
and again from 1819 until 1821. In I he 
would become chief of the Maryland 
Court of Appeals.32 Charles Wallace Hanson 
joined Archer on the bench ofthe county court, 
where he served from 1817 to 1832. While lit­
tle is known about Hanson, records indicate 
that he was politically 

married to Rebecca Ridgely, 
ernor Charles Ridgely, and was the brother of 

Alexander Con tee an ardent Federal­

ist who served in both the U.S. House 
resentatives and the Senate. The third 
on the court was Thomas who 
served from 1827 until 1833. Kell was a native 
of Baltimore and a former General of 
Maryland.34 

At the hearing in March 1 
moved swiftly. A of twenty Jurors was 
drawn by ballot. Each side struck four persons 

from the list, and the 
were empanelled. ACCU1UII 
jury then rendered a verdict in favor of Bar­
ron, awarding him $4,500 in In the 
record of the proceedings, there is no mention 
of when testimony was given, though extensive 
testimony is later referenced in the records of 
the county court. 35 

On May 5, 1828, the attorneys for the 
mayor and city council of Baltimore moved 
the court to arrest the judgment in favor of 
Barron. While they did not deny that the wa­
ters around Barron's wharf had been filled in 
as a result of actions of the main­
tained that Barron had not shown that 
were from 
wharf. Furthermore, they 
the obstructed waters around Barron's wharf 
were part of a public river, he had not suffered 

damage" that would entitle him to sue 
the city. The county court rejected the mo­
tion and rendered judgment in favor of Barron. 
Counsel for the city then filed three bills of ex­

ceptions that detailed the proceedings before 
the county court for use in a future appeal of 

the case36 

It is both interesting and important to note 
that there is no record that any constitutional 

were raised in the county court pro­
Barron offered extensive testimony 

as to the former value of his wharf and the ac­
tions of the city that caused the wharf to be 
unreachable by the large vessels that used to 
do business with him. He called numerous wit­
nesses who described alternative courses ofac­
tion that the city could have taken. They went 
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This 1836 map shows Bar­
ron's wharf jutting out along the 
northern edge of the harbor (it 
is circled here). An 1831 di­
rectory described the location 
of the wharf as lying between 
Thames and Lancaster streets 
in Fells Point. 

so far as to describe specific plans for rerout­

ing the waters, which supposedly would have 

resulted in harm to none and benefit to all. 

Barron requested a judgment in his favor to 

compensate for the injuries he had suffered. 

But not once was the Constitution ofthe United 

States mentioned in the record of the county 

court. It appears that the constitutional grounds 

on which Barron later would appeal to the U.S . 

Supreme Court were not an issue in the case 

until the appellate stage. 37 

In response to the testimony in favor of 

the plaintiff's case, attorneys for the mayor 

and city council of Baltimore argued that they 

had acted under the obligation of their pub­

lic duty and that Barron had no individual 

grievance against them. They offered evidence 

that their authority to act was granted both 

by the charter of the city and through various 

acts of the Maryland legislature. They sum­

moned numerous witnesses, including several 

city commissioners, who testified that the city 

undertook its campaign to pave and grade 

streets and divert waterways with regard to the 

interests and prosperity of the city as a whole. 

Explaining that they had considered all avail­

able alternatives, various witnesses contended 

that they had chosen the path that would re­

sult in the fewest negative consequences. Fur­

thermore, counsel contended that Baltimore's 

actions constituted a public nuisance and that 

Barron had no right to claim damages for 

any individual injury he had suffered. Signifi­

cantly, counsel for the defendants also did not 

raise constitutional issues before the county 

court. 38 

Instructions given to the jury made it ap­

pear that the judges favored Barron's case. 

Counsel for the defendants urged the court to 

instruct the jury to hold the mayor and city 

council faultless if it found that they had acted 

in good faith using their best judgment within 

authority granted to them by law. Rejecting 

this argument, the court instead instructed the 

http:court.38
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that if it believed that Barron's 

had been injured as a result of the actions 

of the mayor and city council, then it should 

award him commensurate to the loss 

in value of the wharf. The court went on to 

order that even if the believed the defen­
dants to be acting in the interests of the as 

a whole, the would still be entitled to 

damages for the to his 
Thus Barron was awarded 

ages by the county court as compensa 
the injuries to his wharf. While far less than 

the $20,000 that and Barron had 

nonetheless rep­

resented a victory. The 
however, was far from settled. Constitutional 

issues would soon be invoked to determine 

whether Barron was entitled to damages for 

to his wharf. 

The Case before the Maryland 
Court of 

The mayor and city council of Baltimore were 

not content to let the judgment against them 

stand. On July 31, I 
quested and were granted a 

Maryland court of appeals. In December of 

that year, Scott for Baltimore and Mayer for 

Barron pleaded the cases of their clients. 

No elaborate are described 
in the records of the proceedings. Scott ad­

vanced his case declaring that there was 
"manifest error" in of the county 

court and that it should be overturned. White 

mention of the Constitution was 

the heart of his argument was sim­
that "by the law land, 

ought to have been given for the said mayor and 
council aforesaid."4o In response, 

contended that there was no error in the pro­
before the county court, and that the 

judgment should be affirmed. The court then 

armounced that it would adjourn until the fol­

at which point it would rule on 

the case.41 

The Maryland court of appeals that heard 

the case was headed by Chief John 

Buchanan, who served on that court as an as­

sociate from 1806 to 1824 and as chief 
from 1824 until his death in 1844.42 
Buchanan on the court were five asso­

ciatejudges: Richard Tilghman William 
Bond Martin, John Stephen, Stevenson 
and Thomas Beale 43 Archer was an as­

sociate judge of the court 

of his position as 

dicial District.44 As he was listed as at 
the in December I it appears that 

Archer had a role in the appeal 

he had rendered in the county court. What that 
role was and whether he with the ruling 

of the court of appeals are not known. 

The parties in the court of ap­

in June 1 to learn that the court 

had not reached a decision. were or­

dered to return in December J829. When they 

did so, the court was still not to issue 

a verdict. Again, in June 1830, the court an­

nounced that it was not ready to rule. The 
parties returned in December 1830, two years 

after the had been to hear the 

ruling 45 

and Hoffman came to court on the 

behal f ofBarron that day; Scott and Taney were 

the representatives of the mayor and city coun­

cil of Baltimore. The court of appeals issued a 

short that the county court had 
"manifestly erred" in its decision and order-

that the ruling "be annulled, and 

held as void." The award to Barron 

was overturned and was ordered to pay 

the court costs for the mayor and city council. 

The case was not remanded to the county court 

for retrial. 

Barron's appeal to the Court of 

the United filed 
after he first filed suit 

acted upon The following montl1, 111 

January 183 I, the Supreme Court issued a 

writ of error to Chief or-

him to send the records of the case 

to the Supreme Court for a hearing to be 

http:District.44
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held the August. Barron's case was 
about to be heard the highest court in the 
land,47 

The before the Supreme Court 
of the United 

The Court at the Time 
The case of Barron v, ofBaltimore would 
be the last constitutional decision of Chief 
Justice John Marshall, who led the Court from 
180 I until 1835. The strength of the Marshall 
court was its and by most accounts 
John Marshall was the source of that 

were addressed behind closed 
with the goal of a united 

front in the interpretation of the Constitu­
tion. Marshall emphasized consensus, and he 
is credited with his powers of persua­
sion to achieve it 48 When the court 

it was often with Marshall's he 
himself delivered most of the Court's constitu­
tional decisions.49 

Low turnover and familiarity 
were other hallmarks of the Marshall court. 

fifteen men sat beside Marshall in his 
thirty-five years on the Court. The Court re­
mained composed of the same seven 
Justices, from 1811 until 1823. Four of those 
seven Justices continued to serve un­
til 1834.50 As the Justices did not their 
wives to Washington, o.c. and all lived to­

m the same 
leisure time 

words Story, the Justices were 
"[p ]erfectly familiar and unconstrained. ,,52 

and side side for many years 
presumably contributed to the Justices' 
to achieve consensus on issues and to 
unite behind an opinion 53 

Of course, whether that unanimity was 
for good or ill depended on one's point of 
view. Thomas a frequent critic of 

that in the 
is huddled up in conclave, per­

haps by a of one, delivered as if 

unanimous, and with the silent 
of or timid by a 
judge, who 
mind.,,54 The accuracy of this assess­
ment is difficult to gauge, as the contributions 
of the other Justices are far less known than 
those of Marshall due to the infrequency with 
which authored 55 

John Marshall 
John Marshall has been described as 
well qualified to the intentions of the 
framers of the Constitution. Having in 
the War, been a delegate to the 
Virginia eonvention that ratified the Constitu­
tion, served in Congress, and served as Sec­
retary of he was deeply involving in 
the founding years of the republic. While 
Marshall's opinions drew both high and 
harsh the he brought to 
bear in his interpretation of the Constitution 
are impressive. 

If there was one principle that 
Marshall on the it was his commit­
ment to the federal union that the Constitution 
had established57 Thollgh he was accllsed 
many of the national at 
the expense of the states--R. Kent Newmeyer 
JabeJed this "constitutional 
he also demonstrated that in certain cases he 
would rule in favor of the ofstates. 
G. Edward White argued that while Marshall 
did upon state at times, 
he paid heed to the rights of states when he 
felt it was in the best interests of the union.59 
David Currie described Marshall as 
the Court on a course that both affirmed and 
I imited federal power.60 

Often closely tied to the issue of state 
was the question of property 

Marshall was widely viewed as favor­
the rights of property owners. To 

a[p]roperty was identified with liberty.,,61 In 
the words of Francis to prop­
erty was, in Marshall's almost as im­
portant as life itself." Marshall was not the 
only Justice to espouse such views. 

http:power.60
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Barron was the last constitutional decision made by Chief Justice John Marshall before he retired in 1835. 
Pictured is Capitol Hill in the 18305, when the Justices heard cases in a room in the Capitol basement. 

lustice William 10hnson declared that a per­

son's property "becomes blended 

with his as 

that circulates through his system."62 Bar­

ron v, Baltimore would questions about 

both property and state and federal 

before the Court 

Barron's Case 
While the questions before the Supreme Court 

in Barron v. Baltimore centered on the issue of 

whether the actions of the city of Baltimore, 

authorized the state of Marylanci, were con­

trary to the Fifth Amendment of the Constitu­

tion of the United States, the task of Charles F 
attorney for was 

Not did he need to convince the Court 

of the merits of his case, but he also had to 

demonstrate that it fell within the appropriate 

jurisdiction. To do so, he divided his argument 

into five ooints. He maintained that 

I. 	The municipal corporation of the of 

Baltimore, headed by the mayor and the city 

council, was liable for the tort of depriving 

a citizen ofproperty without compensation; 

2. 	 The state of Maryland, through its 

had authority to the 

of Baltimore to act as it did; 

3. 	The Fifth Amendment of the Constitution 

applied to the state of therefore, 

the of Baltimore, under the au­

thority ofthe state ofMaryland, had violated 

a right granted the Fifth Amendment. 

The relevant section of the Fifth Amend­

ment, commonly known as the 

Clause, reads: "[N]or shall property 

be taken for public use without just com­

4. 	The facts of this case showed that the 

operating under the authority of the state, 

had acted in a manner to the Con­

stitution, and that the U.S. Court 

had over this case; 

5. The U.S. Supreme Court should rule not 

on the at stake but also on 

the facts of the case; namely whether the 

plaintiffhad shown special to his in­

terests that would distinguish this case from 

from a publ ic nuisance on 

No evidence exists in the record of what 

response to these the of Baltimore 
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made, nor of what transpired in tbe courtroom 

on the day of the hearing. In an inauspicious 

sign for Barron 's case, the Supreme Court in­

dicated in the record a request that counsel for 

the plaintiff restrict his argument to the ques­

tion of whether the case fell under the court's 

jurisdiction. This was the only issue considered 

in the court 's ruling.63 

The Court's Decision 
The Supreme Court announced its decision in 

Barron v. Baltimore during its January Term of 

1833. John Marshall delivered the opinion of 

the unanimous court. Marshall 's opinions were 

often lengthy, filled with rhetorical flourishes 

and complex reasoning that connected grand 

principles before he rendered judgment on the 

issue at hand in a way that had great implica­

tions for future cases.64 While Barron v. Bal­

timore certainly set a precedent that would af­

fect future cases, the opinion itself was brief 

and straightforward 6 5 

Marshall summarized Barron's argument 

regarding the Fifth Amendment as insisting 

that, "this amendment being in favour of the 

liberty of the citizen, ought to be so construed 

as to restrain the legislative power of a state, as 

well as that of the United States." Stating that 

this issue was key to whether the Court could 

take jurisdiction of the case, he declared, "The 

question thus presented is, we think, of g reat 
importance, but not of much difficulty. ,,66 

Marshall divided his opinion into three 

sections. The first addressed the legislative 

intent behind the Bill of Rights . The Constitu­

tion, he wrote, was created to shape the govern­

ment of the United States, not the governments 

of pre-existing individual states. Prior to the 

creation of the federal government, each state 

had formed its own constitution to guide its 

respective government according to its needs 

and desires . Just as the U.S . Constitution set 

forth the outlines of the federa l government, 

so did its restrictions naturally apply to this 

same government. Thus, reasoned Marshall , 

the Fifth Amendment was correctly interpreted 

as a restraint on the actions of the federal gov­

ernment, but not on the actions of individual 
67states.

This reasoning is supported by the word­

ing of Alexander Hamilton 's Federalist no. 83, 
in which he declared that "[t]he United States, 

in their collective capacity, are the OBJECT 

[ sic] to which all general provisions in the 

Constitution must be understood to refer.,,68 

Not content to let this general principle stand 

alone, Marshall turned to the text of the Con­

stitution and the Bill of Rights to support his 

argument. 

The Chief Justice then directly addressed 

a specific point in the argument of the plain­

tiff. Counsel for Barron had asserted that the 

instructions directed to the states in Article 1, 

Section 10 of the U.S. Constitution, setting 

forth limitations on the activities of the states, 

served as proofthat the Constitution should ap­

ply to both federal and state governments . In 

the view of the Court, Marshall asserted, this 

section supported the opposite conclusion. Ac­

cording to the Chief Justice, Article I, Section 

10 of the Constitution must be examined in 

tandem with the ninth section of the same arti­

cle, which lays out restrictions on the actions of 

the government, to resolve this question. While 

Article I, Section 9 does not explicitly state to 

wh ich level of government its restraints should 

apply, in the judgment of the court, they were 

clearly directed to the federal government of 

the United States.69 

In contrast, the tenth section of the first 

article of the Constitution expressly sets forth 

limitations that apply to state governments. 

The Court 's opinion pointed out that the 

restrictions on states outl ined in the tenth sec­

. tion deal with areas that are usually the do­

main of the federal government-entrance into 

treaties, coinage of money, grants of letters 

of marque and reprisal, and so on. Thus, rea­

soned Marshall, "in a constitution framed by 

the people of the United States for the gov­

ernment of all, no limitation of the action of 

government on the people would apply to the 

state government, unless expressed in terms, 
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the restrictions contained in the tenth section 

are in direct words so applied to the states.,,70 

Marshall's argument is supported by the 

general prohibition in Article 9 that "[n]o Bill 

of Attainder or ex post facto Law shall be 

passed" and the specific restriction in Arti­

cle 10 that " [n]o State shall ... pass any Bill 

of Attainder, ex post facto Law." If the general. 
prohibitions in Article 9 could be construed as 
limiting the actions of the states, there would 

be no need for a specific prohibition applying 

to the states in Article 10. 
Having assessed the wording of and dis­

tinctions between Sections 9 and 10 of Arti­

cle I, Marshall asserted that the same logic 

must apply to interpreting the Bill ofRights. As 

the Constitution was created to constrain the 

federal government, only those sections that 

include specific indication of their applicabil­

ity to the states could be construed to limit 

the governments of the several states. Thus, 

the Fifth Amendment's prohibition of the tak­

ing of private property for public use without 

just compensation should apply only to the 

federal government and not to actions of the 
71states.

The Chief Justice argued that the history 

behind the Constitution and Bill of Rights did 

not SUppOlt the interpretation that the Bill of 

Rights would apply to the states. He declared 

that it was "universally understood" that the 

adoption of the Constitution hinged upon the 

subsequent adoption of amendments specifi­

cally designed to protect against the much­

feared possibility of an overreaching federal 

government; that these amendments were to 

apply to the federal government and not to the 

states; and that the court could not apply them 

in such a manner as requested by the plai nti ff.72 
Scholars have agreed that it was, as Mar­

shall said, "universally understood" that the 

Bill of Rights would not apply to the states. 

Joseph P. Cotton, Jr. declared that 

it was a fact of history beyond discus­

sion that the first eleven amendments 

to the federal Constitution were a 

bill of rights to the States intended 

to secure them a greater measure of 

sovereignty and to limit the federal 

power; and it is alike clear that the 

adoption of the Constitution by some 

of the States was conditioned on the 

adoption of these amendments. 73 

G. Edward White asserted that the Bill of 
Rights was 

originally going to be inselted as 

an additional set of limitations in­

cluded in Article I, Section 9, all 

of whose limitations are either gen­

eral or specifically directed against 

Congress. Limitations on the States 

were also proposed, and they were to 

be inserted in Article I, Section 10. 
The eventual insertion of the Bill of 

Rights as amendments was done as a 

matter of convenience and intelligi­

bility rather than because of substan­

tive considerations74 

Robert F. Cushman described the Bill of Rights 

in the following way: 

One of the bitter criticisms urged 

against our federal Constitution as it 

came from the hands of the Conven­

tion was that it contained no bill of 

rights . It was feared that without spe­

ci fic guarantees the ci vi I rights and 

liberties of the people and the states 

would be at the mercy of the pro­

posed national government. Ratifi­

cation was secured, but with a tacit 

understanding that a bill of rights 

should promptly be added which 

should restrict the national govern­

ment in behalf of individualliberty.75 

Having established that the Fifth Amend­

ment to the Constitution was directed toward 

the federal goverrunent and not toward the gov­

ernments of the states, Marshall declared that 

the Supreme Court had no jurisdiction in the 

matter and dismissed the case of Barron v. City 

ofBaltimore76 Twelve years after he first filed 
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suit, John Barron was denied damages for the 

injuries his wharf had suffered. 

The Legacy of Barron v. Baltimore 

The attempt of a merchant from Baltimore to 

recover damages for injuries to his wharf had 

significant ramifications. In case after case for 

years to come, the Supreme Court would reaf­

firm its decision that the individual protections 

promised by the Bill of Rights did not apply to 

the actions of state governments77 The right 

of each state to determine the nature of the 

relationship between individual liberties and 

the actions of city and state governments had 

been affirmed by the highest court in the young 

republic. 

Thus stood the law of the land until the 

ratification of the Fourteenth Amendment to 

the Constitution on July 9, 1868. The section 

therein that reads "nor shall any state deprive 

any person of life, liberty, or property, with­

out due process of law; nor deny to any person 

within its jurisdiction the equal protection of 

the laws" would reopen the question of the ap­

plicability of the Bill of Rights to the states. 

This controversy, known as the incorpo­

ration debate, centers on the question of the 

extent to which the Fourteenth Amendment 

opened the door for certain provisions of the 

Bill of Rights to apply to the states. Through 

the years, certain rights have been incorporated 

incrementally via the Fourteenth Amendment, 

as case after case has come before the Supreme 

Court. Although its blanket declaration of the 

inapplicability of the Bill of Rights to the states 

no longer holds, Barron v. Baltimore has never 

been overruled,78 and is still a ringing declara­

tion that the intent of the framers was that the 

Constitution was principally designed to limit 

the actions of the federal government, and not 

the states. 

An understanding of the principles 

underlying the decision in Barron v. Baltimore 

is crucial to comprehending the nature of the 

federalist compact in the founding days of the 

republic. Only through familiarity with these 

origins can we better understand the relation­

ship between the federal government and the 

states and the radical changes in that relation­

ship that were brought on by the ratification of 

the Fourteenth Amendment. 

Examination of Barron v. Baltimore also 

makes a valuable contribution to a balanced as­

sessment of the career ofJohn Marshall. While 

he did greatly expand the authority of the fed­

eral government, often at the expense of the 

states, he also upheld the rights of the states 

in certain circumstances. Though he has been 

characterized as a nationalist, Barron demon­

strates that he might be even more aptly de­

scribed as a federalist , for he upheld the rights 

of states as well as the prerogatives of the fed­

eral government under the guidel ines of the 

federal compact. 

Though many of the details of Barron v. 

City of Baltimore have been lost to history, 

maps subsequent to 1841 show Barron's wharf 

as belonging to Robb and Cox 79 While Bar­

ron's name has been inscribed in the annals 

of constitutional law, it is not known what be­

came of him after he lost a twelve-year fight 

in the courts to be compensated for damage 

to his precious whmf. In the words of Fran­

cis P. O'Neill of the Maryland Historical Soci­

ety, "Having your name attached to a Supreme 

Court case is certainly no guarantee of undying 

fame, at least not in Baltimore."so 

Appendix I: Barron v. Baltimore 
Chronology of Legal Events 

January I, 1815 	 In their suit, Barron and 

Craig cited this date as 

"the time of committing 

the grievance hereinafter 

mentioned"; that is, they 

alleged that the injury 

to their property com­

menced on this date. 

February 19, 1822 	 The mayor and city 

council of Baltimore 

were summoned before 

the County Court of the 
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March 21 , 1822 

September 1822 

March 1823 

September 1823 

March 1824 

September 1824 

March 1825 

Sixth Judicial District 

of Maryland to answer 

John Barron and John 

Craig 's plea of trespass . 

Charles F. Mayer, attor­

ney for John Barron and 

John Craig, and John 

Scott, attorney for the 

mayor and city council of 

Baltimore appeared be­

fore the county court. 

Mayer requested leave to 

imparle; hearing set for 

September 1822. 

Mayer again requested 

leave to imparle; hearing 

set for March 1823. 

Mayer again requested 

leave to imparle; hearing 

set for September 1823 . 

Both parties met in court. 

By the consent of all 

concerned, the proceed­

ings were postponed un­

til March 1824. 

Both parties met in court. 

By the consent of all 

concerned, the proceed­

ings were postponed un­

til September 1824. 

Both parties met in court. 

By the consent of all 

concerned, the proceed­

ings were postponed un­

til March 1825. 

David Hoffman, Charles 

F. Mayer, and Peter H. 
Cruse, attorneys for Bar­

ron and Craig, filed a 

declaration against the 

mayor and city coun­

cil of Baltimore, out­

lining the causes of 

their suit and valuing 

$20,000 in injuries in­

curred. The court or­

dered the mayor and city 

September 1825 

March 1826 

September 1826 

March 1827 

council to respond, and 

set the next day in court 

for September 1825. 

Both parties met in court. 

In court records, it is 

written that the attorneys 

for the mayor and city 

council of Baltimore did 

"defend the force and in­

jury, when, and so forth." 

By the consent of all 

concerned, the proceed­

ings were postponed un­

til March 1826. 

Both parties met in court. 

In court records, it is 

written that the attorneys 

for the mayor and city 

council of Baltimore did 

"defend the force and in­

jury, when, and so forth." 

By the consent of all 

concerned, the proceed­

ings were postponed un­

til September 1826. 

Both parties met in court. 

In court records, it is 

written that the attorneys 

for the mayor and city 

council of Baltimore did 

"defend the force and in­

jury, when, and so forth." 

By the consent of all 

concerned, the proceed­

ings were postponed un­

til March 1827. 

Both parties met 111 

court. Charles F. Mayer, 

David Hoffman, Upton 

S. Heath, and Hugh D. 

Evans were recorded as 

the attorneys for Craig 

and Barron; John Scott 

and Roger B. Taney were 

recorded as the attorneys 

for the mayor and city 

council of Baltimore. In 
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court records, it is writ­

ten that the attorneys for 

the mayor and city coun­

ci I of Baltimore did "de­

fend the force and in­

jury, when, and so forth." 

By the consent of all 

concerned, the proceed­

ings were postponed un­

til September 1827. 

September 1827 Both parties met in court. 

In court records, it is 

written that the attorneys 

for the mayor and city 

council of Baltimore did 

"defend the force and in­

jury, when, and so forth , 

and say that they are not 

guilty of the premises in 

the declaration aforesaid 

mentioned." By the con­

sent of all concerned, the 

proceedings were post­

poned until March 1828. 

March 1828 Both parties met in court. 

It was announced that 

John Craig, co-owner of 

the wharf, had died . A 

jury of twenty persons 

was drawn by ballot. Af­

ter each party struck four 

people from the list, a 

jury of twelve was em­

panelled. The jury ren­

dered a verdict award­

Ing $4,500 dollars to 

John Barron. Attorneys 

for the mayor and city 

council of Baltimore of­

fered a motion in arrest 

of judgment. 

May 5, 1828 The county court over­

ruled the motion in ar­

rest of judgment and 

rendered a judgment of 

$4,500. 

May 14,1828 

July 31, 1828 

December I, 1828 

December, 1828 

June 8, 1829 

December 7, 1829 

June 14, 1830 

Attorneys for the mayor 

and city council of Baiti­

more filed three bills of 

exceptions. 

Attorneys for the mayor 

and City of Baltimore 

requested and were 

granted a hearing before 

the Maryland Court of 

Appeals. 

Record of proceedings 

before the county court 

sent to the Maryland 

Court of Appeals. 

John Scott, attorney for 

the mayor and city coun­

cil of Baltimore, argued 

that the county court had 

ruled in error. Charles F. 
Mayer, attorney for John 

Barron, argued that the 

judgment of the county 

court be affirmed. The 

parties were instructed to 

return on June 8, 1829 to 

hear the judgment of the 

court of appeals. 

Both parties met in court 

and were informed that 

the court of appeals was 

not ready to render a 

judgment. The parties 

were instructed to return 

on December 7, 1829. 

Both parties met in court 

and were informed that 

the court of appeals was 

not ready to render a 

judgment. The parties 

were instructed to return 

on June 14, 1830. 

Both parties met in court 

and were informed that 

the court of appeals was 

not ready to render a 

judgment. The parties 
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December 6, 1830 

1831 

.June 15, 183 I 

June 22, 1831 

were instructed to return 
on December 6, 1830, 
Both parties met in court. 
Charles F and 
David Hoffman were 
present as attorneys for 
John Barron, John Scott 

as 
the mayor and 
cil of Baltimore, The 

ment of the county court 
was "manifestly erred" 
and ordered it to be 

as void," 
Additionally, John Bar­
ron was ordered to pay 
$374,88 and one-third 
cents to the mayor and 
city council of Baltimore 
to cover their expenses, 
Writ of Error issued 
the U.S, Court 
to John Chief 
Judge of the Court of 

for the West­
ern Shore of Maryland, 

Luke Tiernan, Charles 

Tiernan, and D. William­
son, attorneys for John 

posted a bond 
of $500 at the Court of 
Appeals for the West­
ern Shore of Maryland to 
cover the costs incurred 
by the mayor and city 
council of Baltimore if 
Barron should lose the 
suit. 
A citation was served 
upon John Scott, at­

torney for the mayor 
and city council of 

John 
Buchanan, Chief Judge 
of the Court of Appeals 
for the Western Shore 
of Maryland, The court 
of was ordered 
to send the records and 

of the case 
to the U.S, Supreme 
Court. 

I, 1831 Records and 
of the case were 

sent to the U,S, 
Court. 

August 1831 	 The before the 
U.S, Court was 
scheduled to be held dur­

this month, No evi­
dence in the case records 
indicates when it actu­
ally took place, 

January Term 1833 	 U.S, Court is­
sued its unanimous deci­
sion in Barron 0/ 
Baltimore, 
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Birth of an I nstitution: Horace Gray 
and the Lost Law Clerks 

TODD C. PEPPERS 

Introduction 

In a vault hidden away in a downtown Boston bank rests a large silver loving cup. The cup was 

presented to Associate Justice Horace Gray on March 22, 1902 by his law clerks, and engraved 

on its tarnished surface are the names ofthe nineteen Harvard Law School graduates who served 

as Justice Gray's law clerks.l While the details surrounding the presentation of the cup have 

been lost to history, the gift was likely prompted by the failing health of Justice Gray and his 

future departure from the Supreme Court. The loving cup is still held by the Gray family, passing 
to the heirs of Professor John Chipman Gray, the famous Harvard Law School professor and 

half-brother of Horace Gray, upon the death of the childless Horace Gray. 

The loving cup, however, is more than 

a mere historical curiosity, for it contains 

information previously unknown to students 

of Supreme Court history, namely, a com­

plete list of the men who clerked for Justice 

Gray. While government records contain the 

names of Gray's later law clerks, the iden­
tity of Gray's first three clerks-Thomas Rus­

sell, William Schofield, and Henry Eldridge 

Warner-are not contained in Supreme Court 

records. The reason why Russell, Schofield, 

and Warner have not been previously acknowl­

edged for their role in the creation of the 

clerkship institution is not due to conspir­

acy and cover-up. Since Horace Gray per­

sonally paid the salaries of the three men, 

they did not receive a paycheck from the fed­

eral government and their names were not 

recorded on government rolls. When the 
. Justices were authorized in 1886 to hire 

stenographic clerks, governmental bureaucrats 
began recording the names of these new judi­

cial assistants-and thereby created the false 

impression that law clerks had not arrived at 

the Supreme Court until 1886. Given this his­

torical confusion about the identities of the 

first law clerks, this loving cup is arguably 

the "holy grail" for Supreme Court historians 
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who study the origins of the 
institution. 

purpose of this article is to 

role in 

the creation of an institution at the 
u.s. 	 Court and to restore Thomas 

William Schofield, and Henrv EI-

clerked for Justice lJray, an 

tion of young men who went on to careers in 
the law, the legal academy, and politics.2 

A History of the Supreme Court 
and Support Staff 

Court Justices have not had 

the services of law clerks. Throughout most 

of the nineteenth century, the Justices were 


assisted only a small handful of support 


Besides the Justices 


the Court's original support statf consisted 


of the clerk of the the of­

ficial Court reporter, and the marshal of the 


Court. In subsequent the staff of the 


Court was with what 

Chief Justice Roger Taney called "servants 
about the Court," to wit, messengers.] Polit­

ical scientist Chester A. Newland writes that 

first appropriated funds for 

of messengers in I individ­

ual Justices employed messengers before that 
date. Newland states that messengers were 

a number of different 
including as 

chauffeurs. 

This silver cup was presented to Associate Justice Horace Gray in 1902 by his law clerks and shows the 
names of the nineteen Harvard Law School graduates who clerked for him during his Supreme Court tenure. 
The names of Gray's first three clerks appear on it, making the cup a more reliable document than Supreme 
Court records. 
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In the years following the Civil War, the 

Supreme Court's workload increased sharply 

and the Justices began to publicly call for re­

form and assistance. Attorney General Augus­

tus H. Garland provided the Justices with some 

relief, recommending in the Annual Report of 

the Attorney General of the United States 

for the Year 1885 that each Justice be pro­

vided "by law with a secretary or law clerk, 

to be a stenographer . .. whose duties sha ll be 

to assist in such clerical work as might be as­

signed to him ." In support of the recommen­

dation, Attorney General Garland argued that 

the " immense" work of the Justices demanded 

additional staff support, noting that "while the 

heads of Departments and Senators have this 

ass istance, I do not think there is any good rea­

son that the judges of this court should not al so 

have it."5 Congress swiftly acted upon Gar­

land's recommendation , and in 1886 it autho­

rized funds for the hiring of a "stenographic 

clerk for the Chief Justice and for each asso­

ciate Justice of the Supreme Court, at not [sic] 

exceeding one thousand six hundred dollars 

each. ,,6 While the Justices initially differed in 

who they hired to serve as their stenographic 

clerk-some Justices hired lawyers or law stu­

dents, while a few hired professionally trained 

stenographers- within f ifty years the position 

had evolved into what we recogni ze as the 

modern law clerk .7 

Horace Gray and the Creation of the 

Supreme Court Clerkship 


When Horace Gray was appointed to the U.S . 

Supreme Court in 1882, he began hiring Har­

vard Law School graduates to serve one- or 

two-year appointments as his assistants . Gray 

had previously been the chief judge of the 

Massachusetts Supreme Judicial Court from 

1873 to 1882, and it was in that capacity that 

he first started employing clerks. The clerks 

were selected by Judge Gray 's half-brother, 

the aforementioned Professor John Chipman 

Gray. From the very beginning, Professor Gray 

evidenced a keen eye for legal talent, and 

the clerks that he sent to Chief Justice Gray 

included future U.S. Supreme Court Justi ce 

Louis Brandeis. 

Justice Gray never publicly di scussed his 

motivation for hiring law c le rks, but the most 

likely explanation for the decision to employ 

assistants was related to workload considera­

tions. As a jurist, Gray "delighted to go to the 

fountains of the law and trace its g rowth from 

the beginning," for he " believed that an ex­

haustive collection of authorities should be the 

foundation of every judicial opinion on an im­

portant question."s Gray 's indefatigability in 

legal research might well explain his motiva­

tion in seeking out legal assistance. 

So who was this creator of the Supreme 

Court law clerk? He was a large, balding man 

with "mutton chop" whiskers and a stern coun­

tenance . Former Gray law clerk Samuel Wi llis­

ton vividly describes Justice Gray as follows: 

In appearance Judge Gray was one 

of the most stri king men of his time. 

He was six feet and four inches tall 

in his stockings. Unlike most very 

tall men, all the proportions of his 

Horace Gray personally paid the salaries of his first 
three clerks, so they did not receive a paycheck from 
the federal government and their names were not 
recorded on government rolls. When the Justices were 
authorized in 1886 to hire stenographic clerks, gov­
ernmental bureaucrats began recording the names of 
these new judicial assistants, thereby creating the 
false impression that law clerks had not arrived at 
the Supreme Court until 1886. 
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body were on the same large scale. 

His massive head, his large but finely 

shaped hands, and the great bulk of 

his frame, all seemed to mark him as 

one of a larger race than hi s fellows 9 

Gray's contemporaries viewed him as a man 

"possessed of great physical as weJl as great. 

menta l v igor," an individua l blessed with 

"abounding vitality and a delightful flow of 

animal spirits," and a jurist endowed with an 

"extraordinary" memory, a strong work ethic, 

and heightened awareness of "the dignity 

of the court and the position of judge."lo 

Attorney Jack B. Warner painted a picture 

of a man who was more deity than mortal. 

"His great stature and commanding figure 

heightened the impression of a presence never 

to be trifled with, and suggested the classic 

demi-god walking on the earth with his head 

reaching among the c1ouds." 11 On the Bench, 

Gray displayed a grim, cold demeanor, and 

his judicial energies extended not only to 

cases before the court but " to the color of the 

clothes worn by some members of the bar in 

court."1 2 Given Gray's status as the creator of 

the modem law clerk, perhaps it is only fitting 

to describe him in biblical terms. 

Once on the Supreme Court, Gray treated 

his young assistants as more than mere scriven­

ers . Former clerk Willi ston writes that " [t]he 

secretary was asked to do the highest work de­

manded ofa member of the legal profession­

that is, the same work which a judge of the 

Supreme Court is called upon to perform." Af­

ter oral argument, Gray would give his young 

clerks the applicable briefs and legal plead­

ings and ask them to review the " 'novelettes'" 

and report back to the Justice with their inde­

pendent thoughts. Gray did not share his own 

opinion of the case with his secretary, but " [i]t 

was then the duty of the secretary to study the 

papers submitted to him and to form such opin­

ion as he could." Since Gray "liked best to 

do his thinking aloud and to develop his own 

views by discussion," Gray and his secretary 

would then sit down before the Court's Satur­

day conference and discuss the pending cases . 

First Gray would ask his secretary to "state the 

points of the case as best he could," with Gray 

closely examining and challenging the sec­

retary's "conclusions." 13 "When J made [the 

reports] ," Williston writes, "the Judge would 

question me to bring out the essential points, 

and I rarely learned what he thought of a case 

until J had been thoroughly cross-examined." 14 

Former law clerk Langdon Parker Marvin 

also recalled these oral examinations by Justice 

Gray, and he provides a vivid description of 

these sessions: 

After he had settled himself in front 

of the fire with his black skullcap on 

his head and a five-cent Virginia che­

root in his mouth, he would say to me, 

"Well , Mr. Marvin , what have you got 

for me today?" So then J would tell 

him, having fortified myself with a 

little bluebook in which J had made 

notes of the various cases. Of course, 

I couldn ' t read all of the records, or 

even all of the briefs, but I made an 

analysis of the cases and I would tell 

him what the facts in each case were, 

where it started, how it had been de­

cided in the lower courts, how it got 

to the Supreme Court of the United 

States, and what the arguments on ei­
ther side were. IS 

Through his tenure on the Supreme Court, 

Gray permitted his clerks to offer opinions as 

well as case recitations. Williston writes that 

Gray "invited the frankest expression of any 

fresh idea of his secretary . .. and welcomed 
any doubt or criticism of his own views,,,16 

while Marvin confesses that "he rather aston­

ished me early in the year by saying 'How do 

you think it ought to be decided[?] ' ." 17 Former 

Supreme Court law clerk Ezra Thayer echoes 

Williston and Marvin's comments about the 

intellectual give-and-take between Gray and 

his young charges. Thayer writes that Gray 

" liked best to do his thinking aloud, and de­

velop his own views by discussion." During 
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these discussions Gray "would patiently and 

courteously listen to the crudest deliverances 

of youth fresh from the Law School.,,18 [n 

his memoirs, Williston is careful not to cre­

ate the appearance of undue influence. "[ do 

not wish, however, to give the impression that 

my work served for more than a stimulus for 

the judge's mind ... my work served only as a 
suggestion." 19 

Gray then adjourned to the Saturday con­

ference. Williston writes: 

When ... the Judge returned, he 

would tell the conclusions reached 

and what cases had been assigned 

to him for opinions . Often he would 
ask his secretary to write opinions 
in these cases, and though the ulti­

mate destiny ofsuch opinions was the 

waste-paper basket, the chance that 

some suggestion in them might be ap­

proved by the master and adopted by 

him, was sufficient to incite the sec­

retary to his best endeavor.2o 

Marvin also recalls assisting with the draft­

ing of opinions, but only to a limited extent. 

" When the Court went into recess, Mr. Justice 

Gray would begin his work on the opinions al­

lotted tohim. [would help himon that, looking 

up law, and sometimes preparing statements of 

fact which appeared in the Court records-but, 

of course, he wrote the opinions himself-in 
long-hand, with a stub pencil.,,21 

In short, the secretaries took part in all 

aspects of the decision-making process . They 

not only culled through the records and briefs 

in order to distill the relevant facts and legal 

arguments for Justice Gray, but they also then 

debated and argued their conclusions and sug­

gested holding with the Justice. Once Gray was 

assigned an opinion, the secretaries often pre­

pared the first draft of an opinion. While that 

draft may have landed in the trash can, it pro­

vided the secretaries with a critical chance to 

frame the issues and shape the legal analysis 

necessary to reach the Court's position. 

Finally, the free rein extended to the clerk 's 

opinions of the work product of other Justices. 

For example, Gray asked Williston to review 

the opinions written by the other Chambers. 

Williston recalls that "[ tried to induce Jus­

tice Gray to dissent [from a majority opin­

ion written by Chief Justice Fuller], but while 

he did not much combat my arguments, he 

was prevented from complying with my wish , 

if by nothing else, by the indisposition , that 

he and other members of the Court then had, 

to express dissent except on extremely vital 

questions, lest they should weaken the influ­
ence and credit of the Court.,,22 Interestingly, 

neither Gray, Marvin, nor Thayer mentions 

reviewing cert petitions or preparing Bench 

memoranda--duties that have become the sta­

ple of the modern law clerk's existence. 

It is unclear whether the law clerks shoul­

dered more responsibilities in Gray's final 

years on the Court, when age and poor health 

began to affect the Justice. Marvin recalls that 

"my job with Judge Gray was an extremely 

busy one, because he was getting rather old and 

he expected me to do a good deal of the spade 

work and to educate him so that he could take 
his part in the deliberations of the court.,,23 

Marvin's description of his job duties, how­

ever, tracks the descriptions provided by earlier 

clerks Williston and Thayer. 

Gray and his clerks worked in the li­

brary of Gray's home on the corner of 16th 

and [ Streets in Washington, beginning their 

one-year terms in the early summer before 

the next Term of Court. Williston describes 

the second-floor library as composed of two 

rooms. "The walls of the library rooms were 

entirely covered with law books, except the 

. spaces for windows and those over the man­

tel pieces. In the larger room, a portrait of 

[Chief Justice John] Marshall by Jarvis had 

the place of honor, surrounded by quite small 

portraits of all the other Chief-Justices of the 

United States. [n the connecting room, the por­

trait over the mantel was a replica of Stu­

art's well-known representation of [George] 
Washington.,,24 A desk for the law clerk was 
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placed in the larger of the two library rooms, a 

spot from which the law clerks observed social 
calls by the other Justices. Williston adds that 

bedroom was on the third floor of the 
home. He observes that Gray "was un­

married at the time, and the house seemed de­
signed for a bachelor. He had some antipathy 

to closets. 

for Justice relation-

with his law clerks, .Marvin commented 

that Gray was a "delightful who re-

his law clerks with stories of hunting 

buffalo in his youth. Marvin would often have 
lunch or coffee with and in the afternoon 

he took drives with in his n 
had to huddle in the corner, as he took up most 

of the to the local zoo. 

Justice 

hunting, but also his 

observations on the Court and his love life. 

Williston recalls that Gray discussed 

his impressions of his fellow Justices with the 
young man, such as referring to Justice Samuel 

Miller as the '"little 

but belief in the correctness of his 

legal positions.27 

Y(.n'''};ll1-vl,} 

recounts: 

One Gray approached me 
with a rather smile and ex­

hibited a beautiful ring-a sapphire 

with a diamond on each side of it. 

He said "You if I may say so, 

in consimili casu can tell me 
whether this wou ld be likely to 

a young " I assured him that the 

probabilities were that it would 
afford pleasure. Thus, I saw the en­

gagement before the recipient of 
it. 28 

Horace died in his summer home 
in Nahant, Massachusetts on the morning of 

September 15, 1902. His funeral was held on 

September 18, 1902 at Emmanuel Church in 

Boston. While did not have 

ers at the funeral former law elerks 

Roland Joseph Ezra and 
Jeremiah Smith, Jr. served as ushers29 

Justice clerkship model would 

serve as a for future Justices on 

the Supreme Court. While some Justices em­
ployed elerks for extended pe­

a core group of Justices­

including Oliver Wendell Holmes. Jr. and 

Louis Brandeis--followed 

as 
mentors to their young Over the next 

fifty years, Gray's clerkship model would be 

adopted all the Justices on the Court; while 

the Justices varied in the ofjob duties as-

to their clerks, the I 940s all Justices 

were hiring recent law school graduates-most 

from but others from Yale-as their 

assistants. 

A Portrait of Gray 
law Clerks 

From 1882 to I 


teen Harvard Law School to serve 


as his law clerks at the U.S. Supreme Court. 


The law clerks were from 

a Harvard Law School that was just be­


coming a modern institution of legal educa­


a school at whieh Christopher Columbus 

as giants like John 

.James Bradley and 

James Barr Ames lectured, and the Harvard 

Law Review was in its infancy. Like modern 

the clerks working at the 
after graduation and-with two 

unusual exceptions-remained with the Jus­

tice for a Term of Court30 

In terms of the law clerks 
group, 
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Fourteen of the nineteen were born in 

Massachusetts, and all but one~Blewett 

Lee~hailed from well north of the Mason­

Dixon line. With the exception of the afore­

mentioned Lee, all of the clerks attended 

Harvard College prior to enrolling in law 

school. Most of the clerks first attended 

prestigious preparatory institutions, such as 

the Boston Latin School and Roxbury Latin 

School. 

As with modern law clerks, membership 

on law review appeared to be an important cre­

dential. While the Harvard Law Review was 

not founded until 1887, thirteen ofGrey's four­

teen law clerks hired after the founding served 

on the Law Review's editorial board. Finally, 

the high quality of Gray's law clerks is re­

flected in the fact that five of the clerks~ 

Francis Richard Jones, Moses Day Kimball , 

John Gorham Palfrey, William Schofield, and 

Samuel Williston-were accorded the honor 

of serving as commencement speakers at the 

Harvard Law School's graduation ceremonies. 

Ezra Ripley Thayer, another Gray law clerk, 

managed the impressive feat of being the first 

in his class at both Harvard College and Har­

vard Law School. 

The First Three Law Clerks 
at the U.S. Supreme Court31 

Thomas Russell was born in Boston, Mas­

sachusetts 011 June 17, 1858. His father, 

William Goodwin Russell, was a descendent of 

Mayflower passengers John Alden and Miles 

Standish. William Russell also attended both 

Harvard College and Harvard Law School 

and later served as an overseer of Harvard 

College.32 William Goodwin Russell became 

a prominent member of the Suffolk Bar, first 

as a member of the law firm Whiting & Rus­

sell and then as a member of the firm Russell 

& Putnam. His biographer claims that "avoid­

ance of all public office was a marked feature 

in Mr. Russell ," and that his "love for private 

practice and a singular distaste for public sta­

tion" caused Russell to turn down offered ap­

pointments to both federal circuit court and the 

state supreme court. 33 Thomas Russell 's name­

sake was his grandfather, a Plymouth mer­

chant, and his uncle, a prominent state court 

judge and a classmate ofHorace Gray's at Har­

vard College. 

While in law school, Russell was a mem­

ber of both the Ames and Gray law clubs. He 

graduated from Harvard Law School in 1882, 

and he spent the winter of 1882 and the spring 

of 1883 clerking for Justice Gray. Regrettably, 

I have not discovered any information about ei­

ther Russell's experiences as the first Supreme 

Court law clerk or the reaction of the other Jus­

tices to Justice Gray's bold decision to hire a 

law clerk. Russell himself never publicly wrote 

of the clerkship, Justice Gray's meager per­

sonal papers at the Library ofCongress contain 

no mention of Russell, and the few biogra­

phies of Gray's contemporaries do not refer­

ence Gray's unusual experiment. 

Unlike many of Gray's later clerks, Rus­

sell did not climb to the top of his profession. 

From 1883 to 1896 Russell worked at his fa­

ther's law firm, Russell & Putnam, and from 

approximately 1896 to 1900 he worked as a 

solo practitioner. Russell briefly flirted with 

Very little is known about Thomas Russell (pictured 
here in his youth), the first law clerk. Unlike other 
clerks, he did not go on to an illustrious legal career. 
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state politics as a young man- serving for two 

terms in the Massachusetts House of Repre­

sentatives in 1893 and 1894 while simultane­

ously holding the position of treasurer of the 

Republican City Committee of Boston- and 

he remained active in the Massachusetts Re­

publican party. 

I have been unable to uncover any evi- . 

dence that Russell was a prominent member of 

the bar during his short career. Russell himself 

wrote little ofhis own legal career, observing in 

1900 that "[m]y summers are spent in a small 

place in Plymouth, Massachusetts, where 1 am 

philanthropically engaged in feeding a large 

number of bugs of various kinds in my attempt 

to cultivate a small garden ." Russell added that 

his only civic responsibi lity was serving as a 

trustee of the Worcester Insane Hospital. Rus­

sell had the financial resources to retire from 

the practice of law in 1909 at the relatively 

young age of 51. 
According to his granddaughter, Star 

Myles, Russell spent most of his post­

retirement days at the Brookline Country Club 

or the Union Club in Boston, golfing and­

when a heart condition caused him to stop 

golfing--curling, lawn bowling, and playing 

"cowboy pool." Perhaps Russell himself felt 

reticent about his early retirement, comment­

ing in 1929 that "I retired from the law some 

twenty years ago and, have, J am sorry to say, 

done nothi ng of interest to anyone si nce." Curl­

ing was the post-retirement activity that Rus­

sell took the most seriously. In 1927, the Boston 

Herald ran a picture of Russell and his curl­

ing teammates, an image bearing the headline 

"A Veteran Quartet of County Club Curlers" 

and the caption "Although none of these four 

curlers is young any more, each can furnish 

plenty of entertainment for his more youthful 
opponents. ,,34 

Russell is remembered by his grand­

daughter as a "gentleman of the old school," 

a tall and distinguished man who was devoted 

to his wife, never touched alcohol or liquor, 

threw elegant dinner parties, had a practiced 

eye for finding good antiques and oriental rugs, 

believed that President Franklin Delano Roo­

sevelt was a "traitor to his class," and shared 

his granddaughter 's love of movies involving 
" historical adventure tales.,,35 Russell died in 

his Boston home on April 8, 1938. 
Justice Gray's second law clerk was 

Wi Iliam Schofield, who was born on Febru­

ary 14, 1857 in Dudley, Massachusetts. The 

historical record suggests that, unlike many of 

his fellow clerks, Schofield came from a more 

modest socioeconomic background . Schofield 

was forced to balance his college studies with 

work as a pri nter, and a former classmate wrote 

that Schofield "came from a small town [and] 

was prepared for college in one of the less 

known academies, which so often bring for­

ward boys of unusual character and promise 

who would otherwise never go to college." 

While the classmate reported that Schofield ar­

rived at Harvard College with an "inadequate" 

education which limited his early academic 

success, "his persistence and unremitting in­

dustry and his great natural ability made him 

a leader." This work ethic, however, came at 

a price. "He was always a man of serious and 

earnest purpose, with perhaps too little thought 

or care for the lighter side of life." 

Schofield graduated from Harvard Col­

lege with a Phi Beta Kappa key, gave a com­

mencement address entitled "The Commercial 

Agitation in England," and spent a year pursu­

ing the study of Roman law in graduate school 

before enrolling at Harvard Law School in the 

fall of 1880. After his graduation in 1883, 
which saw him give a commencement address 

on "The Codification of the Common Law," 

Schofield spent two years clerking for Justice 

Gray. After his clerkship, Schofield returned to 

Cambridge, practiced law, and taught at both 

Harvard Law School from 1886 to 1889 (torts) 

and Harvard College from 1890 to 1892 (Ro­

man law). Schofield managed to supplement 

his teaching (which he referred to as "only in­

cidental work") and law practice with the pub­

lication of several articles in the Harvard Law 

Review.36 Schofield himself expressed disap­

pointment at what he perceived to be only 
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Russell is remembered by his granddaughter as a 
"gentleman of the old school," a tall and distin­
guished man who was devoted to his wife, never 
touched alcohol or liquor, threw elegant dinner par­
ties, had a practiced eye for finding good antiques and 
oriental rugs, believed that President Franklin Delano 
Roosevelt was a "traitor to his class," and shared his 
granddaughter's love of movies involving "historical 
adventure tales." 

a modest academic output, explaining to his 

classmates that "[t]he briefs which we lawyers 

write do not seem to count either as literary or 

as legal work, but they cost hard labor none the 

less ." 

Like Russell , Schofield served several 

years in the Massachusetts legislature. As 

a legislator, Schofield held key committee 

assignments and "won fame as an impas­

sionate orator, a resourceful debater, a keen 
parliamentarian and a rapid thinker,,3? whose 

speeches "commanded the entire attention of 

the House."38 He was noted by the local press 

to be a loyal supporter and friend of Republi­

can Massachusetts Governor Winthrop Murray 

Crane, support that was repaid when Crane ap­

pointed Schofield to the Massachusetts Supe­

rior Court in 1902. The Boston Evening Jour­
nal remarked that Schofield was "one of the 

best known attorneys in the State" and that 

"[h]is nomination is met with favor by all who 

know him,"39 while the Springfield Republi­
can concluded that Schofield's "personal qual­

ities are so attractive and reliable that men have 

forecast for him a successful career in politics, 

where his adaptation for useful public service 
has been well proved.,,4o 

I have been unable to find any information 

on Schofield's tenure on the Superior Court. 

Approximately eight years later, Crane again 

served as Schofield 's political mentor, submit­

ting his name to President William Howard 

Taft for a vacancy on the First Circuit Court 

of Appeals. Schofield originally declined to 

be nominated for the position , but was "at 

last ... persuaded to change his mind by Sen­

ator Crane, who appointed him to the superior 
court.,,41 While Schofield was subsequently 

confirmed as a federal appeals court judge, 

his federal judicial career was short-lived. The 

March 23, 1912 edition of the Boston Daily 
Globe reported that Schofield was slowly re­

covering from a "nervous breakdown" suffered 

earlier in the year, and within three months 

he was dead of "spinal trouble in the form of 

paralysis.,,42 His death was viewed as "an ir­

reparable loss to the community" by the Boston 
Herald, and over one thousand judges, attor­

neys, politicians, and family members attended 

his funeral on June 12, 1912. 

With regard to Gray's first three law 

clerks, the historical record is the most sparse 

when we come to the third clerk, Henry El­

dridge Warner. He was born in Cambridge, 

. Massachusetts on October 27, 1860, graduat­

ing from Harvard College in 1882 and Har­

vard Law School in 1885 before clerking for 

Justice Gray during October Term 1885. In 

an 1899 newspaper article, Warner was de­

scribed as "an aristocratic appearing young 

man and .. . very democratic . He is tall and has 

a straight, athletic figure. His hair and mous­
tache are black.,,43 



238 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY 

Warner immediately entered private prac­

tice upon the conclusion of his 

with Justice se­

nior partner in the Boston law firm Warner, 

Stackpole, Bradlee & Cabot. His foray into 

was more modest than either Russell's 
or Schofield's. He served for one year on 

both the Cambridge Board of Health and the 
Cambridge City Council. Warner also served 

as a bankruptcy referee in Middlesex County, 

Massachusetts in approximately 1899.44 

In his later years, Warner moved to Lin-

Massachusetts to a property that he hu­

referred to as "his farm." At the age 

of forty- five, he wrote to his Harvard 
classmates: "I seem to have no unusual expe­

riences to and I 
like that of the rest of the a continued 
endeavor to 'lead the life' and up 

with the procession." Like Russell, Warner was 

a member of both the Brookline County Club 

and the Union Club of Boston, and one can­
not resist wondering whether the two men ex­

stories about Justice Gray and 
the Supreme Court over drinks. Warner died 011 

June 1954 at the age of 93. His death mer­

ited several newspaper articles, not because of 
his legal but due to his ad­

vanced age: at the time of his Warner 
was the oldest living graduate of Harvard Law 

School.45 

Warner would be the last Court 
law clerk to lead a eXls­

authorization of steno­

graphic the other Justices quickly 
moved to hire their own assistants. Not all Jus­

tices immediately the clerkship model 

created by Horace a 

graduated law student for a one-year 
clerkship and him substantive 

work-but the die was cast. Before retiring 

from the Justice himselfhired six­

teen additional law clerks. While the historical 
record is sparse for some of these men, the ac­

shments and personalities ofa few 

clerks have survived the passage of time and 

deserve brief mention. 

Horace Subsequent 

Law Clerks 


Today a 

a prerequisite to securIng a 

pU;;llIun at an elite law school. The 

of this hiring norm may well be traced to 
Justice and the alumni of his 

internship program. Three of 

law clerks-Ezra Thayer, 
Samuel Williston-all returned to Harvard 

Law School and became full-time members of 

the faculty, while former clerks Roland 

William and Jeremiah Smith, Jr. oc­

casionally lectured at the law school. Another 
law Blewett served on the law 

of both Northwestern University and 
the University of 

Ofthe three law clerks who were per­
manent members of the Harvard Law School 

faculty, Williston achieved the most endur­

24, 1861 in 

ated from Harvard ,-"Vll<;~" 
at a boarding school before attending Harvard 

Law School. Williston served on the editorial 
board of the Harvard Law Review during its 

first year and was awarded a 
the Harvard Law School Association for an 

essay entitled of the Law of Business 
Before 1800." After his clerk­

ship, Williston practiced at the Boston law firm 

of Hyde, Dickinson & Howe and accepted an 

to teach at Harvard Law School. 

As his class notes obliquely observe 

strain of the double work proved to be 
too and in I soon after ap­

pointed to full he was forced to take 
a three vacation." Willis­

ton's absence from Harvard Law School would 

stretch over much of the next five years and 

would turn out to be more than fa-

Writes Hofstra Law School Professor 
Mark Movsesian: 

lt soon became apparent that he 
needed more than a vacation. Neuras­

thenia, or nervous exhaustion, was a 
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common diagnosis during the Gilded 

Age, particularly for " brain toilers" 

like Williston who were thought to be 

particularly susceptible to the strains 

that modernity placed on the nervous 

system. The catchall term covered 

various mental disturbances, includ­

ing what we would call depression 

and anxiety disorder. People under­

stood the condition to be chl'Onic, de­

bilitating, and potenti ally incurable .46 

Williston ultimately sought help at a sanitar­

ium in Bethel, Maine47 and was treated with a 

combination of sedatives and talk therapy. 

Movsesian writes that the treatment ap­

peared successful, and Williston resumed 

teaching at Harvard law School in 1900. 

"Although he suffered periodic relapses that 

sent him back to Bethel and sanitariums 

over the years, and never weaned himself 

entirely off sedatives, he was able to work 

steadily ... teaching into his eighties and doing 

research into his nineties. "48 Williston had the 

courage to frankly discuss the events surround­

ing his periodic breakdowns, and Movsesian 

notes that Williston "hoped his recovery might 

show those with similar problems that ' some 

achievement may still be possible after years 

of incapacity. '" Writes Movses ian: "Williston 

himselfJiked to tell people that his own career 

had been like the path of a wobbl ing planet: 

he was proof that, however far off course one 

went, one could 'wobble back. ' " 49 

One can only speculate whether fellow 

faculty member Thayer took any comfort in 

Williston's recovery as Thayer himself battled 

severe depression . Thayer was born on Febru­

ary 21 , 1866 to James Bradley Thayer (who 

himself began a teaching career at Harvard 

Law School in 1873) and Sophia Bradford 

Ripley Thayer. Thayer's college preparation 

included a year studying classical texts in 

Athens, and in 1888 he graduated first in his 

class at Harvard College. While in law school 

Thayer was a member of the Harvard Law 

Review and received the highest grades of any 

law student in the previous thirty-five years. Of 

Thayer, his classmates observed that his suc­

cess "did not come from the laborious toil of 

one striving merely for high rank. He had ex­

traordinary intellectual powers and capacity, 

a brain that absorbed easily, and a tenacious 

memory." 

Upon Thayer 's graduation , Harvard Law 

School promptly offered him a teaching posi­

tion. Thayer declined and clerked for Justice 

Gray during October Term 1891 . Thayer sub­

sequently spent eighteen years in private prac­

tice, first at the law firm Brandeis, Dunbar, and 

Nutter and later at Storey, Thorndike, Palmer 

and Thayer. Thayer was described as "a good 

trial lawyer, but was even better known for 

his ability to deal with questions of law and 

had taken his place in the foremost rank of 

those who argued cases before the full court.,,50 

Thayer 's native intelligence could be intim­

idating to lawyers who matched wits with 

him ; attorney and long-time friend Charles E. 

Shattack once confessed that "Thayer 's mental 

processes were so thorough and at the same 

time so swift that often those of us less gifted 

were almost appalled by them.,,51 While in 

private practice, Thayer also lectured at both 

Harvard Law School and Harvard Medical 

School. 

Thayer was appointed dean of the Har­

vard Law School in 1910, after initially 

and repeatedly expressing disinterest in the 

position. While biog rapher John Sheesley 

writes that Thayer did not havc thc time to 

stamp his own unique mark upon the law 

school , Thayer made a number of important 

decisions-including appointing Felix Frank­

furter and Roscoe Pound to the faculty, raising 

. the applicant admission standards, increasing 

course-load requirements, encouraging stricter 

grading , and tweaking the curriculum-while 

initially struggling in the classroom. 52 As dean 

ofHarvard Law School , Thayer made one other 

minor contribution- not to the law, but to pop­

ular culture. During Cole Porter's first year at 

Harvard Law School , Thayer gave the young 

man the following advice: 
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I want to tell you that 

may injure your self-esteem ... but I 

think it is best for you. Cole, 

your marks are abominable. You will 

But your music 
is very indeed. I suggest that 

you switch over to the excellent mu­

sic school we have here. . . will 
be gaining a talented student and we 

will be losing a wretched one. 53 

A mediocre law Porter did in­

deed leave the school, a decision he "never 
regretted."54 

As with Williston, 

described his fatal struggles with mental 

illness in terms of strain and overwork. 

athletic, simple and abstemious in 

his habits .. the high standard which he had 

set for himself made too great 
his and nervous resources." 

states that Thayer was stricken with 

"bladder disease" in March 
1915, a painful condition which came and 

went the summer of 19 J5. The ill­

ness 

hypothesizes that 

of the medical condition, combined 

with the work load, led to severe 

anxiety. "A newspaper account at the time of 
death stated that he was 

over this and that he 'sometimes said he 
did not find life worth the living and would be 

when it all ended. ,,,55 committed 

Samuel Williston (pictured) 
has written that Gray "in­
vited the frankest expres­
sion of any fresh idea of his 
secretary ... and welcomed 
any doubt or criticism of 
his own views." like several 
Gray clerks, Williston went 
on to become a member of 
the faculty at Harvard law 
SchooL 



241 BIRTH OF AN INSTITUTION 

suicide in the Charles River on September 15, 
1915. 

"Ezra Ripley Thayer is one of the least cel­

ebrated of the men who have served as Dean 
of the Harvard Law School," writes Sheesley. 

"No building bears his name. His portrait is 

tucked away in a far corner of the Library 
reading room.,,56 While Sheesley offers anum­

ber of explanations for this, including Thayer's 

short tenure as dean (five years) and his lack 

of legal scholarship, he suggests that "there 

may also be an element of shame that adds 

to Thayer's invisibility; the Law School may 
be embarrassed to recall that it was guided by 

a mentally unstable man, or even worse, that 
it contributed to his death. "57 Regardless of 

the reasons for "the invisibility of the Thayer 

period" at Harvard Law School, he must be 

considered one of Horace Gray's most accom­

plished law clerks-and his story one of the 
most tragic. 58 

Joseph Warren was the second-to-Iast 

Harvard Law School graduate to clerk for Ho-

After clerking for Gray in 1891-92, Ezra Ripley 
Thayer went on to serve briefly as Dean of Harvard 
Law School. Unfortunately, he suffered from mental 
illness, and he committed suicide in 1915. 

race Gray. After his clerkship during October 

Term 1900, Warren returned to Boston, briefly 
worked at Brandeis, Dunbar and Nutter, spent 

both a year as counsel for the Boston Police 

Department and one as secretary to the United 

States Ambassador to Rome, and then worked 
two years as a patent law attorney at the firm of 

Richardson, Herrick & Neave. In 1907, Warren 

returned to Harvard. After a stint in the Presi­

dent's Office and as a part-time lecturer, War­

ren joined the Harvard Law School faculty in 

1913. Warren was appointed the Bussey Pro­

fessor of Law in 1919 and the Weld Professor 
of Law in 1929. Warren also served as acting 

dean of the Law School on two different oc­

casions, and he published two influential legal 

treatises (Cases on Wills and Administration 
(1917) and Cases on Conveyances (1922)) as 

well as a half-dozen articles in the Harvard 
Law Review. 

To the faculty and students of Harvard 
Law School, Warren was "Gentleman Joe." 

Harvard Law School Professor Edmund M. 

Morgan, Jr. explained: "[T]his term has always 

been applied with genuine affection and re­
spect. It has had no reference to manner or 

outward trappings; it has expressed apprecia­

tion of inward qualities, the character of the 
man.,,59 Morgan recounted an incident at the 

end of the final class Warren taught at Har­
vard Law School, where a representative of 

the class stood up, thanked Warren for his 

service, and then said to his fellow students 

"[s]o rise and start your cheering: a gentleman 
departs. ,,60 

Several of Justice Gray's former law 

clerks-including Charles Lowell Barlow, 
William Harrison Dunbar, Roland Gray, 

. Robert Homans, Gordon T. Hughes, Landgon 

Parker Marvin, James Montgomery Newell , 

John Gorham Palfrey, and Jeremiah Smith, 
Jr.-achieved varying degrees of professional 

success as attorneys in Boston and New 

York. Dunbar became a named partner in the 

law firm of Brandeis, Dunbar and Nutter, 

while Marvin practiced with future President 

Franklin D. Roosevelt. Roland Gray, the son 
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of John Gray, followed his 
serving as the personal secretary to Chief 

Justice Melville Fuller was attending the 
Anglo-Venezuelan Arbitration Tribunal) be­
fore joining his father's firm of 
and Gorham. Roland Gray also devoted much 

anced his law 
Oliver Wendell 
and tennis matches. 
of Sarah Palfrey Cooke an in­
ternational tennis star who won 18 Grand Slam 

as well as four other daughters who also 
won national tennis ). 

Of all these attorneys, Jeremiah Jr. 
would have the most lasting impact on interna­
tional affairs. Smith was born in Dover, New 
Hampshire on 14, 1870 to Jeremiah 
and Hannah Webster Smith. Like many law 
clerks, his ancestral roots ran 
early history of America. His 
tended Harvard was wounded while 

in the American knew 
and served in the United 

as the chief 
Supreme 

and as Governor of New Hampshire. His fa­
ther, also named Jeremiah was on the 
Harvard Law School faculty for over three 
decades. 

Jeremiah Smith, Jr. attended Phillips Ex­
eter Academy before enrolling in Harvard Col­
lege in 1888 and Harvard Law School in 1892. 
Smith served as editor-in-chief of the Harvard 

Law Review and clerked for Horace dur-
October Term 1895. After his 

Smith the next years in private 
practice in Boston before as a captain 
in the United States during World War L 
At the end of Smith was 
by President Woodrow Wilson to the Ameri­
can Commission to Peace. Despite 
the rarified air of Paris and his role at the ne­

Smith remained unaffected. A 
former classmate writes: 

Let me set down an example of the 
way in which he hated sham 
or that savored of it: When 
the time came for the of the 
Versailles it was evidently go­
ing to be a great at the 

with everybody within miles 
of Paris anxious to attend. of­
ficial position entitled him to a seat; 
but he shook his head and declined to 
go. "No," said he, "it is a poor 
I don't want any part of it. Nobody 
will ever know whether I attend or 
not, but I shall know and lean 't 

my presence there." 

was no " concludes the class­
mate, "but he had clear-cut conceptions of 

and wrong." The same classmate de­
scribed Smith as a man of 

and who pos­
sessed "a quaint, infectious humor in which 
the shrewdest of men and their 
foibles ... mingled and was one with a perva­
sive iov in human nature and life as we all live 
it." 

Smith subsequently returned to Boston 
and his legal only to be again 
for service, In I the of 
Nations appointed Smith to the dis­
tribution ofa fifty-million-dollar loan to Hun­
gary. to Smith's obituary in the New 
York his role was much more than that 
ofa mere financial advisor. "Ratherthan 'advi­
sor, Mr. Smith was for a time virtually dictator 
of as he controlled all govermnen­
taJ expenditures. His task was made doubly 

hard as besides 

race in "()L During his time in Hun­

gary, Smith international admiration, 
not only for his financial skill in 
1I1 months a job 
thirty years, but for his refusal either to live 
in a Hungarian or to accept a $100,000 

bonus. 
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Joseph Warren clerked for Gray during the 1900 Term 
and eventually went on to a distinguished teaching 
career at Harvard Law School. 

Upon the discharge of his advising duties 

in 1926, Smith spent the next ten years prac­

ticing law, serving as a director of AT&T and 

a member of the Harvard Corporation, and sit­

ting on the boards of various international po­

litical organizations. Despite his wide range of 

duties, the Washington Post claimed, Smith had 

" turned down more offers than most men re­

ceive, including the post ofTreasury Secretary, 

offered him by President Roosevelt in 1933.,,63 

Smith died on March 13 , 1935 in Cambridge, 

Massachusetts. 

Two of Justice Gray 's law clerks were 

denied the opportunity to leave their mark 

on the legal profession, dying at a young 

age . Moses Day Kimball was born in Boston, 

Massachusetts on February 16, 1868 and grad­

uated from Harvard College in 1889. Although 

Kimball evidenced an early interest in becom­

ing a minister, he began Harvard Law School 

in the fall of 1889. A classmate implied that 

it was Kimball's will and work habits that re­

sulted in his early death . "This devotion to his 

profession blinded him ... to the proper mea­

sure of his physical strength, and deprived the 

State of his most promising life and service." 

Kimball died of pneumonia during his clerk­

ship in Washington, D.C. on March 31,1893. 

Little information exists regarding Kimball's 

clerkship and fatal illness, and we can only 

speculate as to the impact that Kimball's death 

had on Justice Gray. 

Edward Twisleton Cabot also fell victim to 

a premature death. Cabot was born in Brook­

line, Massachusetts on September 13, 1861, 

graduated from Harvard Law School in 1887, 

and clerked for Horace Gray during October 

Term 1887. Fellow Harvard College student 

James F. Moors wrote a moving tribute to 

Cabot after his death, extolling his intellectual 

and athletic virtues. "When Ted Cabot entered 

college, he was best known as the most in­

domitable football player of the Class. 'Lay 

for Cabot,' had been a well-known cry from 

opposing school elevens." Cabot was the se­

nior captain of both the Harvard College foot­

ball and crew teams. Described as sometimes 

studious, moody, and disposed to "austerity 

towards frivolity and meanness and truth de­

formed," Cabot was described by Moors as 

possessing "an impressive moral force" that 

caused another classmate to remark that "[n]o 

true friend of his [Cabot's] can ever con­

sciously do wrong." Cabot must have suffered 

from a long decline in health, for Moor writes 

that "all his life after graduation was passed 

in the shadow of approaching death" yet adds 

that even though "inexorable death was press­

ing upon him," Cabot "was living among us so 

calm and fearless that very little of the conflict 

between young life and inevitable dissolution 

was apparent even to his friends." Cabot prac­

t-iced law in Boston until his death on Novem­

ber 10,1893. 

Finally, we come to Blewett Lee-the 

law clerk with perhaps the most unique fam­

ily history of all Horace Gray's young assis­

tants. Born on March I, 1867 in Moxubee 

County, Mississippi to Stephen Dill Lee and 

Regina Lily Harrison Lee, Lee was a mem­

ber of the first graduating class of Mississippi 
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Agricultural and Mechanical College (later 

Mississippi State University). Thus, Lee was 

the only Gray law clerk to not attend Harvard 

College. Lee subsequently enrolled in classes 

at the University of Virginia before attend­

ing Harvard Law School. Harvard Law School 

classmate Samuel Williston wrote ofLee: "His 

brilliant mind, geniality, simplicity, and an. 

outlook somewhat colored by his Southern 

training made him an attractive companion.,,64 

Upon Lee's graduation , he traveled to Germany 

and studied at the University ofLeipriz and the 

University of Freiburg before taking a clerk­

ship with Horace Gray. 

After his Supreme Court clerkship, Lee 

moved to Atlanta, Georgia and struggled to 

find work as a lawyer. In an unpublished his­

tory of the Lee family, the following story is 

recounted: 

One day a man came into the office 

and asked BL to establish a com­

pany for him. He said he wanted to 

manufacture a nonintoxicating drink . 

He said also that he didn 't have very 

much money so he could only offer 

BL a block of stock in the new com­

pany or $25.00. BL took a drink of 

the stuff, thought it was awful, and 

took the $25.00. The man's name was 

[Asa Griggs] Candler and the com­

pany he started was the Coca Cola 
Company.6S 

Lee eventually moved to Chicago in 1893, en­

ticed there by a professorship at Northwest­

ern University and a salary that Lee claimed 

was " more than the Chief Justice of the State 

of Georgia was making at the time .,,66 It was 

in Chicago that Lee met and married Francis 

Glessner, the daughter of International Har­

vester founder John 1. Glessner. The mar­

riage produced three children, but ended in 

divorce in 1914. Described by a biographer 

as a "brilliant, witty, shy, intimidating, and, by 

some accounts, impossible woman,,,67 Francis 

Glessner later achieved an unusual fame by 

Mississippi-born Blewett Lee was the only Gray clerk 
who hailed from south of the Mason-Dixon line and 
who did not attend Harvard College prior to attending 
its law school. 

parlaying the art of creating miniatures of 

murder scenes into becoming a leading expert 

in crime scene investigation . 

Lee is one of two law clerks to have 

a famous Civil War general as a father.6s 

Stephen Dill Lee was born in Charleston, 

South Carolina and attended West Point dur­

ing Robert E. Lee's tenure there as superin­

tendent. At the start of the Civil War, Stephen 

D. Lee resigned his commission in the United 

States Army and enlisted in the Confederate 

Army, and it was Captain Lee-as a member 

of General P.G.T. Beauregard's staff-who de­

livered a written note of surrender to Major 

Robert Anderson at Fort Sumter. Upon Ma­

jor Anderson's refusal to hand over the fort, 

Captain Lee ordered the artillery to fire upon 

Fort Sumter, thus firing the first shot in the 

Civil War. Lee survived both injury and cap­

ture during the Civil War, rose to the rank of 

lieutenant general, and later became the first 

http:father.6s
http:Company.6S
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president of Mississippi A&M and the pres­

ident of the United Confederate Veterans. A 

life-sized statute of General Stephen Dill Lee, 

resplendent in full military uniform and his 
saber at the ready, resides at the Vicksburg Na­

tional Military Park.69 

After teaching at both Northwestern Uni­

versity Law School from 1893 to 1902 and 

the University of Chicago Law School in 1902 

(as one of the first faculty members hired by 

the new law school), Blewett Lee left the legal 

academy in 1902 and eventually became the 

general counsel for the Illinois Central Rail­
road. Despite the fact that he was no longer 

a law professor, Lee remained intellectually 

curious and continued to write articles that 
appeared in the Columbia Law Review,7o the 

Harvard Law Review,7l and the Virginia Law 

Review.72 Lee 's family describes him as a 

"courtly southern gentlemen in every sense of 

the word. He was deeply and sentimentally at­
tached to his southern inheritance and had all 

the graces and charm which came from such 

a background . .. A more cultivated, intellectu­
ally gifted man it would be hard to find.,m 

Lee died on April 18, 1951 in Atlanta, 

Georgia and was buried with his parents in 

the family plot at the Friendship Cemetery in 

Columbus, Mississippi. 

Conclusion 

Many aspects of the clerkship model created 

by Horace Gray remain intact today. Other 

important changes, however, have occurred 

over time. Although Harvard Law School con­

tinues to be well represented in the law-clerk 

corps, other top law schools-such as Yale, 

University of Chicago, Stanford, Columbia, 
New York University, University of Michigan, 

and University of Virginia-routinely send 

their graduates on to Supreme Court clerk­

ships. Since the late 1960s, however, the Jus­

tices have preferred applicants who have prior 

federal appellate court clerkship experience­

a dramatic change from the selection practices 

in earlier times. Finally, modern law clerks 
have been given many more job responsibil­

ities than their predecessors, a change that has 

triggered concern for some Supreme Court 
watchers. 

No major biography has been written 

about Horace Gray, and law professors have 

mixed opinions as to his place in the hier­

archy of great Justices. Nevertheless, Justice 
Gray deserves to be given his due as the 

creator of a new institution at the Supreme 

Court-the law clerk-that has helped gen­
erations of jurists efficiently and skillfully 

wade through stacks of petitions for writs 

of certiorari, prepare for oral argument, 

and draft legal opinions that have reshaped 

our political and legal landscape. And af­

ter 125 years of anonymity, Thomas Rus­
sell, William Schofield, and Henry Eldridge 

Warner merit at least a footnote in the his­

tory of the U.S. Supreme Court as the first law 

clerks. 

http:Review.72
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Appendix 1: The Law Clerks of Justice Horace Gray 

Name of Clerk Clerkship Birthplace Undergrad, School Subsequent career* 

Thomas Russell 1882-1883 Boston, MA Harvard Harvard State private practice 

William Schofield 1883-1885 Dudley, MA Harvard Harvard practice: state legislature: 
state and federal judge 

Eldridge Warner I 886 Cambridge, MA Harvard Harvard Private praclice 

William Harrison Dunbar 1886-1887 Roxbury, MA Harvard Private praelice 
Twisleton Cabot 1887-1888 Brookline, MA Harvard Private practice 

Samuel Williston 1888-J889 Cambridge, MA Harvard Harvard Private practice; law professor 

Blewett H. 1889-1890 Columbus, MS ,<\&M Harvard Private practice; law professor; 
counsel 

Francis Richard Jones 1890-1891 BaSion, MA Harvard Harvard Private practice 
Rip[ey Thayer 1891-1892 Milton, MA Harvard Harvard Private practice; law school dean 

Day Kimball 1892-1893 Boston, Harvard None 

Montgomery Newell 1893-1894 Roxbury, MA Harvard Harvard Private practice 
Gordon Taylor Hughes 1894-1895 Hamilton,OH Harvard Private 

Jeremlah Smith, Jr. 1895-1896 Dover, NH Harvard Harvard Private practice: federal government 
Charles Barlow 1896-1 New York, i\Y Harvard Harvard Private practice 
Robert Homans [897-[ 898 Boston, MA Harvard Harvard practice 
Roland Gray I 899 Boston, Mi\ Harvard Harvard practice 

John Gorham Palfrey 1899-1900 Belmont, MA Harvard Private practice 

Joseph Warren I900-1 90J Boston, MA Harvard Private practice; law school professor 
Langdon Parker Marvin 1901-1902 Albany, NY Harvard Harvard Private pracrice 

• }neludes oniv sillniflcol1l and sustained professiolla/ accomplishments, 
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The Civil War Reminiscences 
of John Marshall Harlan 

PETER SCOTT CAMPBELL, EDITOR 

Towards the end of his life, John Marshall Harlan wrote a series of essays about various 
events of his Ii fe . Collected together, the documents form the closest thing to an autobiography 

Harlan was to write. Most of the documents concern Harlan's experiences in the Civil War, 

and some of them repeat the same stories. Cited often in biographies and articles about Harlan, 
they have never been published before. The three printed here were chosen not only for their 

individual interest, but also because, taken together, they form a nearly complete account of 

Harlan 's wartime experiences. 

The first selection, a letter written to his 

son Richard near the end of Harlan's life, is 

from the collection of Harlan's papers housed 

at the University of Louisville. Not only does 
it constitute a lengthy account of Harlan's ac­

tivities during the war, but it also provides 

a unique glimpse of pre-war Kentucky polit­

ical life. Harlan describes the friendship of 

his father and Henry Clay, the pre-eminent 

Kentucky politician who was an influence 

on Harlan throughout his life. Clay's death 

and the subsequent disso.lution of the Whig 
party threw many Kentuckians, particularly 

Harlan , into a state of political rootlessness, 

which was exacerbated by the Civil War. Ac­

cording.ly, the letter next describes Kentucky's 
divided responses to the 1860 election and 

the resulting war, which led first to a policy 

of neutrality and then to a conflict that pit­

ted not only neighbor against neighbor but 

also-as shown in the letter-family member 

against family member. Harlan's decision to 

join the Unionists, when as a slaveholder and 

an avid anti-abolitionist he could have been 

expected to join the Secessionists, is shown 
here to be the direct result of Clay's early in­

fluence on his thinking. Harlan devotes the 

rest of the letter to his battle experiences and 

behind-the-scenes observations of his fellow 

officers. 

The two other essays are from the Harlan 

co.llection at the Library of Congress. The first 
describes several incidents from the early days 

of the war during which Harlan met and be­

came friends with General Williams Tecumseh 

Sherman. The last essay describes a war in­

cident that occurred after Harlan had retired 

from the Army, when he joined the defense of 

the state capitol from a raid by John Morgan's 

men. 
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Harlan's experiences led to acquaintances 

with many men who were famous in their 

day. His writings assume familiarity with these 

men. As a result, endnotes have been added 

whenever possible to identify the men and to 

place them in the context of the events being 

described. 

The Civil War Letter 

Pointe au Pic, Province 

of Quebec, Canada, 
July 4th, 1911. 

Dear Richard: 1 

I have promised many times to commit to 

paper, for preservation by my family, numer­

ous things that have been told them by me as 

to the relations between my father' and Henry 

Clay,3 prior to the Civil War, and some things 

that would explain my connection with events 

In a letter written near 
the end of his life to his 
son, Richard, John Mar­
shall Harlan described 
his father's admiration 
for the great Chief Jus­
tice after whom he was 
named. At left is a pho­
tograph taken in 1906 
of Justice and Mrs. Har­
lan (both left) visiting 
Richard and his wife, 
Margaret (both right), 
five years before that 
letter was written. 

that had more or less bearing upon the posi­

tion of Kentucky during the Civil War, at the 

outset of which it became a vital question in 

that Commonwealth whether its people should 

adhere to the cause of the Union as against the 

Rebellion organized in the States where the in­

stitution of Slavery existed. I now comply, in 

part, with that promise. 

My father was an ardent admirer of John 

Marshall, and held to the views of constitu­

tional construction which that great jurist em­

bodied in the opinions delivered by him as 

Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of the 

United States. He was equally ardent in his 

opposition to the views of constitutional law 

which were supposed to be, and doubtless 

were, entertained by Thomas Jefferson. Mar­

shall, my father always contended, held to 

views which, all concede, would give to the 
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country a government that would be supreme 

and paramount in respect to all matters en­

trusted to the General Government, its pow­

ers, however, to be so exerted as not to in­

fringe upon the rights which remained with the 

People of the several States, which had never 

been surrendered or granted, expressly or im­

pliedly, to the National Government. My father 

adhered firmly to these views and opposed to 

those maintained by Jefferson , because he be­

lieved that Jefferson 's views were based upon a 

narrow, literal construction of the words of the 

Federal constitution which, in its time, would 

so minimize the functions of the Government 

intended to be established by that instrument 

as to place the National Government so com­

pletely at the mercy of the States that it could 

not accomplish the objects of its creation . He 

regarded "Jeffersonian ism," speaking gener­

ally, as an evil that needed to be watched and 

overcome. He so thought during his entire life, 

and hence he became a follower of Webster 

and Clay. He gloried, so to speak, in being 

a Whig, and an opponent to the Democratic 

Party, the leading statesmen of which organi­

zation always seemed to take pride in saying 

that that party had been founded by Jefferson. 

They avowed their purpose to engraft "Jeffer­

sonianism" upon our constitutional system of 

government. My father was bitterly opposed to 

the accomplishment of any such purpose. 

I have said that my father was a follower 

of Henry Clay, and we may take some pride in 

the fact that he was regarded by Mr. Clay as his 

warm personal and political friend. In .. . , Mr. 

Clay delivered in the Market Place at Lexing­

ton, Kentucky, what was called his Mexican 

War speech, in which he charged the Demo­

cratic Party with having unnecessarily and un­

justly brought on that war4 My father heard 

that speech, upon invitation by Mr. Clay, and he 

took me with him. I was a mere boy at the time 

and did not know what the occasion meant. 

But I remember that during the whole time of 

Clay's speech I sat at his feet, and was charmed 

with his magnificent, bugle voice. Let me say 

for your information that in the small tin box, 

usually kept in my office at Washington, there 

are about forty original letters written to my 

father by Clay. If you have ever read those let­

ters you will recall one which, although not 

in itself of any particular importance, yet it 

suggests that there was a possibility of our 

family becoming citizens ofCalifornia.5 After 

the death of President Taylor, and the acces­

sion of Fillmore to the Presidency, Mr. Clay, 

who was close to Fillmore, wrote to my father, 

expressing the belief that if he would accept 

the position of Land Commissioner of Cali­

fornia (then deemed an important office) he, 

Clay, believed that he would be appointed. My 

father took the matter under consideration and 

informed Mr. Clay that he was unwilling to 

leave Kentucky on any account and become a 

permanent resident ofany other State. Another 

fact in connection with this California matter 

may interest you. Among the friends whom my 

father consulted as to the offer, transmitted by 

Mr. Clay, was the late Joshua F. Speed,6 who 

became an early and potent friend of Lincoln, 

when the latter first went to Springfield, Illi­

nois, to practice the law. Speed was a Kentuck­

ian, but at the time referred to was engaged in 

business at Springfield. My father was, from 

the outset, opposed to leaving Kentucky. But 

as he had no estate, beyond, the avails of his 

profession-a fact well known to all of his 

friends-Speed earnestly advised him to take 

the position of Land Commissioner of Califor­

nia, giving as a reason, that he could surrender 

the office, after a few years of service, return 

to the practice of his profession and, with his 

knowledge of land law, he could make a large 

fortune. So confident was Speed of this, that 

he said to my father, that if he went to the 

'practice in California, he, Speed, would give 

bond to pay him $\5,000 a year for five years, 

if he (Harlan) would keep a book of receipts 

and expenses, and give Speed all in excess of 

$15 ,000 that he made in anyone year for the 

five years. But my father was not moved by 

these views. He determined to stay in Ken­

tucky, let come what would, work hard there, 

and die poor, if need be, rather than take his 
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After hearing Henry Clay (pictured, left) speak at a rally in opposition to the Mexican War, Harlan remembers 
he was "charmed with [Clay's] magnificent, bugle voice." Harlan kept about forty original letters written by 
Clay to his father, James (pictured, right), in a small tin box in his office. When Clay died in 1852, he left 
James Harlan his black cane. 

to distant California, among a 

If he had the offer of Land 
Conunissioner of California the whole fam­
ily would, have become residents of 
that State. In that event, I would not, 
have become a Justice of the 
of the United States. 

One other fact about Mr. One of the 
last he made was before the 

7 The old statesman was fresh from 
the great contest in over the passage 
of the Measuresof[1850·1 1.] 
He looked "full of to meet all 

comers of whatever party. He was in full dress 
on that that his cravat was 
black. on the aisle of the 
he spoke, he strode backwards and torward 
traversing the whole aisle, and looked as if 
he felt himself to be master of the situation. 
His manner was that of a great 

to join issue with anyone who was VjJjJV~"U 
to the Compromise Measures of [ 1850-J85 J,] 

or who questioned his motives. He referred to 
the charge that he was endeavoring, by honied 

words, to secure the support of his old political 
opponents, and that he really was seeking the 

and indignantly denied that he had 
such an object in view or had any selfish or 

purpose to subserve by his course. 
the lapels of his coat, and pressing 

them across each over his chest, and 
up and down the aisle, he said, in de­

fiant tones, "If there be any man on this broad 
earth who feels 

,com­

from that great orator, with voice, had 

a wonderful his hearers. Everybody 
and for a time there did not seem 
eye in the audience. When he con-

Democrats and gathered around 
the old statesman to thank him for his patriotic 
words. It was with great difficulty 

that Mr. Clav restrained his of thanks 
He seemed almost overwhelmed 

his receotlon 
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Let me go back a little in point of time and 

tell you about certain incidents in the associ­

ations of Mr. Clay and my father. The defeat 

of Mr. Clay in 1844 as the Whig candidate for 

the Presidency caused widespread griefamong 

his political and personal friends. Though a 

mere boy in years, I took some interest in the 

political movements of the day. I remember 

that many ofMr. Clay 's friends talked ofhis de­

feat by Polk as meaning the ruin of the country 

by the Democrats . By the way, Clay was de­

feated by the electoral vote of New York, and 

that state was lost to the Whigs by the can­

didacy of James G. Birney,8 a Kentucky abo­

litionist, as an independent candidate for the 

Presidency. He knew that every vote cast for 

him was a loss to Clay, but he remained in 

the race, under the belief that, so far as slav­

ery was concerned, its abolition was no more 

likely to occur under Clay, as President, than 

under his Democratic opponent, James K. Polk 

of Tennessee. He believed that the toleration 

which slavery would receive at the hands of 

Clay would tend to perpetuate and fasten it 

upon the country; whereas, as he thought, the 

Democrats, if successful , would so disgust the 

people with schemes for the spread of slav­

ery that there would come such a revulsion of 

popular feeling as would force the destruction 

of the institution. Well , the result, as already 

stated, was the election ofPolk. During his Ad­

ministration the Mexican War occurred, and 

out of that contest came Zachary Taylor.9 He 

commanded the American troops at the battle 

of Buena Vista, and won a famous victory. In 

that battle we had several kinsmen. My old­

est brother, Richard Davenport Harlan, was 

a Lieutenant in the Kentucky Cavalry Regi­

ment, commanded by Humphrey Marshall , lo 

in which regiment was a company of which 

the celebrated orator, Thomas F. Marshall,11 

was Captain. In the same regiment Cassius M. 

C1ay,12 the noted Kentucky Abol itionist, had 

a company, or was Lieutenant of a company. 

Of McKee'sl3 Kentucky Infantry Regiment, a 

son of Henry Clay-Henry Clay, Jr.14-was 

Lieutenant-Colonel. In that regiment (l think 

as privates) were my two maternal uncles, 

Richard Davenport, Charles F. Davenport, and 

my cousin, James L. Harlan, known in Boyle 

County, where he resided, as "Big Jim." He 

weighed about 285, was six feet 4 inches tall , 

and had no surplus flesh. I may say here that my 

uncle, Charles F. Davenport, was celebrated as 

a "rifle-shot." He had a rifle that was made spe­

cially for him and as he directed. I remember 

to have heard, when a boy, that he joined the 

American Army as a volunteer only on con­

dition that he would be allowed to take his ri­

fle with him. His request was granted and he 

joined the army. His colonel knew of his skill 

with the rifle, and during the battle of Buena 

Vista, he took a position, under the orders of 

his commanding officer, on one side of the 

American Army and, from the place selected, 

"looked out" for such officers in the Mexican 

Army, as could be seen with the naked eye and 

came within range of his long rifle. After the 

war 1often talked with Uncle Charles about the 

battle, but he was unable to say what effect his 

rifle-shot had upon the enemy's officers during 

the battle. 

McKee and Clay were both killed in the 

battle. Young Clay was the hope of his great 

father, and his death caused the latter such grief 

as could not be expressed in words. 

The time was near at hand when the coun­

try was to have another Presidentia l contest. 

Who would be put forward by the Whigs or 

by those who stood by Clay in 1844? This was 

the question of the hour. It was generally be­

lieved that while Clay did not seek a nomina­

tion, he was willing to lead the forces that sus­

tained Whig principles, if those with whom he 

acted politically expressed cordially their de­

sire that he should run again. Just then a move­

ment was inaugurated to bring Gen. Taylor 

forward as the candidate against the Demo­

cratic Party. Taylor had become renowned as 

the victor at Buena Vista, and was so plain 

and simple in his manners and in his inter­

course with others as to have become known 

as "Old Rough and Ready." He seemed to have 

become, in popular estimation, the real hero of 
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that battle and of the war, notwithstanding the 

of Winfield Scott and his sol­

diers from Vera Cruz to the City of Mexico, 

and 
Infantry un­

der McKee and and of the Mississippi In-

commanded by Col. Jefferson 

afterwards the Confederate President" 
and of the Battery of commanded by 

afterwards, the Gen­
the Confederate forces, 15 At 

Battery 

more grape, l:jragg." These words went 

the almy, and were often heard, 

when "Old and was talked of 

for a Presidential nomination. "There's the 

man," the friends of would say, who 

would the Democrats all the they 

needed. 

Harlan's father was a Whig delegate from his district 
to the National Anti-Democratic Convention when it 
met in Philadelphia. On the second or third ballot, to 
the surprise of the country, all of the Whig delegates 
from Kentucky except Harlan's father abandoned Clay 
and voted for the nomination of war hero Zachary Tay­
lor (pictured). To withhold unanimity, Harlan stuck by 
his friend Clay until Taylor was nominated. He then 
backed Taylor in opposition to the Democrats, 

The contest between the 

friends of Clay and Taylor ended, the 

National Anti-Democratic Convention met in 
Philadelphia. My father was a Whig "'PI,~ .... .,rp 

to that Convention from the (Ky.) Ashland 

District. On the second or third ballot, to 

the surprise of the country, all of the Whig 

Delegates from Kentucky, one, aban­

doned Clay, and voted for the nomination of 

Taylor. That exception was my father. He stuck 

to Clay until Taylor was nominated, and then 

refused to make that nomination unanimous. 

Clay was (to put it mildly) disgusted with what 

had occurred. He avowed that he had not been 

a candidate for the nomination, and that all 

he expected or required was that the Conven­

tion should nominate a real Whig who would 

avow his purpose to maintain Whig principles. 

Taylor, he said, had refused to avow any such 

purpose, and was willing to take the nomina­

tion from any party that would nominate him 

and would express its determination to main­

tain the integrity of the country Clay said he 

was under no obligation, as a Whig, to accept 

such a candidate, and would feel himself at 
when the ejection came off, to vote as 

his conscience directed, Whether he voted for 

but it 

voted for as the nominee of 
"n"MP;l to the Democrats. Mr. Clay 

among those above re­

in my tin box in 
It will interest to learn that upon the 

return father from the Philadelphia Con­

vention, he was received the Whigs of the 

Ashland District in the most flattering way. 
insisted that he should receive some sub­

stantial evidence of their and their 

for the he had shown to their 

father said that he did not 

desire any such to be done, and that he 

was not entitled to any thanks for doing 

what he deemed his or for out 

the wishes of those who had sent him as a Del­

egate to the Convention. But the 
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Whigs of the Ashland District did not view the 
matter in that way, and without the 
of my raised among themselves 
funds sufficient to buy and present to him a 
silver pitcher upon which was the 
admiration and affection which the Ashland 
Whigs had for him. I was present when that 
pitcher was brought to my father a com­
mittee of He hesitated to it but 

concluded that it was his to do 
it. After his in 1863, that pitcher was 
in my possession or, rather, in the possession 
of my mother. But whereabouts have not 
been known for forty years and more. What 
ultimately became of it no one can certainly 
say. 

After Mr. death (which occurred 
in I a beautiful cane, which years before 
had been presented to Mr. Clay some New 
Orleans was sent to my James 
B. Clay with the statement that his father had 

him to deliver this cane to my father 
with his compliments, and as some evidence of 
Mr. love and confidence. We have that 
cane, and it is a pleasant thought that it was 
once used the Great Commoner. 

rhave written more than was intended by 
me about matters that preceded the Civil War. 
But what has been said will serve to inform you 
of the exact situation as it existed in I86()""'1 , 
when the country was in imminent danger, as 
was then of an armed conflict with 
those who subsequently a govern­
ment under the name of the Confederate States. 

Lincoln's for the Presidency in 
t860 aroused bitter hostility among the peo­
ple of the particularly in 
the States south of what was known as the 
Border States. public men in that part 
of the and some further 
licly declared that Lincoln's 
office of President would be 

by force. But the slIpporters of Lincoln, 

indeed, substantially all thc people in the non­


stood their ground and 

of the people to have 


their own when lila 

mode. as Mr. Lincoln him­
self that there was no purpose whatever 
to harm the "South," or to do anything that 
was not authorized by the law of the land. 
But the rebel leaders would not accept these 
disavowals and proceeded to the public 
mind in slIch a condition of that the 
application of force to prevent Lincoln's act-

as President would not be disapproved. 
When the election of Lincoln was 

vote, the work of secession was be­
gun. State after State "seceded," and those who 
were on that side the Southern Con­
federate Government and forbade the exercise 
within its limits of any authority not in har­
mony with the secession scheme. The country 

trembled at the of war be­
tween the Unionists and Disunionists. Good 
men tried to keep the peace and forbore to say 
anything that would serve as an excuse to resist 
the of the Union. At the actual 
crisis came, when the ofthe United 
floating over a Fort of the United States in the 
harbor of was fired upon, without 

of the Union defied. 
The purpose of the extreme men of the South 
was to provoke a war that would ultimately 
dismpt the Union. Hence the firing upon our 

Then the in the 
States and the Union men in the Border States 
felt that any more efforts in the peace 
and the bloodshed was useless. 
felt that the time had come when further for­
bearance was out of the question. rose, 
as one man, and determined that the 

of the Union should be main­
tained over every foot of American cost 
what it would in men and money. Thc troops 

. offered to the Government for the support of 
the Union cause were vastly in excess of the 
number that could be accepted at the outset. 
My as might have been expected, pub­
licly declared at the outset that he adhered to 
the Union, and favored the punishment of ev­
ery man who resisted its lawful No 
amount of persuasion could carry him into the 
ranks although he was surrounded 
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in Kentucky with men who sympathized with 

secession, and opposed the application offorce 

to maintain the Union. The then Governor of 

Kentuckyl6 was an open, avowed sympathizer 

with the cause of the "South" and disapproved 

the raising or use of troops to suppress the 

rebellion . But the "Southern Sympathizers" 

were, in fact, a minority in Kentucky. The ma- . 

jority of its people held always the same gen­

eral views that my father expressed. I agreed 

with my father thoroughly, and although I did 

not vote for Lincoln, my position was well 

known. I was an elector for the Bell and Ev­

erett party,1 7 which stood on the platform of 

"The Union, the Constitution, and the Enforce­

ment of the Laws." I was regarded by the rebel 

leaders as a "traitor to the Union," because of 

my opposition to secession, and because I had 

announced that the Government was under a 

solemn duty to save the Union, if need be, by 

armed force. Kentucky was at that time in a 

peculiarly embarrassing position. Her business 

interests were immediately with the South, and 

her people were widely connected with the 

people ofthe South by the ties ofkinship . Many 

families were divided on the Union question, 

and the idea that a man should go into battle 

with near kin in the ranks of the other side, to 

be shot at, was not an agreeable thought. Many 

persons, for these reasons, hesitated as to what 

to do, and the number who thus felt and acted 

were so large that the country came to speak 

of Kentucky as "neutral" between its Govern­

ment and those who sought to destroy it. This 

was the situation in the spring of 1861 . Some 

of us thought that positive action should be 

taken at Louisville, by those who were Union 

men. A private meeting was brought about at 

which James Speed, 18 myself, and others were 

present. We concluded that the people needed 

to be educated as to the value of the Union, in it­

self, as well as to the danger which would come 

to Kentucky, a Border State, from armed con­

flicts between great armies occupying its terri­

tory. We raised a little money and with it hired a 

few bands ofmusic. During the months ofMay, 

June and July, 1861, there was hardly an after­

noon I did not, while standing on a store box, on 

the pavement, address a public audience in the 

line just suggested. The crowds were brought 

together by the music of the bands that we had 

employed. During that period an armed vol­

unteer company was formed by Union men in 

Louisville mainly for our self-protection. We 

intended to let the violent men of the Confed­

erate side know that we were not to be imposed 

upon or intimidated . The Company was named 

the Crittenden Union Zouaves and became a 

part of the home Guard of Louisville. I have 

before me my original commission, issued in 

1861, as Captain of the Zouaves. It is signed 

by Major Delph, 19 and the blanks for my name 

and the name of my company are filled in by 

the late John W. Barr,2o afterwards the able 

U.S. District Judge at Louisville. I recognize 

his handwriting. He was an earnest, devoted 

friend of the Union, as was Major Delph. Here 

it may be stated, in vindication of the Union 

sentiment of Kentucky, that [at] a special 

"I earnestly desired to go into the army and do my 
part in saving the Union," wrote Harlan to his son, 
"but I had a young wife and two small children (Edith 
and yourselfl, and at times felt that I ought not, on 
any account, to leave my family and join the army. 
But 'Mamma' [his wife, Malvina, pictured] came to 
my rescue and urged me 'to go to the front,' saying 
that she would care for our little ones." 
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election held in July, 1861, for Representative 

in the Congress, the Union men carried every 

Congressional district of Kentucky. It is only 
fair, however, to state that the Kentucky Union­

ists, as a general rule, did not approve of all the 

methods suggested by the Union men of the 
Northern States for the prosecution of the war, 

paliicularly those relating to the institution of 

slavery. But they made their fight in 1861 dis­

tinctly upon the basis of the preservation of the 

Union "at all hazards," without regard to the 

cost in men or money. And they won on that 

issue. 
The time now came in my own life when 

I must determine finally whether I should join 

the Volunteer Union forces and become some­

thing more than a speaker for the Union cause 

in public halls or on the stump. The question 

was soon decided by me. I earnestly desired 

to go into the army and do my part in sav­

ing the Union, but I had a young wife and 

two small children (Edith and yourself), and 
at times felt that I ought not, on any account, 

to leave my family and join the army. But 

"Mamma" [wife Malvina] came to my rescue 

and urged me "to go to the front," saying that 

she would care for our little ones. This relieved 

my anxiety somewhat, and I issued an address 

or proclamation, stating my purpose to raise 

and command a regiment of infantry, and invit­

ing young men of the State to join me. A copy 
of the Proclamation issued by me was pub­

lished in the Louisville Journal, then edited by 
the celebrated George D. Prentice.2) It was as 

follows: 

To the People of Kentucky: 

I have been authorized to raise a 
regiment of infantry to be mustered 

into the service of the United States, 

and to form a part of the force un­
der the command of General Robert 
Anderson.22 Companies will be re­

ceived from any part of the State. 

Each company wi II be composed 

of not less than eighty-four nor more 

than one hundred and one men, rank 

and file, and will elect their own 

officers. 
The cost of transportation to the 

place of rendezvous (which will be 
hereafter designated) as well as the 

cost of subsisting the troops previous 

to their being mustered into the ser­
vice, will be paid by the Government. 

Lieutenant-Colonel, Major, and other 

regimental officers will be selected in 
due time. The regiment will be sup­

plied with good arms. 
No written authority is necessary 

to raise companies. Let individuals 
organize them as rapidly as possi­

ble and report to me the names of 

the officers selected by the respective 

companies. Address me at Louisville, 

Kentucky. 

And now I appeal to my fellow­

Kentuckians to come forward and 
enroll themselves for service. Their 

invaded State appeals to them . 

Their foully-wronged and deeply­

imperiled country appeals to them. 
The cause of human liberty and 

Republican institutions everywhere 

appeals to them. All that is most glo­

rious in human government is now 

at stake, and every true man should 
come to the rescue . 

The time, fellow-citizens , has 

come, and even the unpatriotic and 

the selfish should hasten to take up 
arms for the common defense of their 

State and country. Every considera­

tion of enlightened self-interest calls 
us to the field. Ifour enemies triumph, 

all our trades, all our professions, all 

our avocations of whatever character, 

all our possessions of every descrip­
tion, become value-less. To save our­

selves and our families from ruin, not 

less than to save our State and our 

country from degradation and shame, 

we must rally now where the National 

flag invites us. Come, then, let us gird 

http:Anderson.22


258 JOURNAL OF 

up the whole strength of our bodies 
and souls for the conflict, and may 
the God of Battles guide home ev­
ery blow we strike. For one, I am un­
willing to see the of my native 
State overrun and conquered by men 

to be citizens of a 
government. I cannot be indifferent 
to the issue which an unnatural en­
emy has forced upon Kentuckians. 

John M. Harlan. 

Well, the was raised, and was 
mustered into the service of the State in Oc­
tober 186 I. the month 
(November 2 pi I I), three 
was born, my was mustered into 
the service of the United States at Lebanon, 
Kentucky, as the I Volunteer In­
fantry. I had been elected its Colonel shortly 
before, although I was then but 28 years of 
age. The regiment became a of the origi­
nal Division ofGen, H. Thomas,23 for 
whom rhad great 
to be as the 
War on the Union side. The of his Di­
vision spoke of him, when not as "Old 

Thomas," loved him; for they 
knew that he would never put them in a hard 
place, if it could be avoided, or fail to have 
them as well cared for in every way as it was 
possible to be done. 

In the latter part of 1861 (I think it was 
on the last day of December 1861) Thomas' 
division took up its line of march for Mills 

on the Cumberland where the 
rebels had an anDY and and were 
watching for a good opportunity to reach cen­
tral Kentucky, which was the most beautiful 
and richest part of our State. Their comman­

when they entered from East 
was Gen. Felix K. 7 ~II;~~"~~ 24 

Tennessee statesman, but he 
superseded 

B. Crittenden 25 

"'rittpnripn 26entreaties of his father, John J 
and all of the male members of his he 

COURT H 


10thAt age twenty-eight, Harlan joined the Ken­
tucky Volunteer Infantry under the direction of Gen­
eral George H. Thomas (pictured). Called "Old Pap 
Thomas," he was dearly loved by his men, "for they 
knew that he would never put them in a hard place, if 
it could be avoided, or fail to have them as well cared 
for in every way as it was possible to be done. 

took sides with the Rebellion, when 
the Civil War commenced he was an officer of 
our He was commissioned by 
the Confederate Government a Major General 
in the Confederate service. He was the 
officer and for that reason, took 
command of the rebel troops at Mills 
The route of Thomas' Division was 

County, and 
Columbia, Adair County, thence through Pu­
laski County towards Mills Springs, where the 
rebels then were. The Brigade to which my 
regiment was attached constituted the rear 
of Thomas' Division. Thomas a part of 
his command), in the afternoon or of 

the battle of Mills 
Springs, had reached a point a few miles from 
the place where the battle took place. The I 

Ohio Infantry (of which 
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of Ohio was Colonel) and my regiment were 

ordered to go into camp just where we were 

(ten miles in the rear of Gen. Thomas' Head­

quarters) and to go early the next morning 

squarely off to the right, and capture a rebel 

forage train which Thomas learned would be 

there. We performed that duty; that is, we went 

far to the right, through the woods in order to 

take the rebel forage train which was expected 

to be found there. With our commands we lay 

concealed in the woods for the entire day. But 

no rebel forage train was to be seen or heard 

of, and we returned to our camp, on the main 

county road, which we had left in the morning 

of the same day. The morning after we got back 

to that camp, the 141h Ohio and 10lh Kentucky 

were about to move forward and join the rest 

ofThomas' Division that were ten miles ahead 

of us towards the rebel camp at Mills Springs, 

a cavalry-man from Thomas' advance came 

dashing in with an order from Thomas to hurry 

forward to meet the rebel force then advancing 

on our troops from the Mills Springs fortifi­

cations. The order was obeyed, but Steedman 

and myself did not reach the battlefield with 

our regiments until after the rebels had been 

defeated and were retreating to their fortifica­

tions on the Cumberland River. We joined the 

other troops ofThomas in pursuit ofthe retreat­

ing rebels. We marched over the late battle­

field, and passed the dead body of Zollicoffer 

who had been killed, during the battle, by Col. 

Speed S. Fry, Colonel of the 41h Kentucky Vol­

unteer Infantry. There was at one time a dispute 

as to who shot Zollicoffer, but ultimately Fry 's 

statement that he had done so was adopted be­

yond question 2 8 

When Thomas' troops reached the rebel 

fortifications on Cumberland River, it was get­

ting dark, and was too late in the day to at­

tempt to make an assault upon the rebel forces 

concealed behind their fortifications , and su­

perior in point of numbers to our troops . But 

it was determined to move upon the rebels the 

next morning at dayl ight. To that end, Thomas' 

troops were put into line, within a few hundred 

yards of the fortifications. As the regiments of 

Steedman and myself were sore and grievously 

disappointed at not being in the battle near 

Mills Springs, by reason of their being sent off 

to one side to execute what turned out to be a 

fruitless order, I asked Gen. Thomas to put my 

regiment and Steedman 's in the front line of the 

force that was, the next morning, to attack the 

rebels behind the fortifications. The request 

was acceded to and the 141h Ohio and I Olh Ken­

tucky were put in the front line. When daylight 

came, we were in line for action and marched 

forward, towards the enemy's works, expect­

ing every moment to be welcomed by rebel 

musketry from behind the fortifications . But 

when we got to the fortifications we found that 

the rebel forces had, during the night, quietly 

crossed the Cumberland River and were be­

yond the possibility ofbeing reached . This was 

agreat disappointment to the Union troops. But 

there was no help for it. 

I have spoken of the battle at Mills 

Springs. In fact, the battle was on Logan's 

Field, a few miles from the actual Mills 

Springs, on the Cumberland River. But every 

one knows what battle is referred to when we 

speak of the battle of Mills Springs. Up to the 

time it was fought, the Union army had been 

uniformly defeated. We were all greatly dis­

couraged by the rebel victory at the First Bull 

Run. Mills Springs was the first decisive vic­

tory of the war and made Thomas the hero 

of the hour. After Mills Springs, Thomas' Di­

vision was ordered to join Buell's29 Army at 

Nashville, Tennessee. We marched from Cum­

berland River Louisville and from that place 

went by boat to Nashville, and camped there 

for some weeks. Before we got to Nashville 

our army, under Grant, had won great victo­

. ries at Fort Henry and Fort Donelson, and had 

gone with his troops by boat, up the Tennessee 

and into camp at Pittsburg Landing, Tennessee, 

which was less than 50 miles, I think, from 

Corinth, Mississippi, at which place it was be­

lieved the rebel army was to be, or was be­

ing, concentrated, under Gen. Albert Sydney 

10hnston,30 who was said at the time to be re­

garded by 1efferson Davis as the coming man 
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The day after the Battle of Shiloh (depicted herel Harlan ran into General Tecumseh Sherman, who remembered 
him from when he led the Kentucky army. Sherman took Harlan and introduced him to General Ulysses Grant, 
who was savoring 11 victory over the rebels. 

on the Confederate side. Grant did not remain 
at Pittsburg and was determined 

that the Tennessee River should not separate 
his from the enemy. he took his 

by boat up to what was then and is now 
known as Shiloh in Mississippi, and 
there went into camp, only about thirty miles 
from the rebel forces. when his mind 
was made up, was a "dare devil." Of course, 
he knew that the entire rebel army could be 

by rail, in a few at Corinth, 
and that only a short distance from that 

and with a deep river in his rear, he was 
in imminent danger of overwhelmed by 
a force superior in number to his IiUle 
army. But he risked the danger that was before 
him. 

While Grant was in this posi-
Thomas' were in camp 

road between Nashville and 
Tennessee. It was that 

of which our Division formed 
a would ultimately be ioined to 

and that this would occur before any battle 
should take place with the Confederate troops 
stationed and day at Corinth. 
It was said at the time that Buell's was 

in its movements by reason of the de­
struction of the bridge which Duck 
River at Columbia. A new one was built 
at Columbia by a regiment of Vol­

and it was believed that as soon as 
it was Buell's Army would cross 
Duck River and go forward 
Grant. While the work on the new bridge was 
being this story was heard on all 
sides, that Gen. William of 
Kentucky, a Division of Buell's 
Army, rode horseback to the place where the 
Michigan were working; that he was 
curious to know how deep the water was 
and that after across on his horse without 

he came to the conclusion that it was 
a waste ofvaluable time to remain in camp until 
the men through with their work. 
He immediatelv rode to Buell '5 
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and proposed that he should be allowed to cross 
Duck River the morning at daylight, and join 

Grant with all possible speed . Buell consented 

to Nelson 's making the trial. Whether this story 
was, in all respects accurate, I do not know nor 
had T, at the time, any way to ascertain the exact 

truth. This much I do know- Nelson and his 

men were at the river at daylight, put bayonets 
on their guns, stripped themselves of clothing, 

put their clothing on the bayonets, and waded 

Duck River. No lives were lost. As soon as 

Nelson could re-form his Division and get it in 

marching order, his men "struck out" towards 
Grant's camp, wherever it was . The distance, 

if I remember correctly, was 80 to 100 miles. 
While Nelson was en route with his soldiers to 

join Grant, the Confederates, under the imme­
diate command of Beauregard,32 with John­

ston in superior command, attacked Grant at 
Shiloh, and there was a furious battle most of 

the day between the two armies. Grant's troops 

had been driven back to the River and were 
seemingly defeated. But in the afternoon of 

the same day Nelson appeared with his Divi­
sion on the opposite side of the river, and, with 

the aid of a few gun boats, crossed with his 

men to Grant's camp. Nelson's Division was 

followed from Duck River by the Division of 

Major-General Thomas J. Wood33 ofKentucky 

and the Division of Major-General Thomas L. 
Crittenden,34 also ofKentucky. These latter Di­

visions also crossed the River andjoined Grant. 

The Divisions ofNelson and Wood engaged in 
the battle in the afternoon, and, on the next day, 

Crittenden's men got into the fight. The result 
was the defeat of the rebel forces . They retired 

to Corinth, and thence to different points . 

When the battle of Shiloh opened, 

Thomas ' Division was many miles away, but 
after Nelson, Wood, and Crittenden were on 

the march to join Grant, Thomas was ordered 

to go forward with his men. He did so with 
all possible speed, but it rained more or less 

all the time and the men were compelled, time 
and again, to wade creeks. We reached Pitts­

burg Landing late in the second day of battle, 

after the battle had ended, and were transported 

by boat up the river to Shiloh Landing, where 
Grant's Headquarters then were. We arrived 

there about 9 o ' clock and were immediately 

ordered to leave the boat and go into camp, as 
the boat was to go back to Pittsburgh Landing 

for other troops. We thought at the time that 
it was a cruel order, as Thomas ' troops had 

no wagons or tents with them and had nothing 

for their protection against bad weather, except 

the ordinary army blanket. But the order had 

to be obeyed, and the men were ordered to go 

This sketch was made by an artist with Major General Don Carlos Buell's command. It depicts Union troops 
advancing on the Louisville and Nashville turnpike being overtaken by a train carrying equipment for the 
troops. Harlan's division joined Buell's command at the turnpike. 
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out on the hillside, and make such provision 

for their comfort as they could. Upon the dis­

missal of my men for the night, some of them 

went to the Government Supply quarters, and 

cut open for their use many bales of hay. They 

brought the hay to their camp and spread it out 

over the ground so as to protect their bodies 

from dampness. In a few moments they were. 

all asleep. But a rain came up about two 0 'clock 

in the morning and soon their earth-and-hay 

beds were so drenched with rain that they were 

compelled to get up. There they were, on a dark 

night, in a drizzling rain, and apparently chilled 

from head to foot. I determined that the situa­

tion should be changed, whatever might be the 

consequences to me. Right before my eyes was 

a large steamboat, brilliantly lighted, with no 

one occupying it except a few officers and sub­

ordinates. It did not have even a private soldier, 

except a few to guard it. I called my regiment 

into a line and marched down to the boat, but 

my men were stopped at the plankway lead­

ing to the boat. I said, "Who dares to stop my 

men or to interfere with my orders?" The guard 

replied that the boat be longed to Headquarters, 

and they were ordered to prevent its being used 

by others. I said to him that I only desired that 

my men should go on the lower deck of the 

boat and around its boilers so as to dry their 

clothes. The guard was obdurate, and rightly 

so because he was only obeying his orders. 

But I had much concern for my soldiers, and 

called up one of my best captains, and told him 

to bring his company with him. I ordered him 

to move ahead to the boat, and said that if any 

one attempted to prevent him from going on the 

boat with men of the regiment, " to pitch them 

into the river." The order was given to Capt. 

Frank Hill of Washington County, Kentucky. 

He replied, "All right, Colonel." He started 

on the boat gang-way with the men, but was 

stopped by the guard. Hill made his squad fix 

bayonets, and said to the guard, "Now, young 

men, I am going on that boat, and if you put 

yourself across my path, you will go into the 

river." Turning to the soldiers, he gave the order 

"Forward." The guard stood to one side, and 

the men of my regiment went onto the boat, 

and in a little time they were all asleep with 

their clothes on , ly ing on the deck of the ves­

sel around the boilers . When daylight came, 

and all those constituting Headquarters, were 

asleep, I had the men quietly aroused, and we 

went to the Shore. After reaching the Shore, I 

begun to turn over in my mind what had taken 

place, and learned that the boat was the Head­

quarters ofGen. Grant and that he was actually 

in his room. All at once it occurred to me that 

I was in great peril, and that as I had the night 

before willfully broken a guard, I was subject, 

perhaps, to be shot. But luckily the soldiers 

on guard did not report us to Gen . Grant. At 

least, I have always thought that Grant knew 

nothing of our lawless conduct in forcing our 

way onto the boat in violation of his orders. 

But if he was informed of the facts, he had the 

courage to recognize the extraordinary circum­

stances of the case and to overlook our lawless 

acts . 

On the next day after our arrival at Shiloh, I 

walked out to see the battlefield over which the 

contending armies of Grant and Johnston , re­

spectively, on the day previously, had engaged 

in a battle which was momentous in its conse­

quences. 

During this walk I happened to meet Gen . 

Sherman35 who had been in command of 

the Department of Kentucky for a time. He 

remembered me and invited me to accompany 

him to see Gen. Grant. I gladly accepted the 

invitation , and we found the latter in his of­

fice on the boat at the River Landing. He was 

then under a cloud because of the belief that 

he failed to accomplish some things in the Bat­

tle of Shiloh which it was supposed he might 

have done and which would have enabled us 

to capture the great body of the rebel soldiers 

engaged in that battle. But great injustice was 

done Grant in this matter. Subsequent events 

in his life showed great capacity as a mili­

tary commander. He overcame the opposition 

of his enemies and it was not long before he 

was recognized as the greatest of all the Union 

officers. 
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The utter defeat of the rebel armyat Shiloh 

meant a great deal for our Government. The re­

sult encouraged the Union men everywhere, 

and strengthened the conviction that, in the 

end, the rebellion would prove disastrous to 

those who organized it, and would put our Gov­

ernment upon a firmer basis. In this connec­

tion, I recall a conversation after the war with 

Gen. Wm. Preston of Kentucky. 36 He was of 

kin to Gen. Johnston and served upon the staff 

of that able officer in the battle of Shiloh. He, 

Preston , told me that it was Johnston's pur­

pose, if the rebels had won the victory at Shiloh 

which they expected to win, to cross the Ohio 

River at Cairo and march his army through to 

Illinois to Chicago. I ventured to say to Gen. 

Preston, that if Johnston had got as far North 

as Springfield, Illinois, it would have been ut­

terly destroyed, and the last rebel soldier under 

his command would have been captured. Few, 

if any, of them would have gotten back to the 

South. 

After the battle the Union army, at Shiloh, 

was re-enforced by large accessions from the 

Army which had operated on the Missis­

sippi River under the command of MajoT­

General John Pope. 37 Later on, Major-General 

Halleck38 came to Shiloh under orders, and 

took command of all the Union troops there. 

The army under his command was a mag­

nificent one. It was said at the time to num­

ber nearly one hundred thousand tried soldiers 

who had been in battle and were thoroughly 

"seasoned." Why Halleck did not move upon 

Corinth, which was just ahead of his troops, 

no one knew. Corinth was near enough to Hal­

leck 's army to enable us to hear the "rebel 

yell" in and around that place as if the rebels 

were receiving re-enforcements ; whereas, in 

point of fact, the rebels were steadily sending 

their troops away from Corinth, and intended to 

evacuate that place before any serious advance 

was made by the Union troops. Their pur­

pose was carried out successfully; for, when 

our Army finally moved upon Corinth , it met 

with no opposition whatever. Every rebel sol­

dier was gone, and whatever provisions were 

in Corinth were taken away by them, and we 

captured a place completely empty of rebel sol­

diers . Not even a barrel of crackers was found 

for the use of our soldiers . 

After the dispersion of the rebel soldiers 

at and about Corinth, the Union Army was sep­

arated into numerous detachments for the pur­

pose of occupying different places on the line 

north of the Cotton States. My regiment was 

stationed at Eastport, Mississippi. We were 

there when a rebel army went through East­

ern Tennessee towards Kentucky. Buell was 

ordered to concentrate his army for the pur­

pose of preventing the entrance into Kentucky 

of the rebel army under Bragg. He fixed upon 

Deckard, Tennessee, as a point where his scat­

tered troops could best get together. I was or­

dered to march my regiment to Deckard and 

report for further orders. This took me through 

hostile country, and ifattacked, I could not have 

expected aid from other Union troops. What 

made my position peculiarly embarrassing was 

trat sickness had reduced the number of active 

soldiers in my regiment by several hundred. 

At least seventy-five men were sick or were so 

weak from sickness that they could not carry a 

gun. But we set out from Eastport for Decard. 

Our route was through Shelbyville , Tennessee. 

When we got within a few miles of that place 

we saw, much to our regret and horror, two 

negroes, wearing the Union uniform, hung up 

by the roadside, dead. This caused me to be 

very uneasy for the fate of my sick men who 

were trudging along the road and endeavoring 

to keep up with their regiment. I feared that 

they would be killed by rebel guerillas and de­

termined to use every exertion for their safety. 

We reached Shelbyville about II o'clock, and 

. as I was passing through the town I discovered 

about 30 or 40 well-dressed men in citizens' 

clothes, sitting quietly under the shade trees. 

It occurred to me, all at once, that here was a 

chance to protect my sick soldiers from rebel 

guerillas. I halted my regiment in the main 

street and sent one of my captains, with a squad 

of soldiers to where the crowd was, with or­

ders to arrest about a half dozen of them and 

http:Kentucky.36
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bring them to me. My orders were to select 

well-dressed, young men who to be 

influential and well to do. This was done and 

the arrested citizens were put into line with 
my men. Some of them wore pumps and white 

socks and seemed to be contented with their 
lot and the situation. I then rode up, alone, to 

the crowd of citizens and said to them in sub- . 

stance: "It is proper to inform you as to what 

all this means. As we came this morn­

ing we saw near here two negroes, hung up at 

the roadside and dead. had on the uni­

form of the Union Army and were no 

doubt, for that reason. were, of course, 
murdered by rebel guerillas, who were prowl-

about in that You know who 

are, or could find out all about them. Now, I 

warn you that for every soldier absent from my 

camp this two of these arrested citi­

zens will be shot by my orders." Of course, I 

did not intend that this order should be 

executed literally. 

But I suppose the rebel citizens deemed 
me to be in dead earnest. I then rode and 

moved ahead with my the ar­

rested citizens with me and having them walk 

with my men in the dust. radopted this plan at 
every town which I on my way 

to Deckard. I heard no more of rebel 

after 

army 

on their march to 

prevented from occupying that 
Arn1y was concentrated and sent into 

by the way of Nashville. It moved the 

line of the Louisville and Nashville Railroad. 

Buell. '5 object, as it seemed at the was to 
reach Louisville with the body of his 

before got there. In this he succeeded. 

While our army was en route for 

Louisville there occurred an incident which 
was well calculated to disturb anyone who de­

sired the success of the Union Some­

where on the line, South of and not very far 

from our army was halted for 

some reason, and thus an opportunity was 

for officers to confer with each other as 

to the possibility of an encounter by the Union 
army with forces. Some of the officers 

thought it was a great mistake not to hunt for 

and attack for, it was well known that he 

was not far to the and was steadily mov­
ing in the direction of Louisville and Centra! 

,,,-cmu,,,,) A few others predicted that Buell 

would not attack Bragg until after he had re­

ceived the fe-enforcements then gath­

ered at Louisville. Others intimated, and, in-

some said that Buell was untrue to his 

country and to his army, and would ultimately 

so manage his forces that would escape 
from the State and go back into Tennessee. I 

no opinion on the being a 

young only a little over 28 years of 

age. But I did say to Col. Sill39 of Ohio, an­

other young colonel, that it was 

think that we at any into 

under a some of whose subordi­

nate officers distrusted his fidelity; that if they 

believed Buell to be untrue or unsafe as a 
they should take active measures 

to have him put out of command. Buell's army 

finally reached Louisville, where he received 

such fe-enforcements as would enable him to 
go into any battle with to one 

hundred thousand men. When Buell reached 

Louisville, Bragg was in Central Kentucky. 

While we were at that city, Gen. Wm. 

Major-General one of our corps 
and CoL Jefferson C. Davis40 of Indiana had a 

which resulted in Davis shooting and 

killing Nelson at the Galt House. I never knew 

what were the facts which led to that 

know that Davis was not indicted or tried 

by the civil authorities. Whether the case was 

looked into the I do 

not know. Strenuous efforts were made by Gov. 

Morton41 of Indiana for his protection. Nelson, 
I always was ofa very imperious na­

ture, very and intolerant to those he dis­

liked. But he had fine ability and gave 

of great distinction as an officer. I remember to 
have heard Gen. Thomas L Crittenden say that 

Nelson was misunderstood by those he came 

I 
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into contact and that no man was more lovely 

or more considerate of those whom he liked 
than Nelson. Whatever were the facts, all felt 

that in his death the country and the army had 

sustained a great loss. 
I may say that while our army was at 

Louisville, Mama came from her parents' 

home in Evansville, Indiana , to see me, bring­

ing with her our baby James. If I remember 

correctly she and James stayed in camp with 

me while I was at Louisville. 
Finally, Buell's army was organized for 

the purpose of hunting up Bragg in Central 
Kentucky and giving him "fight." It was di­

vided into three corps, Crittenden command­

ing the right corps, McCook42 the left corps, 

and Gilbert43 the centre or middle corps. 
The latter was at the time only a Captain in 

the Regular Army, but Buell-without full 

authority it was supposed, and without the 

express sanction of the President or of the 

"I heard no firing from the direction of the battlefield, 
and if I did not hear it, Buell could not have done 
so," insists Harlan, Who was not more than a hundred 
yards apart from Buell's army at any time during the 
battle of Perrysville. Buell (pictured) failed to bring 
his reinforcements to the battle. 

Secretary of War- issued to Gilbert a com­

mission as Major-General and put him in 
charge of the middle corps, which no doubt 

would have been commanded by Nelson if he 

had not been killed. After this organization, 
our army moved towards Central Kentucky. 

McCook went with his corps through Tay­
lorsville, Spencer County, Kentucky; Gilbert, 

with his corps, took the direct road leading 

towards Danville, Kentucky, and Crittenden 

took the extreme right. Thomas, who had been 

appointed by Buell second in command of 
the whole army, went with Crittenden. The 
three corps got together south of Perryville, 

Kentucky, about ten miles from Danville, on 
a line running substantially through the farm 

or plantation of several acres which was once 

owned by my grandfather, James Harlan, and 

near by the house erected by him as a residence. 

Gilbert 's force was immediately on the right of 

McCook's. Such was the situation on a partic­
ular afternoon, and it was Buell's purpose to 
drive his entire force against Bragg the next 
morning. But, in some way or other- I could 

never learn the facts-a battle arose in the af­
ternoon between the rebel army and McCook's 

troops. This was the battle of Perryville . It was 

said at the time that Gilbert was aware of the 

fight going on, but, for lack of orders, he did 

not put his men into it. If Nelson had lived, 
and been in command of the middle corps, he 

would not have waited for orders, but would 
have regarded the actual fight going on be­

tween McCook and Bragg as a sufficient order 
that he should "go in" and assist in defeating 

the enemy. It was a terrific battle and left both 

sides practically exhausted for the time. In the 

battle of Perryville was an Indiana regiment 
. under the command of Mama's oldest brother, 

James Shanklin. He was struck on the head 

with a spent ba ll, and was completely disabled 
for a time. He was thought at the time to have 

been killed . 
I now come to speak of a matter which 

at the time was much commented upon. I al­

lude to the fact that Gen. Buell was not far 

from the battle field of Perryville during the 
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into contact and that no man was more lovely 
or more considerate of those whom he liked 
than Nelson. Whatever were the facts, all felt 
that in his death the country and the army had 
sustained a loss. 

I may say that while our army was at 
Mama came from her parents' 

home in Evansville, Indiana, to see me, 
with her our baby James. If I remember 

correctly she and James stayed in camp with 
me while I was at Louisville, 

Finally, Buell's army was for 
the purpose of hunting up in Central 
Kentucky and him " It was di­
vided into three corps, Crittenden command­
ing the right corps, McCook42 the left corps, 

and the centre or middle corps, 
The latter was at the time only a Captain in 
the Army, but Buell~-without full 
authority it was supposed, and without the 
express sanction of the President or of the 

"I heard no firing from the direction of the battlefield, 
and if I did not hear it, Buell could not have done 
so," insists Harlan, who was not more than a hundred 
yards apart from Buell's army at any time during the 
battle of Perrysville. Buell (pictured) failed to bring 
his reinforcements to the battle. 

of War-issued to Gilbert a com­
mission as Major-General and put him in 
charge of the middle corps, which no doubt 
would have been commanded by Nelson if he 
had not been killed. After this 
our army moved towards Central Kentucky. 
McCook went with his corps through 

with his corps, took the direct road leading 

towards Danville, Kentucky, and Crittenden 
took the extreme right. who had been 
appointed Buell second in command of 
the whole army, went with Crittenden. The 
three corps south of Perryville, 

about ten miles from on 
a line running substantially through the farm 
or plantation of several acres which was once 
owned by my James Harlan, and 
near by the house erected by him as a residence, 
Gilbert's force was immediately on the of 
McCook's. Such was the situation on a 
ular and it was Buell's purpose to 
drive his entire force the next 
morning. But, in some way or other-I could 
never learn the facts-a battle arose in the af­
ternoon between the rebel army and MeCook's 
troops. This was the battle of Perryville. It was 
said at the time that Gilbert was aware of the 
fight on, for lack of he did 

not put his men into it. If Nelson had 
and been in command of the middle corps, he 
would not have waited for orders, but would 
have the actual on be­
tween McCook and as a sufficient order 
that he should in" and assist in 
the enemy. It was a terrific battle and left both 
sides practically exhausted for the time. In the 
battle of Perryville was an Indiana regiment 
under the command of Mama's oldest brother, 
James Shanklin. He was struck on the head 
with a spent ball, and was completely disabled 
for a time. He was at the time to have 
been killed. 

I now come to speak of a matter which 
at the time was much commented upon, I al­
lude to the fact that Gen. Buell was not far 
from the battle field of Perryville during the 
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whole engagement, and still he did not know 

that any battle was going on until after it was 

all over. Had he known of it the result might 

have been different. It was not strange that he 

did not know of the battle. He anticipated that 

a meeting might possibly occur that day. But 

he had given orders to the effect that the di­

rect attack on the enemy should not be made. 

until the next morning, when all would cer­

tainly be ready. His headquarters during the 

afternoon were behind the centre ofhis army­

about five miles in the rear. This was, perhaps, 

too far to the rear. Why did not Buell know 

of the fighting at Perryville while it was go­

ing on? Why did he not order troops to be 

sent to McCook's aid? I am able to say with 

perfect confidence that he did not know of 

the fighting at Perryville until the battle was 

ended, and that he was not to be blamed for his 

want of knowledge on the subject, looking at 

all the circumstances. The battle took place in 

a small valley, and at the time of the fighting 

the wind was blowing heavily from the locality 

of Buell's Headquarters, towards the battle of 

Perryville. This accounts for Buell's not being 

able to hear the sound of musketry or cannon. 

If he had known what was going on, it can­

not be supposed that he would have failed to 

rush to McCook's assistance. I speak of these 

things without any doubt as to the correctness 

of what I say, because I was within one hun­

dred yards of Buell's Headqu31ters during the 

whole time of the battle. At that time I was 

in command of a Brigade, and being about to 

march with my men for the purpose ofjoining 

the main body of our corps, Buell sent me an 

order to stay where I was until further orders, 

but holding my command ready for action, if 

any occasion therefore should arise. Later in 

the afternoon a soldier came from the direc­

tion of McCook's corps and gave notice that 

a great battle had been fought in the early af­

ternoon of that day several miles distant. This 

was the first intimation that I had of any battle 

having been fought. I heard no firing from the 

direction of the battlefield, and if! did not hear 

it, Buell could not have done so. If! had heard 

any firing Buell should have also heard it, for 

we were not more than a hundred yards apart at 

any time during the battle. Buell was ofopinion 

and so said in his report, that McCook ought 

not to have risked a battle with only his corps, 

and he should not have taken it for granted that 

he could whip the rebels without the aid of his 

commander. McCook always said that he had 

no alternative but to fight or to make a retreat 

as would have endangered the safety of Buell 's 

army. What the facts were, beyond those above 

stated, I do not know. But it is certain from all 

that was said at the time that on the night af­

ter the battle, a conference between Buell and 

his chief subordinate officers, including Gen. 

Thomas, was held at Buell's Headquarters and 

the conclusion was reached, that our army had 

been injured too severely to attack the rebel 

force the next morning- that it was best to 

await an attack by the rebel army, if it was so 

minded. But when the next morning came, no 

rebels were to be found in our front. They had 

retired and were making for the mountains in 

the direction of East Tennessee. We went in 

pursuit, but it soon became evident that they 

were too far ahead to be caught. Our army 

then returned and went into camp, our Divi­

sion making their camp on the rolling Fork of 

Salt River about 10 miles from Lebanon, Ken­

tucky. The next day after we went into camp, 

message came that a meeting of the field of­

ficers of our corps, Gilbert's, would be held 

at the I ittle schoolhouse up the creek, and that 

my presence there was desired. The object of 

the meeting was not' stated, but in view of the 

ugly feeling that Bragg had been permitted to 

escape with all his troops, I suspected that the 

proposed meeting had some mischievous or 

dangerous purpose in contemplation. But I de­

sired to know what was going on, feeling that 

whatever was said or done at the meeting, I 

knew my duty and could take care of myself. 

So I went at the appointed time, and then found 

about twenty officers there-what for I had not 

then ascertained. Gen. Speed S. Fry, whom I 
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had known from my earliest boyhood, and in 
whom I had every was called to 
the chair. Soon the 

Gilbert, our corps commander. He was pro­

nounced as incompetent for his position and it 
was said that his removal was vital to the army. 

It was that a on the 

should be sent directly and at once to Presi­

dent Lincoln. Finally, a Lieutenant-Colonel or 

ofan Illinois Regiment -whose name, I 

was McClellan or and 
said with I 
rise to say that, in my opinion, we are a pack of 
cowards." "What do you mean?" said Col. 

He "] mean that we have spent all this 

evening about Gen. when our 

real objection is to Buell as our commander. 

In my Buell is a traitor, is untrue to 
the army and untrue to the country. When he 

that, although not 

I could not pass 

in silence what the Illinois officer had 
without my own views. So I said, 

in substance: "Mr. Chairman, I do not concur 

in what has been said about Gen. Buell. He 

no doubt has made and may have 

some views that I do not share. But I do not 

believe that he is untrue to the army or that 

he purposely or treacherously allowed Bragg's 

army to escape. Nor will I sign any 

to the President which would question Buell's 
integrity or his fidelity to his troops. "What 

sort of a " broke in the Illinois olTi­

cer, "will you Put down on paper what 

you are willing to say." I sat down 

at the table, and wrote a telegram such as I 

would consent to be sent to the President. It 
ran about in this wise: "Gen. Buell lost 

the confidence of the Army of the Ohio, we 
think that the public interests would be sub-
served a of commanders." "That, 

the Illinois officer "is satisfactory." We 
all (including Gen. Steedman and Gen. Fry) 

signed it much to my the tele­
gram was committed to me to be sent to Wash­

The next day I started for Lebanon, 

where a office was located, intending 

to send the proposed On my way, 

it occurred to me that the telegram would go 
Buell '8 and that all of 

those who had it would get into trouble. 

But I made up my mind to do what my brother 

officers and which I had 

for us, upon my arrival at 
the Louisville papers of that day announced 

that by order of the President, Buell had been 

Gen. in command 

of the army of the Ohio and Buell temporar­
t1pt~r,,!pt1 of authority. I took the 

of withholding the telegram, the 

nal of which is no doubt somewhere among 

my papers. It could not have been destroyed 
by me. 

Later on, I was put in of the 

Union troops stationed at Castalian Springs, 
In which was about ten miles from 

Hartsville, in that State. At the latter 
we also had some troops, but were un­

der the command of an officer who, it was 

had no nor any idea of dis-
He allowed his men "to prowl around 

the country" and upon the 

of private citizens. He did not seem to know 

the of having Ollt constantly 

in different directions, so as to inform him 

of the advance of the enemy. The result was, 

have been of 
our the enemy. Early in the morn­

ing John H. Morgan45 burst out of the woods 

and attacked the Union when the lat­

ter were quietly breakfast. After a short 

contest he the whole of our troops, 

about 2,100 in and took them across 

the Cumberland River. As soon as I could hear 
. from my camp at Castalian the fir-

of musketry and cannon in the direction 

of Hartsville started and I rushed to the aid of 

our troops at Hartsville. The march made by 
my troops to Hartsville was in 

its swiftness. But when we reached the battle­

field at Hartsville we saw the dead and 

wounded lying around while Morgan's men 

were a long way off going up the hill on the 
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opposite side of the river, each rebel horseman 

having on his horse behind him a Union soldier 

as a prisoner. The rebels were too far ahead to 

be reached by the light cannon we had for use. 

When we got to Hartsville, I observed a two­

horse wagon crossing the river. As it was evi­

dently under Morgan's control and was being 

taken to his camp, I ordered the wagon party . 

to be fired upon , and the order was promptly 

obeyed. Along with the wagon was a rebel 

soldier recently ascertained to be Horace H. 
Lurton of Morgan's command, and now a col­

league of mine in the Supreme Court of the 

United States.46 

After Hartsville, my command was on 

duty at Lavergne, Tennessee, and while they 

were there, with no enemy near, I made a 

visit to my parents at Frankfort, Kentucky, and 

found my father ill from a congestive chill 

which came upon him the previous summer 

or fall and hung to him, more or less violently, 

during the entire winter. But it did not appear 

that he was in actual danger, and I returned to 

my troops in Tennessee. But I was mistaken as 

to the severity of my father's illness. He suc­

cumbed to the chill with which hewas afflicted, 

and died February 23rd 1863. This was, on ev­

ery account, an unspeakable calamity to the 

family, even if looked at only from the stand­

point ofbusiness. At the time he died my father 

had the largest practice of any lawyer in Ken­

tucky and the support of my mother and the 

family depended upon the right handling of the 

business left by him . My three oldest brothers 

were dead and my only remaining brother had 

become incompetent for business. I was con­

nected with my father in business and alone 

knew of what was necessary to be done in or­

der to preserve from loss or waste what he had 

fairly earned by hard work in his profession. 

So, in every just sense, I was compelled to 

return to civil life. This was the view of all 

of my brother officers, including Gen. Rose­

crans and his Chief of Staff, Gen. James A. 

Garfield.47 My letter of resignation, addressed 

to Brig. Gen. Garfield, Chief of Staff, was as 

follows: 

Lavergne, Tenn., 

March 2, 1863. 

Brig. Gen!. Garfield, 

Chief of Staff Army 

of the Cumberland, 

Murfreesboro, Tenn. 

General: 

I hereby tender my resignation as 

colonel of the IOlh Kentucky Volun­

teer Infantry. 

I am not indebted to the Govern­

ment of the United States, nor have I 

any Government property in my pos­

session. I have not been absent any 

time without leave nor are there any 

charges against me which can affect 

my pay. I have been paid to January 

1,1863. 

It is due to my Superior 

officers- to those with whom Iorig­

inally entered the service, and to the 

cause in which we have alike la­

bored for nearly sixteen months that 

I should state explicitly the reasons 

which have induced me to take this 

step. 

The recent sudden death of my 

father has devolved upon me duties of 

a private nature which the exigencies 

of the public service do not require 

that I shall neglect. Those duties re­

late to his unsettled business which 

demands my immediate personal at­

tention. 

I deeply regret that I am com­

pelled, at this time, to return to civil 

life. It was my fixed purpose to re­

main in the Federal army until it 

had effectualJy suppressed the exist­

ing armed rebellion, and restored the 

authority of the National Government 

over every part of the Union. No or­

dinary considerations would have in­

duced me to depart from this purpose. 

Even the private interests to which 

http:Garfield.47
http:States.46
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I have alluded would be regarded as 

nothing, in my estimation, ifI felt that 

my continuance in or retirement from 

the service would, to any material ex­
tent, affect the struggle 

which the country is now 

lam 
retire from the army, I the Com­

manding General to feel assured that 

it is from no want ofconfidence either 

in the or ultimate of 

the Union cause. That cause will al­

ways have the warmest sympathies of 
my heart, for there are no conditions 

upon which I will consent to a dis­

solution of the Union. Nor are there 

any concessions, consistent with a re­

publican form of government, which 

I am not prepared to make in order to 

maintain and perpetuate that Union." 

I have the honor to be, 


Very 


Yr.Obt. 


Col. 2d Brig. 

3d Div. 

I Army 48 

Before my was put into the 

hands of Gen. Rosencrans, and without its be-
generally or publicly known that I intended 

to return to civil President Lincoln sent my 

name to the senate for Brigadier General. As 
soon as rbecame aware of this fact, I wrote to 

Senator Crittenden informing him that I had 

and my nom­

ination as General to be withdrawn. 

He complied with my wishes, hence, there 
was no confirmation. 

This closed my career in the Union 
But immediately upon my return to 

the suggestion was made that I should be nom­

inated for General at the Union Con­

then soon to assemble to make nom­

inations for State officers to be selected at 

the approaching State in August. The 

was not disapproved by me, princi­

pally because if elected I would be required 

to remove to the capital of the State where 
my father lived at the time of his death, and 

where I was compelled to be in order to wind 

up his business and estate. I was elected Attor­

ney General by more than 50,000 and 
went to Frankfort. It may be here stated that I 
was little over thirty years when elected. 

I performed the duties of the office of Attor­
ney General for the full term of four years, 

and then went back to Louisville, in Novem­

1867. After ten years of at that 

city, I was offered and the position of 
an Associate Justice of the Supreme Court of 

the United tendered 

How long I will remain in that It IS Im­

for me now to say. I can retire upon full 
pay, but the subject has never been taken up by 

me for final consideration. There are some cir­

that I should 

remain where I am, so 
nprt"rTn the duties ofmy office. There are other 

reasons why I would like to retire after more 

than thirty-three years of public service. But I 
pass this 49 

Some as a Captain 
of the Home Guards 

As stated in another paper, I was the Cap­
tain of the Crittenden Union Zouaves-an 

independent, volunteer company or-

at Louisville, in the sum­

mer of 1861, to aid the Union cause in that 

State. The rebels had similar military orga­

nizations at Louisville. For some time after 

Sumter was fired on, was 
'Cally "neutral" in the then contest, that 

the State had not then raised any 

for the Union army, nor declared its pur­
pose to adhere to the Union. On the contrary, 

the rebel Governor of Kentucky expressly re­

fused to favorably to the call of Pres i­

dent Lincoln for troops. Lincoln forbore for a 

time to send Union troops into the State, be­

cause he wished to avoid even the appearing of 
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coercing or the State to declare for the 

Union. But the situation changed in August 

1861. Rebel came into Southwestern 

under General Leonard [sic] 

and also under I and occupied Bowl-

Green. Union from 

the Western States-were sent by the Govern­

ment into Kentucky in large numbers. Gen. 

Robert Anderson was in the command of the 

and Gen. W. T. under 

orders of the War Department, reported to An­

derson for duty. 

1 met Sherman when he arrived at 

Louisville, and the made him 

on everybody was excellent. He was full 

of life and and seemed anx­

ious to meet the enemy. As soon as he 

arrived, he conceived the of 

towards Bowling at which 

rebel army under Gen. S. B. Buckner 

and, it was intended 

soon to advance upon Louisville. Sherman 

fixed his first camp at Lebanon Junction on 

the Louisville and Nashville Railroad, about 

60 miles from Louisville. That road extended 

from through Green to 

Nashville and further South. Several compa­

nies of Home Guards were ordered to report to 

Sherman at the] unction, my company, the Crit­

tenden Union Zouaves, being among the num­

ber. That company was detailed Sherman to 

guard 11is which were established 

at the Lebanon Junction HoteL It in the 

of that I slept on the floor in the 

same room at the Hotel with Sherman. He re­

mained with such as he had at Lebanon 

Junction for a week or ten days. He was not 

at all informed as to the physical geography, 

or or the sentiments of the people in 

particular localities of the State. He found that 

I was, the result being that he had me up all 

hours of the night in order that he might ob­

tain information from me about 

etc. He was a student of alllhe county 

maps that he could his hands on. His energy 

was and he seemed to sleep but 

little. 

Finally, he determined to move his troops 

to Hill about 15 miles further 

south, towards Bowling and establish 

himself in a position for any 

advance of Buckner's rebel troops towards 

Louisville. No or Home Guards re­

mained at Lebanon Junction except my com­

pany, and that was left in command of 

Gen. Richard W Johnson. 

As soon as Sherman established his camp 

on Muldraugh's Hill, he sent an order back to 

General Johnson for 5000 rounds of ammuni­

tion. Johnson directed me to execute the order. 

As the railroad near over the Rol 

Fork of Salt on the road to Muldraugh's 

had been destroyed by rebels, and as 

Roll Fork was broad and too for 

wading at that point, it seemed at first 

for me to the ammunition across 

the Fork and up Muldraugh's Hill to Sherman. 

But a plan to do so was finally hit upon. I sent 

all around the county, to farm houses, in order 

to obtain a wagon with a strong body over and 

across which we could place an raiJ­

road hand car, then at the and into 

which hand car, we could put the ammuni­

tion. At we found such a wagon about 

2 o'clock in the at a distant farm­

house and made the owner hitch up his team 

of four horses and 

Junction Hotel. The all uniting to lift 

the hand car, it across the wagon 

and into the car was put the ammunition. We 

then drove the wagon to the river and 

went over the Fork, (I without saddle one 

the team) and 

placed the car on the railroad track on the other 

side. It was pushed through the Tunnel 

(I think a mile long) hand to the of the 

Hill and I delivered the 5000 rounds ofammu­

!lition to Sherman. We returned the same day 

to our camp, at the Junction 11ill, as we 

the tunnel, on the return 

came out of it on his way 

to join his new wife, then at St. Louis or within 

the rebel lines. I knew and Duke at 

the time. and knew his wife. 54 I knew her, when 
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a while I attended law school at Transylva-
nniPn:"v She was a sister ofGen. John H. 

Morgan, the noted rebel cavalry leader. Some 
ofmy men, that Duke was on his way 

to join the rebel army, insisted that I should stop 

the hand car and arrest him. But I declined to 

do so and he went on South, and 

cavalry. It was 

war, that conceived most of the 

which made a famous raider 
and commander. But this view of did 

him injustice; for he had considerable ability 

and had all the elements ofa leader in whatever 
he undertook. 1 knew him quite well. 55 

As part of my as a of 

Home I state an incident occurring 

my association with General Sherman 

at the Lebanon Junction Hotel. He 

in smoking as I did. He seemed to have a 
cigar in his mouth half the unlighted. 

He would say, "Harlan, Jet me have the light 

of your is out." "Certainly Gen­

era!" would be my He would then take my 
his own from it, and then throw mine 

away. It never occurred to him that he threw my 

cigar away, but went on talking. No man ever 

lived who had a kinder heart than Sherman 

I became very fond of and he 

a strong affection for me. He 

was a most remarkable man-had more 

for war than any soldier of his While he 

the of Simon 

came to Louisville. asked 
how many were needed Sherman told 

him that it behooved the at the 

earliest possible moment, to open the Missis­
sippi River to its and that 250,000 or 

300,000, ifnot more, would be required 

for that purpose. it was at the 

thought Sherman to be unbalanced in 
his mind and wild in his calculations. Subse­

quent events proved that Sherman's estimate of 

troops needed was very moderate. The fact is 

that he the difficulties in the way 

of the rebellion more distinctly 

than anyone else around him or at 

"No man ever lived who had a kinder heart than Sher­
man (pictured) possessed," wrote Harlan. "I became 
very fond of him, and he always expressed a strong af· 
fection for me. He was a most remarkable man-had 
more genius for war than any soldier of his day." 

ton. Shortly after Cameron was at Louisville, 
Sherman was ordered to report for duty at St. 

and it was that Cameron did this 

in the belief that Sherman was "off' in his mind 

and not a safe commander. Sherman's subse­

quent career proved that Cameron was "off" in 

his calculations and unfit for his place. To 

rid of he was sent as a Minister abroad. 

When I was appointed an Associate Jus­
tice of the Sherman was sta­

tioned at Washington. Soon after my arrival at 

that city, I called to see him, and received at his 

hands a most cordial greeting. He also 

of me to others as one of his " observ­

that the country was safe when 

his 

Raid by Morgan's Men on Frankfort, 

Kentucky, in the Fall of 1864 


In March I as 
Colonel of the loth Volunteer 1n­

and returned to civil life. Shortly after 

to Louisville-which was my home 
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at the of the Civil War-the Union 

men ofKentucky held a convention in that city 

to make nominations for Governor and other 

State officers. Although not thirty years of 

age, I was nominated for General of 

the State-a my father had held for, 

two terms of four years each. r was 

elected by more than 50,000 This 

me to live at Frankfort, the 

tal of the and I resumed my residence 

there in the fall of 1863. 

In the fall of 1864,57 word was sent to me 

that rebel guerillas were 

and loyal 

man should at once go to the "Fort" and resist 

any attack made upon the city. The " as 

it was consisted of a few lines of earth 

breastworks thrown up on the hill in the rear of 

the capitol building and overlooking the city, 

which was in a valley on the Kentucky River 

and surrounded by hills. On one of those 

on the opposite side ofthe river from the "Fort" 

(the river runs through the city), was the sum­

mer residence which my father had occupied. It 
was still in the and at the time I am now 

by my mother. 

wife was not well, I 

been in the army-to set 

a good to the people, and therefore 

promptly complied with the request of Gov. 

Bramlette and went to the "Fort" on the hill, 

carrying with me a rifle. As I went up 

the hill, I came across the pastor of the 

terian Church, ofwhich I was a member-Rev. 

John S. He was full and carried 

his gun, ready to do such execution with it as 

fall to his lot. He and I went into the 

fort together, and found there one or two small 

cannon in charge of Capt. Sam Goins' Home 

Guards Artillery Companv, a uniformed Vol­

unteer company. Goins knew very little of mil­

itary matters and was an uneducated man. But 

he had courage and was to fight all who 

stood in his way. 
at the fort, I "h~pr\lpri 

away, a small 

of men guns. were taken to be 

rebel soldiers, and it turned out that they were. 

We fired at them, and returned the fire and 

then retired. They to the little 

squad of Home Guards in the fort. But that did 

not occur. Looking over the and across to 

the house in which my mother was we 

could see a large number of horsemen in the 

yard and around the house. Immediately upon 

their seen by Goins, he turned his can­

non to fire upon them. r to observe 

that his little cannon was pointed directly at the 

house in which my mother was staying. Goins 

did not know that she was there. This induced 

me to take charge of the cannon, and I saw to 

it that it was not so aimed as to hit my mother's 

house. Whether any cannon balls reached the 

where the mounted were, or 

not, I never ascertained. But after a little time 

they went offand were no more seen. The men 

pany, commanded 

Confederate 

affair was a mere incident in the war; but it is 

a few unor­

/SUlUL.\.-'" men in Frankfort the rebels 

from the and a good deal 

of mischief. 

Two circumstances in connection with this 

little affair may be alluded to. 

I. 	It occurred shortly before, say within 
days prior to, John's birth.6o 

2. In Goins' company was a man by the 

name ofThomas as a "whom I 

now recall with distinctness. Goins and 

Glore were brothers-in-law. The former was a 

bold, Union man, while Glore, who 

was a stone-mason by trade, was known to ev­

at least to me, as a rebel 

Nevertheless Glore remained in Goins' com­

pany, which had been, in be­

fore the war commenced. While the of 

small anns between the men in the fort and the 

rebel soldiers coming up from the rear was go­

ing on, some of the rebel balls came very near 

those who were inside of the fort. I re­

call the fact that one ball passed near my head, 

and I observed that while the 

http:birth.6o
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cannon was very uneasy. Goins took up the no­
tion that Glore was not fair" and that 
he really wished the rebels to drive us, indud­

the company, out ofthe fort. In my presence 
Goins said to Glore: "You d-d stand 
up there and ram that gun right, or I'll shoot 
you." Glore trembled with fear and said (he 
stuttered badly): w-w-when you see 
my t-Hell her to take c-c-care of my 

crowbars, a-and t-Hell her I'll m-m-meet her 
in heav-heaven." 

After Morgan's men went 
about young men and boys and went off 
in pursuit of the rebels, but we did not come 
up with them. it was well that we did 
not, for were better armed than we were, 

61and outnumbered US.

ENDNOTES 

I Richard Davenport Harlan (1859-1931) was Harlan's 


oldest son. 


2James Harlan (1800- J863) was considered onc ofthc top 


lawyers of Kentucky. He was so enamored of the law that 


he insisted that all four of his sons be trained as lawyers. 


He was an ardent admirer and supporter of Henry Clay, a 


stance that served him well politically. He served as a U.S. 


Congressman for two terms and was later named a U.S. 


District Attorney by President Abraham Lincoln. 


J Known as "The Great Compromiser," Henry Clay (1777­

1852) was the first nationally prominent politician to come 


from Kentucky. He was so be loved by Kentuckians that 


they elected him as their Senator and Congressman nu­


merous urnes. He also served as Secretary of State under 


John Quincy Adams, which was the closest he got to being 


President. 


4The speech was glven on November 13, 1847. For the full 


text of the speech, see The Papers of Henry Clay, v. 10, 


Melba Porter Hay, ed. (The University Press of Kentucky, 


Lexington, KY, 1991), pp. 361-77. 


sThe letter was written on February 8,1851. See Hay, 


Papers, v. 10. p. 853. The position ended up going to 


William Easby. 


6Joshua F. Speed (l814-J882) was civic leader of 


Louisville and one of Lincoln's closest friends. 


7The speech was given on November 15, 1850. See Hay, 


Papers, lQ, p. 828. 


8James G. Birney (1792-1857) was a noted Kentucky abo­


litionist. He ran for President as a candidate of the Liberty 


party in 1840 and 1844. His two sons were generals in the 


Union Army during the Civil War. 


9Like so many people Harlan mentions here, Taylor( 1784­

1850) was a Kentuckian of divided loyalties. He was a 


slaveholder who opposed extending slaveries to newly ac­


quired territories. He was also at one time jefferson Davis'8 


father-in-law. 


10 Humphrey Marshall (1812-1872) was a lawyer, for­


mer Congressman, and veteran of the Mexican War. He 


advocated neutrality for Kentucky at the beginning of 


the Civil War but ended up serving in the Confederate 


Army. 


II Thomas E Marshall (180 I~ 1864) was a Kentucky 


lawyer, state legislator, and nephew of Chief Justice John 


Marshall. His one year in the Mexican War was his only 


military service. 


12Cassius:\1. Clay (1810-1903) was a noted abolitionist, 


Kentucky state representative, and cousin to Henry Clay. 


He was a vocal critic of the Mexican War at the outset 


but still volunteered to serve. Harlan's memory is correct: 


Clay was the leader of an outfit called "The Old Infantry 


Calvary." 


IJColonel William R. McKee (1808-1847) was a Ken­


tucky lawyer and West Point graduate. He was the leader 


of the 2d Kentucky Infantry Regiment, which sustained 


heavy casualties in the Battle of Buena Vista. 


Clay, Jr. (1811-1847) was the third SOil of Henry 

Clay and had already made a name for himself as a lawyer 

and state representative. He was also a close friend of 

Jefferson Davis. 

15 As Harlan relates, Braxton Bragg (1817-1876) would 

later invade Kentucky as a general of the Confederate 

Army. 

16Beriah Magoffin (1815-1885) was the Democratic Gov­

emorofKentucky from 185910 1862. A sweeping majority 

of Unionists in the state legislature forced him 10 resign 

from office. 

17The Bell and Everett party was formally known as 

the Constitutional Union party. Made up of members of 

the Whig and Know-Nothing parties, it dissolved after the 

1860 election. John Bell was its presidential candidate, 

and Edward Everett was the vice presidential candidate. 

ISThe brother of Joshua Speed, James Speed (1812-1887) 

was a lawyer, slate representative, and abolitionist. Lincoln 

rewarded him for his efforts to keep Kentucky loyal to the 

Union by making him U.S. Attorney General in 1864 

19John Millbank Delph (1805-1891) was the pro-Union 

mayor of Louisville during 1861-! 862. 

20 John W. Barr (1826-1907) served in various Kentucky 

Tegiments during the Civil War and then served as judge on 

the U.S. District Court, Kentucky District, between 1880 

and 1899. 

21 George D. Prentice (1802-1870) was the first editor of 

the Louisville Journal, which was founded in 1830 as 

organ to promote Henry Clay's presidential candidacy. His 

witty writing made the Journal the most widely circulated 

newspaperwestoftheAppalachians. During tneCivil War, 

the Journal was staunchly pro-Union, despite the fact that 

Prentice's two sons joined the Confederate Army. In 1868, 

the Journal merged with the pro-Confederacy Louisville 
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Courier to become the Courter-Journal, which is still pub­


lished today. 


22Kentuckian Robert Anderson (1805-187 the com­


mander of Fort Sumter it was fired upon at the be­


ginning of the war. Poor health forced him to retire 


the army in 1861. 


H. Thomas (1816-1870) was a pro-Union 

Southerner who was a West Point graduate and instructor 

veteran of the Mexican He stayed in the Army 

until his death in San Francisco. 

24 Felix K. ZoHicoffer (1812-1862) a former Ten­

nessee Congressman and veteran of Seminole Wars. 

It has been posited historians that the Confederates 

lost the Battle of Mills Springs in part because Zollicoffcr 

disobeyed orders and camped his troops alongside of the 

Cumberland River. 

25George B. Crittenden (1812-1880) was a veteran of the 

Blackhawk and Mexican wars. After the batlle of Mills 

Springs, he was arrested for drunkenness and resigned 

from his commissioll. He later became State Librarian for 

Kentucky. 

26 At the time, John Crittenden (1787-1863) one of 

the most important politicians in Kentucky, having been a 

Congressman, Senator, U.S. Attorney General, and Gov­

ernor. 

27 James B. Steedman (J 817-1883) would eventually be 

made a major general and would be part of Sherman's 

march to the sea. 

S. Fry (1817-1892) was a Kentucky lawyer and 

judge. He was eventually promoted to brigadier general. 

According to some accounts, the near-sighted Zoll icoffer 

wandered into the Union camp and actually engaged Fry 

in conversation, believing him be a Confederate officer, 

before he was ,hot. Fry was brevetted to brigadier general 

after the Battle of Mills Springs. 

General Don Carlos Buell (1818-1898) was the 

head of the Army of the Ohio. He never saw more ac­

lion after the Battle of Perryville and eventually resigned. 

J(} Albert Johnston (1803-1862) a veteran of 

the Blackhawk and Mexican wars. Although he opposed 

secession, he volunteered his services to the Confederacy. 

His death was the tuming point of the battle of the Shiloh. 

31 William "Bull" Nelson (J 824-1862) was a veteran of the 

Mexican War and a graduate of the u.s. Naval Academy. 

Shortly before death. he had been given command of 

the Army of Kentucky. 

32 Pierre Gustave Toutant de Beauregard (1818-1893) 

one of the few full generals on the Confederate side and 

tile one that fired on Fort Sumter the beginning of the 

war. 

33TI1omas 1. Wood (1823-1906), a graduate of the West 

Point, would serve throughout Civil War despite 

ceiving leg-shatteri ng wound at one point. 

34Thol11a5 L Crittenden (1819-1893) the son of 

John 1. Crittenden and the brother of Confederate Gen­

eral George Crittenden. He was promoted steadily until 

Battle of Chickamauga. He resigned from the 

shortly thereafter. 

35William Tecumseh Sherman (1820-1891) was Grant's 

second-in-command during the Battle of Shiloh. 

36William Preston ( 18 I 887) was a law grad­

uate, Congressman, and ambassador to Spain. Besides be­

ing general. he also acted as Confederate ambassador 

Mexico. After the war, he returned to Kentucky and served 

as a state representative. 

37John Pope (1822-1892) was a West Point graduate and 

Mexican War veteran, He was blamed for the Union's 

feat at Second Battle at Bull Run and sat out the rest 

of the war. 

Halleck (18 872) was a lawyer, West Poin! 

graduate, and veteran of the Mexican War. Halleck 

Lincoln's military advisor before being replaced by 

Grant in J864. 

39 Joshua Woodrow Sill (1831-1862) West Point 

graduate and instructor. He was killed during the battle 

at Stones River, three months after Perryville. 

40 Jefferson C Davis (1828-1879) was a veteran the 

Mexican War. served in the Army all of his adult life, 

but his career never recovered from his murder of Nelson. 

Oliver Hazard Perry Throck Morton (1823-1877) was 

the Governor of Indiana from 1861 to 1867 and later a U.S. 

Senator. was [l power player in the Republican party, 

and be and Harlan would often cross paths-usually at 

cross-purposes--during the 1870s. 

42 Alexander McDowell McCook (1831-1903) a 

West Point graduate and instructor. He was brevetted to 

brigadier for his actions at Perryville. 

4JCharies Champion Gilbert (1822-1903) was a West 

Point graduate and instructor and Mexican War veteran. 

After Perryville, Gilbert was never officially a 

44William S. Rosecrans (1819-1898) would quickly earn 
similar criticism for not aggressively after the 

Confederates. 

45 John Hunt Morgan (1825-1864) initially supported neu­

trality for Kentucky but joined the Confederate Army when 

the state sided with the Union. Six days afterthe Hartsville 

rai<i he was promoted to Brigadier GeneraL Harlan had 

to say about Morgan in one of his other reminiscences' 

I may in this connection that I person­

ally knew Gen. Morgan prior to the Civil 

War. Indeed, I knew his mother, and 

brother "Cal" Morgan. He had considerable 

ability in certain directions. He could organize 

and Those qualities displayed 

by him in connection with politics at Lexing­

ton when John C. Breckinridge in 1851 

menced his political He was enthu­

supporter of Breckinridge. Before the 
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war he was somewhat noted as a man who 

would appear when you did not expect him, 

and in a way to surprise you, This feature of 

his "make-up" was illustrated by many things 

he did during the war, He moved with such 

secrecy and rapidity that it was difficult to 

guess when he could be found at any particular 

place, 

"The Battle of Hartsville," John Marshall Harlan Papers, 


Library of Congress, Manuscript Division, Washington, 


D.c' 

46Horace H. Lurton (1844-1914) enlisted in the Confed­


erate Army early in the war. He joined Morgan's raiders 


after escaping from a prisoner-of-war camp, While serv­


ing under Morgan, Lurton was captured and became a 


prisoner ofwar for a second time. After the war, Lurton be­


came a lawyer in Tennessee and eventually a Justice on the 


Supreme Court Lurton and Harlan became close friends 


Ltlrton pieced together their Civil War 

Garfield ( 1831-1881) left the Army him­

sel f later in 1863 to become a Congressman, which he 

remained until elected President in 1880, 

resignation letter had special significance for Har­

lan, He had this to say about it in another of his reminis­

cences: 

It may be here stated that upon my dissent­

ing from the opinion of the Supreme Court in 

what are known as the Civil Rights Cases, in 

which the Civil Rights Act, as it was called, 

was declared unconstitutional, some partisan 

newspapers in the Southern States charged that 

! had resigned my position as Colonel in the 

Union Army because of Lincoln's Proclama­

tion of Emancipation. It was sought by the 

charge to convey the idea that my defense 

of the legal rights of the colored people, as 

shown by my dissent in the Civil Rights case, 

was not sincere, To disprove that charge 

to show that I was for the maintenance of 

the Union, at all hazards and independently 

of any question of race, the above letter 

published 

"Civil War-I 864," John Marshall Harlan Papers, Library 

of Congress, Manuscript DiviSIon, Washington D.C. 

49Harlan died on October 14, 19J I, a little more than four 

months after this letter was written. 

50 Leonidas Polk ([806-1864) was a graduate of West 

Point, where he was Jefferson Davis's roommate, and an 

Episcopalian bishop, His capture of Columbus, Kentucky 

ended that state's neutrality, He by Union 


artillery while scouting enemy positions Georgia. 


51 Simon Bolivar Buckner ( 1823-1914) was a West Point 


graduate and instructor and Mexican War veteran, 


the war, he became the editor of the Louisville Journal and 


then Governor of Kentucky in 1887, 

52 Richard W Johnson (1827-1897) was a West Point grad­


uate who served in the Army from 1849-1867, He started 


the war as a captain and was maJor general by the end, 


After the war, he became a professor of military science 


in Missouri and Minnesota, 


53Basil W Duke (1838-1916) was a Kentucky Jawyerwho 


joined the Confederacy in Missouri. Despite having no 


military backgroun(~ Duke quickly rose through the ranks, 


eventually becoming a brigadier general. Afier the war, 


Duke settled in Louisville, where, ironically, he became a 


lawyer for the Louisville and Nashville Railroad, whose 


railway lines he had spent so much of the Civil War de­


stroying, 


54 Henrietta 'Tommie" Morgan Duke (184(H 909), 

55Both Harlan and his 


to make it to '-''"'''''6'''''' 

had been sent to Kentucky to try 10 a cavalry unit. 


A fier close encounter with Harlan, Duke up both 


objectives and drifted down to the Confederate lines where 


he joined Morgan's uni!' Duke had a successful career 


with the Confederate Army, both with Morgan and at the 


end of the war, It is interesting to speculate about how 


ditTerently the war would have gone if Harlan had arrested 


Duke when he had the chance, For Duke's version of this 


story, see Basil W. Duke, Reminiscences ofGeneral Basil 


W. Duke (Garden City, NY Doubleday, 1911.) 

56 In 1862, Cameron (1799-1889) was forced to resign as 

Secretary of War due to charges of corruption, 

57The skirmish at Frankfort actually took place on June 

10 and 11, 1864. For detailed account of this obscure 

raid, see Nicky Hughes, "Fort Boone and the Civil War 

Defense of Frankfort," 88 (2) The Register oj/he Kentucky 

Historical Society (Spring 1990): J48-{52, 

58Thomas Elliott Bramlette (1817-1875) was the pro­

Union and anti"abolitionist Governor of Kentucky be­

tween 1863 and 1867, During his tenure, he worked hard 

to Kentucky in the Union, Harlan does not mention 

It, but Bramlette behind the barricades with Harlan 

Confederate skirmish on Frankfort was aChlally 

by Captain John Cooper ofCompany L, Second Kentucky 

Cavalry. 

60John Maynard Harlan, the father of the second Justice 

John Marshall Harlan, was actually born on December 21, 

1863, over six months after the Frankfort raid, 

61 Morgan was chased out of Kentucky by superior Union 

forces on June 12, He was killed in action in Greeneville, 

Tennessee three months later on September 3. 



The Question of Diminution 
of Income for Justices and Judges 
of the Supreme Court and the 
Inferior Courts of the United States 

BARRY PRICE 

Selected from a small committee to compose a first draft of a declaration of lIlUl;;fjI;;IlU\;;IILI;; 

of the American colonies from Great Thomas Jefferson set pen to paper and 
would be a litany of offenses committed by the Crown against the people of the soon-to-be 
United States of America. Included in that 
with the colonial and its past 

The history of the present king of 
Great Britain is a history of Il;;fjl;;dlCU 

and usurpations, all 
direct object the establishment of an 
absolute Tyranny over these states. To 
prove this, let facts be submitted to a 
candid world .. He has made 
dependent on his will alone, for the 
tenure of their offices and the amount 
and payment of their salaries.] 

Eleven years wntmg under the 
pseudonym Publius in The Federalist number 
78, Alexander Hamilton addressed the ques­
tion of the relations of the three branches of 

under the recent Iv proposed and 

document was a passage dealing 
to the wishes III: 

then-debated Constitution. Said he ofthe 
ofthe judiciary within the proposed framework 
of the 

The Executive hot only dispenses the 
honors, but holds the sword of the 
community. The legislature not 
commands the purse, but 
the rules by which the duties and 

of every citizen are to be regu­
lated. The judiciary, on the contrary, 
has no influence over either the sword 
or the purse; no direction either of 
the or of the wealth of the 

and can take no active reso­
lution whatever. It may truly be said 
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to have neither FORCE nor 
but merely and must ul­

timately depend upon the aid of the 

executive arm even for the efficacy 
of its This view 

of the matter suggests several im­
portant consequences. It proves, in­

contestably, that the judiciary is be­

yond the weakest of the 

three departments of power; that it 

can never attack with success either 

of the other two; and that 

care is requisite to enable it to 

itselfagainst their attacks . .. Next to 
permanency in office, nothing can 

contribute more to the IIltze/J'enae,'lce 

the than a fixed provision 

.. . In the 

course nature, a power over 

a man s subsistence amounts to a 
power over his will,2 

Within the Constitution was to be found, 

in the best of the 

Framers: 'Thejudges, both ofthe 

inferior courts, shall hold their offices 
good ",o.",m1nr 

ceive for their 

shall not be diminished during their continu­
ance in office.,,3 the Fathers 

understood that for a 
dent from and coequal in import to the execu­

tive and the legislative those 

exercising powers of office could not be sub-
to the whims or irritations of those whose 

wrath might draw. Within the several as­

pects of absolute impartiality, considering the 

insular of judicial work, 
the principal actors of the day subscribed to 

the conviction that ajudge's should not 

be a possible for retribution. As Chief 
Justice John Marshall would comment in Mc­

'A"'W'.'X" v, Maryland, 'The power to tax is the 
power to 

Commenting some years afterward on the 

same the Chief Justice embroidered 

upon that sentiment: 

Does not every man feel that his own 

security and the security of 

his depends on that fairness? 
The judicial department comes home 

in its effects to every man's fireside: 

it passes on his property, his 

his life, his all. Is it not to the last 
important that he should be 

rendered perfectly and completely in­

dependent, with nothing to influence 

or control him but God and his con­
science? ... I have always L"'IUI,'''L 

my earliest till now, that 

Until 1862, the of 

compensation to reduction 

any means rested within the realm of the 

pothetical, as no diminution was threatened or 
attempted. Then a statute was which 

federal including the Presi­

dent and officers ofthe court, to a 

tax on income. to the "ACt\AIVU, 

cognizant ofthe historical context in which fi­

nancial control against a had been 

defended Chief Justice 

addressed the in a letter to 

of the Treasury Salmon P. Chase: 

The act in question, as you interpret 

it, diminishes the compensation ofev­
ery judge three percent, and can 

be diminished to that extent in the 

name ofa tax, it may in the same way 

be reduced from time to time at the 

ofthe L".>;:',)"",'UI 

The judiciary is one of the three 

great departments of the 

created and established by the Con­
stitution. Its duties and powers are 

set and are of a 

character that requires it to be per­

fectly independent of the other two 

and in order to it 

beyond the reach and above even the 



278 JOURNAL OF SUPREME COURT HISTORY 

of any such influence, the 
power to reduce their compensation 

withheldjiwn Congress, 
their powers of 

could not be 
than that used in the Constitution. it 
is moreover one of its most important 
and essential For the ar­
ticles which limit the powers of the 
~rY;ol~,;,,~ and executive branches of 

and those which pro­
the protection of 

and property, 

as unconstitutional and 
void.6 

The question of making a Justice's compensation sub­
ject to reduction through taxation was put before At­
torney General Ebenezer George Hoar (pictured) in 
1869, 

The issue was in limbo until I when 
the was put before Attorney Gen­
eral Ebenezer Hoar by Secretary of the Trea-

S. Boutwell. Boutwell with 

and all funds that had been 
thus collected were returned and the 
discontinued. Some years later, when the mat­
ter of the constitutionality of the Income Tax 
Actof 1894 appeared on the docket ofthe 
Court, that law was declared unacceptable, in 
part, said Justice Stephen J. Field, because no 

exclusion was made for the remuner­
ation Subsequent tax laws over the 
next years steered a wide course 

away from the question of taxing The 
acts of 19 1916, and 1917 excluded such ex­
actions on the salaries of the Chief Executive 
and the as welJ.1 

In the issue was raised yet 
By then the nation was, of course, under the 

laws of the nation as well as 
its and amended charter, the Constitu­

the Sixteenth Amendment al­
income tax to be applied, according to 

of the amendment, "from what­
ever source derived." Speaking for the high 
Court in the case of Evans v. Gore, Justice 
Willis Van Devanter recalled the words put 
forth in Knowlton Moore: 

The necessities which gave birth to 
the the controversies 

its formation, and the 
conflicts of which were set­
tled by its may properly be 
taken into view for the purpose of 
tracing to its source any particular 

provision of the Constitution. in or­
der to 
meaning.s 

He next followed with words of his own: "This 

opinion, 

he wrote: 

[F]or the common ren­
der him, in the words of John 
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"perfectly and completely 
with nothing to influ­

ence or control him but God and 
his conscience"-his 1'(\1mnpn'''' 

is protected from diminution in any 
whether by a tax or 

and is assured to him in its 
for his support9 

the defenses 
the exaction of levies of any kind 

against incomes was Justice Oliver 
Wendell Holmes, with Justice 
Louis D. Brandeis 

that an income tax on was 
constitutional so long as its exaction was made 

a judge as a citizen among other cit­
izens and not applied to 
Holmes wrote: 

In the first I think that the 
clause protecting the compensation 

has no reference to a case 
like this. The of salaries 
from diminution is intended to secure 
the independence ofthe judges, on the 

as it was by Hamilton in 
the Federalist (No.79) that "a power 
over a man's subsistence amounts to 
a power over his wilL" That is a very 

reason for attempts 
to deal with a 
but it seems to me no reason for ex­
onerating him from the ordinary du­
ties of a which he shares with 
all others. To a man to pay 
the taxes that all other men have to 

pay cannot possibly be made an in­
strument to attack his 
as a I see in the pur­
pose of this clause of the Constitu­
tion to indicate that the were 
to be a free from 

their share of the costs of 
the institutions upon which their well­
being if not their life ... A 
second and reason 

this tax appears to me valid is 

even if I am wrong as to the scope 
of the original document, the Six­
teenth Amendment justifies the tax, 
whatever would have been the law 
before it was applies. that amend­
ment is given power to "col­
lect taxes on income from whatever 
source derived."IO 

An sidelight to this matter ex­
ists in a letter on the Evans 
case, wherein Holmes wrote of the case and its 
effect on him personally: 

As a result of decision from which I 
dissented it turned out that I, in com­
mon with other U.S. judges, had 
considerably too an income tax. 
The U.S. now actually has refunded 
it and I celebrated the fact by 

a few prints out of an odd "hun­
dreds of dollars received ... So I am 
aesthete for the moment." That must 
be set down as the only social on 
the credit side of the Court in Evans 
v. GoreIl 

As we shall see, in time Evans v. Gore 
was overturned by subsequent decisions of the 

Court fn rendering the majority opinion, 
hr"",p,,,pr Justice Van Devanter addressed the 

difficult issue of the propriety of the 
Court the case at hand that day. "Be­
cause of the individual relation of the mem­
bers of this court to the question, thus broadly 

we cannot but that its solution 
falls to us." Recounting that the members of 
the court were each the tax vol­

untarily and regularly, 
diction of the case cannot be decl ined 
.or renounced ... [because] there was no other 

tribunal to which under the law he 
the could go. 

Writing in Judicial Process and Judicial 
Policymaking, G. Alan Tarr notes that "the re­
sponsibility to 'say what the law is' frequently 

the to determine the 
enactments and how ap­

ply in cases."l] Within that function 
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Justice Oliver Wendell Holmes, Jr. 
(left) and Justice Louis D. Brandeis 
(right) countered long-standing de­
fenses against the exaction of levies 
of any kind on judicial incomes by as­
serting that an income tax on judges 
was constitutional, so long as its ex­
action was made against a judge as a 
citizen among other citizens and not 
specifically applied to judges. 

of the Court is the responsibility to interpret 

the law that has come to its attention by both 

unanticipated challenges and intended action 

on the part of the legislature to define the 

scope and limits ofiegislation. Said Justice Van 

Devanter, 

it appears that, when this taxing provi­

sion was adopted, Congress regarded 

it as ofuncertain constitutionality and 

both contemplated and intended that 

the question should be settled by us 

in a case like this. 14 

In 1925, the Court ruled again, taking on 

the question of newly appointed judges and 

their relation to the taxation question, com­

ing as they were to their respective positions 

after imposition of the then-current income 

tax laws. In Miles v. Graham, the Court ruled 

that newer judges were protected as their more 

senior brethren were. At the conclusion of 

a much shorter opinion than that written for 

Evans, Justice McReynolds said, "The power 

of Congress definitely to fix the compensa­

tion to be received at stated intervals by judges 

thereafter appointed is clear. It is equally clear, 

we think, that there is no power to tax ajudge 
of a court of the United States on account of 
the salary prescribed for him by law." Justice 

Brandeis dissented, while Justice Holmes did 
not. I 5 

In 1939, the Court addressed the taxa­

tion of judges in light of congressional ef­

forts to bring judges in line with the com­

mon citizen and spoke of both Evans v. Gore 
and Miles v. Graham, overturning them both . 

Composed largely of new Justices making up 

a near-majority, the Court in 1939 was staffed 

by several recent Roosevelt appointees and 

was not hesitant to break new ground. Writ­

ing for a near-unanimous Court, with Jus­

tice McReynolds not present and only Justice 
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Butler dissenting, Justice Felix Frankfurter re­

cited precedent, recounted more recent 
latioo, then spoke with the authority that still 

today: 

[T]he immediately before 
us is whether Congress exceeded its 
constitutional power in providing that 
United States appointed after 

the Revenue Act of 1932 shall not 
from the incidences 

of taxation to which everyone else 
within the defined classes of income 

... To subject them to a 
to that 

judges are also and that their 
particular function in government 
does not generate from 

with their fellow citizens the 
material burden of the government 

whose Constitution and laws are 
with 16 

Thus was settled the issue of taxation of 
the of Justices and of the United 
States. While those Justices who had held their 
own salaries to be the reach of the tax 
collector could be, and were, subjected to crit­
icism for what might have appeared to have 

been self-serving justice, the record shows that 
the twentieth-century cases cited here were 

open to and were not de­
cided arbitrarily. As recounted above, the issue 
reached the Court through no initiative of the 

and a decision at that juncture of the 
Court's history was not to be denied. Although 
it may seem to it might be 

reasonable to assert that these "hands off the 
income" decisions were of but little benefit 
to any Justice financially and of much embar­
rassment to most of them personally Holmes 
and the two dissenters for the 
time between the two world wars, ultimately 

after when more progres­
sive souls came to the Bench and affirmed 
their earlier However, this matter 

serves well to showcase the function of the 
Court as the ultimate interpreter of what the 
law is, coupled as it is with the ar­
ticulated in the span of that Justices 
come to the Court armed with their own incli­
nations as to what direction the Court should 
follow and their own of where 
along the continuum the Court should finally 
place as larger evolves over time 

and changes to meet new challenges and new 
opportun i ties. 
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Rookie on the Bench: The Role 
of the Junior Justice 

Llftftl.J CUSHMAN 

When Samuel Alito took his seat on 31, 2006, G. finally moved 
up a rung in the longest as a junior Justice in modern Supreme Court 
history. served as the rookie Justice for eleven years and 181 just days 
short the record achieved Joseph Story in 1823. It was not until the appointment 
of Smith Thompson to Brockholst that the Marshall Court accommodated 
a new the cosy boarding-house living arrangement that had existed for 
twelve years Table 1). 

Courtwatchers speculated that Breyer had many other traits wi th 
been hoping Alito's confirmation Both were Harvard Law professors appointed 
hearings would draw out as long as possi­ to the same seat, the "scholar's seat" (so named 
ble so he could overtake Story's record. Yet because it was also held educators 
others thought he was frustrated at the Oliver Wendell Holmes. Jr., Ben-

rookie and could not wait to move jamin and Felix Frankfurter in suc­
up the ladder of seniority.! But dis­ cession). Far from any Breyer instead 
misses any notion that he felt "stuck" as the feels 
junior Justice for all those years. he of his predecessor. 
would have enjoyed breaking Story's record: "I 
missed 29 immortal as the 
answer to a trivia question! It's amusing, it's on 
not serious .. couldn't matter Jess."2 he ofthe constitutional convention and 
says, "the truth of the matter is it is not enor­ Court cases as he was 
mously in the life of a person on a '"great justice."] is happy to let Story 

the Court whether you are junior or next to ju­ round out his considerable ~{'{""rr'" 

nior ... I didn't think of myself particularly as the distinction of holding the title 
junior. " of longest-serving junior Justice. 
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TABLE I Longest-Serving Junior Justices 

Name Dates as Junior Justice' Time Served 

3,1812 to 1,1823 11 years, 6 months, 29 
II years, 5 months, 28 
6 years, 9 months, 25 
5 years, 9 months, 15 

4,228 
4,199 

Stephen 1. Field 
Samuel Blatchford 
John Paul Stevens 

3, 1994 to January 31,2006 
May 20, 186310 March 14, 1870 
April 3, 1882 to January 18, 1 
December 19,197510 25,1981 5 years, 9 months, 6 days 

in Line 
Most 0U,J,v.'lIIC are guided by 
the longstanding tradition of that is 
the organizing of the entire judiciary. 

the lowest in seniority, 
a unique role in all the rituals that make the 
Court work smoothly as an institution. 

Most visible to the in the Court­

room the Chief Justice occupies the center 
chair with the senior Associate Justice to the 
immediate right and the second most senior 
Associate to the immediate left. This alternat­
ing continues down the line of senior­
ity, with the junior Justice seated at far left. 
When asked if there were to 

left field," Justice Breyer reflected 

the left side to his new f..'V.>J"VH 

on the extreme right because "the lighting is 
... slightly more cheerful." More importantly, 
on both extremes at the Bench there is "an 
extra shelf to put your briefs on." an­

"'-"IJ'"'''' it "will be less comfortable" 
to move toward the center chair and lose this 
accoutrement.4 After oral argument, 
the Justices file out in order of seniority. On 
his first on the high Bench, junior Justice 
Samuel Alito committed a minor 
rookie faux pas by out ofthe Court­
room before Justice Ruth Bader Ginsburg, his 
more senior 5 

Another demonstration of senior­
ity is the official group Court The 

Justice appears at extreme 
she stands in the second row, while the more 
senior Justices are seated in the first row. At of­
ficial functions where the Court is represented 

the next Associate 
Supreme Coml of the 

took the judicia 1 
States. 

as a group, the Justices line up by For 
is last in line in pay­

."'<0,"""", at funerals (although at ChiefJus­
tice William H. Rehnquist's funeral Breyer and 

moved in lockstep as he 
her down the marble The 

last in line into the 
President's annual State of the Union address 

order 
but again, he downplays its 

mere ritual. "If you are 
State of the Union or some other 
of an official nature I will be at the end of the 
queue ...That's fine."? 

Inside the Supreme Court building, office 

space has 
cording to 
six Justices' Chambers lay inside the 

ornate and bronze doors 
that divide the public from the working are­
nas. The three most junior Justices had to con­
tent themselves with offices in the corridor 

outside. William 0. Douglas broke with 
this protocol when he insisted on the 
office assigned to him when he came on the 
Court in 1 allowing twelve "WJ"'-'lU\jl 

nior Justices to claim suites inside the gates. 
It was not until 1962 that decided to 
move into Felix Frankfurter's former Cham­
bers on the other side. The whole 

to accommodate all the Justices. 8 

Invisible to the public, in the oak-paneled 

room where the Justices' 
ferences take 



284 JOURNAL SUPREME COURT HISTORY 


Justice Breyer served as 
junior Justice for eleven 
years and 181 days, 
the longest stretch by 
far in modern history. 
Only Joseph Story served 
longer as junior-and 
only by 29 days. 

The Chief Justice sits at one end fore I wasn't blocked as much the carts with 
mahogany with the senior As- the and it's a less comfortable sit­

sociate at the other end. The three next most in the middle of the table. As junior there 

senior Justices sit on one side and the four most is plenty of room. The only difficulty I would 
on the other. ChiefJustice re­ say would be if you were 4, 7, or 8 ... because 

vealed that this arrangement translated into a there you are in the middle with the carts in 
hierarchy of elbow room, with three different back of you and two oeoole on either side."lo 
levels ranging from "excellent" (Chief Justice 

through 
Doorkeeping 

tices 6, 7, 8, The Justice's role is more than a ques­
with this assessment.: "I tion ofknowing where to stand or sit-a matter 
, , , because you were at the corner and there­ of olacement in space. There are also some 
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The Bench, seen from the perspective of the junior Justice. Breyer liked sitting on the far left because the 
lighting was better and there was an extra shelf for his briefs. 

specific duties required. To maintain secrecy 
and prevent no one the nine Jus­
tices may enter the Conference room when the 
Justices are convened. Accordingly, someone 
must be the link to the outside world. That 
responsibility falls to the Justice, who 
sits near the door and answers it if there is a 
knock or delivers outgoing messages to an at­
tendant stationed outside the door. Much has 
been made about the doorkeeping nu,,,,,,v,, 

The notion that a powerful Court Jus­
tice a menial task clearly 
strikes a chord. Tom C. who was a 
nior Justice in the 1950s, once wryly referred to 
himself as "the doorkeeper in the 
world."11 When O'Connor was appointed, her 
Brethren discussed her from door­
keeping duty because they did not want the first 
woman on the Court to be seen as a secretary. 
But outgoing Justice John Paul Stevens 
OOlleCltea. believing O'Connor would oppose 

any preferential treatment. Besides, 
should have a turn," Stevens insisted. 12 

According to 
ther onerous nor 

nei­
The door gets 

knocked on "once in maybe twice 

in three Conferences. Not very often. It's usu­
ally somebody has forgotten some document 
that they want, and so their law clerk comes 
down and gives it to the staff person who is 
outside the door, and he knocks on the door 
and it to me and I open the door and he 
says 'This is for Justice or Justice 
Thomas' ... and I give them the document.,,1J 

A few years ago, answered the door 
and found himself not a crucial le­
gal document but .. , a fresh cup of Starbucks 

, coffee. He dutifully delivered the hot bever­
age and it before its intended 
recipient, Justice Scalia. "Well you have been 

this for some time," remarked Scalia. 
"Yes and I have 

"No you 
league teased. 14 

very good at it," 
actually," his col-

The doorkeeping habit becomes so auto­
matic that it can be hard for a Justice 
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The Justices line up by seniority at formal occasions, with the Chief at one end and the Junior at the other. 
This photograph was taken at Earl Warren's funeral on July 11, 1974 when John Paul Stevens was the junior 
Justice. 

to break when he or she moves up in se-
Samuel Alito was slow to get up and 

answer the door at his first and 
jumped up to answer it 

until Chief Justice John G. Jr. re­
minded him to stay seated. "I had been used 
to it like a Pavlovian ... Still, when there 
is a knock at the door I suddenly react and 
start to get up .. r guess that will wear off. If 
you do force of habit over twelve 
years I guess you used to it."l) 

to Chief Justice Roberts, "it took several Con­
ferences before Justice learned not to 
answer the door and Justice Alito learned to do 
it." 16 

IfBreyer ever felt disheartened by the job, 
he could take comfort in his solidarity with 
Joseph his intellectual forbear. One of 
the earliest examples of a junior Justice be­

·pp,)pr•• tvr)p task occurred 

when the Justices of the Marshall Court lived 
house in the I 820s and 

dow less chamber but around the dining room 
table in the aided by a nice meal and 
bottles of Madeira wine. The story goes that 

the Chief Justice's fondness for 

the Justices did try to show restraint in their 
imbibing. to a letter Story wrote 
to his wife in 1823, "We are great 
and even deny ourselves wine except in wet 
weather." He further clarified that "What I say 

you our rule; but it does 
sometimes that the Chief Justice will 
say to me, when the cloth is 'Brother 
Story, to the window and see if it does not 
look like rain.' And ifI tell him that the sun 
is brightly, 
times reply, 'All the for our jurisdiction 
extends over so a territory that the doc­

trine of chances makes it certain that it must 
be raining somewhere. ",17 This junior "win­

task did not bother 
Story, although it should be noted that because 
of a weak stomach he was a teetotaler before 
arriving at the Court at age 32.18 
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Speaking in Turn 

Seniority controls more substantial nr')I'P'rll1 

ral matters at the Conference as well. When 

';)I.c'Ll''''C;U., the Justices in or-
with the Chief going first and 

the junior Justice last. Historically, the 
would then in reverse order back up to 

the Chief. is who votes 

noted Associate Justice James F 
in his 1958 memoirs. "It has been said that this 

was ad,oolted 

tion of senior members 

niors. This explanation did not impress me, for 

any Justice, having already ""AIJlv;)"~.U 

would ordinarily vote in harmony 
with them."2o 

This two-step ended by the early 

and now Justices explain their position 
and their vote According to William 

H. who joined the Court in 1972: 

For many years there has circulated 

a tale that the discussion in 
conference in order from the 

ChiefJustice to the junior Justice, the 
begins with the junior 

t'lr.'1."PF·rl back to the Chief 

Justice in order ofseniority. I can tes­

tify at least on my fifteen years 

on the this tale is very much 

of a myth; I don't believe I have ever 
seen it at any of the confer­

ences that I have attended. 21 

the last to the Justice 
is able to listen to other perspectives and has 

more time to formulate his or her views or in­

corporate others' ideas into his or her think-

But being ninth can also mean there is not 
much left to say: The issues have been skillfully 

framed and all the vital points have been made. 
If the Justices are in their votes, how­

ever, there is enormous interest in the views 

of the last to in. "And the 

said it's an unusual po­

" notes Chief Justice Roberts. "[M]ost 

times, things are much settled and de­

cided by the time you to the ninth justice 

and people are kind of moving on to the next 

case, which is a little to them. 

But there are those times when it's four to four 
and then are very much interested in 
what the junior justice has to say."n 

Rehnquist felt that it was a great disad­

vantage to speak last because it was harder to 
influence the more senior Justices: 

When I first went on the 

was both surprised and disappointed 
at how little interplay there was be­

tween the various justices during the 

process 
would state his 

on a case. Each 

and a junior 

with views 

by a justice senior to him earlier in 

the discussion, but the converse did 

not apply; a views 

were seldom commented upon, be­

cause votes had been cast up 

the line. Like most junior justices be­
fore me must have I thought I 
had some very contribu­

tions to make, and was disappointed 

that hardly ever seemed to influ­

ence anyone because did not 

their votes in response to their 

contrary views. I thought it would be 

desirable to have more of a round­

table discussion of the matter after 
each ofus had our views.23 

to it is not 
drawback: "Some feel it is a 

to go first because others will hear what he 

says earlier in the Conference so it may have a 
greater before the others make up their 

. minds. On the other hand, you can say it is an 

advantage to go later because if you go later 

you hear what the others have said and there­
fore can work out what you might think in light 

of the other comments. So you can argue that 
one back and forth."24 

more as junior Justice to 

others than because he was often in 

the minority on the Burger Court and wrote 
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many lone dissents. When he became Chief 

Rehnquist came to accept the sys­

tem and its 
now sat in conferences for fifteen years, and 

risen from ninth to seventh to first in senior-

I now realize--with newfound 
that while my idea [of roundtable 

is fine in the abstract it probably would not 

contribute much in practice, and at any rate is 

doomed by the system to which the 
adhere."25 

The second part of the Conference is de­

voted to for certiorari and 

deciding to which cases to grant review. Since 
I the custom has been to for re­

view a case if four of the nine Justices vote 

to do so at Conference. Cases are discussed 

in the order in which they are numbered 
the Clerk's office. The Justice who 

the case be put on the discuss list leads off 

the and then it continues with Jus­
tices voting in order of seniority 

whether to grant or deny review. Because the 

discussion of petitions is Jess 
than that cases, speaking last is even 

less consequential 27 

Assignment of Opinion-Writing 

Seniority a vital role in deciding which 

Justice is to write the Court's 

opinion. The rule that the Chief Justice 
the majority 

jority: if not, the task of the opinion 

falls to the most senior Justice in the majority. 

whoever is senior on the 

the dissent-writing function. This 

be a great disadvantage to the 

junior Justice logically, can never assign 
opinion. (If the only one on the dis­

Justice does technically 

to assign the dissent, but the 
only Justice he can it to is 

The function is a 

one, but the assigner must balance a 

ofpolitics, expertise, and administra­

tive concerns that go into a Justice 

to a case. And the power to cases has 

diminished in modern times, as the Court has 

system that 

distributed 
and ensures that work can be by 

the end of the Term. As describes it, 
"[t]he rule is that everyone writes one 

[opinion], and then everyone writes 

two and then everyone writes three, so the 

need to have the same number of 

across the year is a constraint on how tl1ey are 
,,28 The lack of possessing that extra 

to assign cases is thus less of a disad­
vantage to the Justice than it may have 

been in the past. 
a new Justice is to 

write a maiden opinion in a case that is both 

relatively minor and unanimous. When Jus­
tice William O. Douglas came on the Court 

m his for his first opinion 

cases that would 

have drawn on his in government 
But ChiefJustice Charles Evans 

the best thing for you to do is to take a case 
you may think is a case." Dou­

felt he had to oblige. A Court observer 

writing in the 1950s elaborated on this prac­

tice: "The may also be used as a 
reward, the new members of the Court receiv­

ofthe such as 

with tax or fair labor standards, 
are often saved for seniors.,,30 

But there have been When Justice 

joined the Court in 1993 she natu­

rally had low for her first opin­

ion assignment: "I eagerly awaited my first 

the 

be slated for the uncontroversial, unanimous 

opinion. When the list came round, I was dis­
mayed. The Chief [Rehnquist] had me 

the not at all easy, ERISA case, on 

which the Court had divided six to three. 

Seasoned Sandra O'Connor of­

fered this advice: "Just do it ... and, can, 

circulate your draft before he makes the next 
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set Otherwise you will risk re­
ceiving another tedious case."32 

Once the opinions are written, they are 

announced from the Bench the Justices in 
reverse order of Those in the Court­

room on when opinions are handed down 

can the junior Justice to speak first if 
he or she has written an 

Giving Orders to the Clerk's Office 

to Breyer, duties 
no talent,"33 but there is one 

function that does require skill and care-a 

function that was handed to the junior Justice 

This new can 
001'l<e1eplng, as mundane or 

even a nuisance. But the task is so vital that it 

Officers in the Conference room to re­

view the votes and make up the orders list. 
When Warren Burger was Chief he 

would also ask Associate Justice Harry A. 

.un,,",,-,,H.''', a stickler for to remain in 

the room, so his notes could be consulted.34 

Eventually, Burger decided to turn over the 

Conference scribe duties to the junior Justice, 

and William H. Rehnquist the 

orders.J5 When John Paul Stevens joined the 

Court in 1975, he and Chief Justice 

Mary would meet with the 

Clerk's staff and reconcile Stevens' notes with 

Stevens was the rookie Justice for 
nearly six years, the fifth-longest span in his­

tory. 

The process of orders was stream­
lined in 1981 after Sandra Day O'Connor be-

surely 

heft. 

the position ofjunior Justice added came the junior Justice, She persuaded her 

Brethren that it would be more efficient to cir-
When the Conference the Jus­

tices immediately need to inform the Clerk of 

the Court which cases have been ""','-'IJ''"'U 

be briefed and a process called 
orders." The Clerk then writes up the order list 

and the Chief Justice officially releases it for 

all the world to behold. With the Court now 

only a fraction of the thousands of 

appeals submitted for review, decisions about 

which cases get picked u~usually because 
there is a constitutional issue at stake 
orbecause there is a conflict among lower court 
""';{Ttn,'nr~_1110'l"'i" huge ramifications. It is im­

of course, that the votes be recorded 

in the Justices' secret Conference as 

a small error of one incorrect vote could 

have enormous magnitude. There is no 

staff present to take notes, and no 

recorded which to doublecheck, 

Historically, the of 
the Clerk was done 

would not only run the Conference but also 

keep track of the votes on petitions for cer­
tiorari and other items on the Conference list. 

Following the Justices' the Chief 

and his secretary would meet with the Clerk 

of Court, Deputy and recently) 

culate the "discuss list"-the list of cases that 

individual Justices have be discussed 

at Conference-to the Clerk's office the day 

before. J6 She saw no in results 
for every case. This new method saved a lot 

of time, but it also meant that the Clerk's of-

1<;;4U<;;~,l<;;U which 

on the list, that had 

been secretY 
The job ofConference scribe is be­

cause it great attention to detail and 
there is a lot going on in Conference. "It goes 

quite " notes "you have to be 

very accurate," But the junior Justice can 

from the other eight who all write 

down how the votes go as well. they are all 

track" "because 

everyone wants to know what everyone else 
, did in every matter. for I were ... 

[to write an] opinion I would 

want to know what the others thought [when 
voted to review a case]. And I don't want 

trust my memory [for] that, so I write it 

down in Conference." If Breyer was ever un­

certain about the voting after looking back on 

his notes, he would simply query one of the 

other Justices.38 
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Ultimately, though, it is the junior Justice 

who bears the final responsibility. Explains 

Breyer: 

But since I am the junior I know I will 

be the one to report the decision to the 

Clerk's office and so I have to be par­

ticularly careful to get it exactly right. 

And sometimes it's not an ordinary 

thing; sometimes there is [another 

Justice] who doesn't want the deci­

sion to go out right away until he has 

checked something . . . He will check 

it quickly, but then we have to be sure 

I report that to the Clerk's office and 

follow up on it. And there I meet with 

the staff-with General Suter [Clerk 

of the Court], and the Chiefs secre­

tary, and the others from the general 

Court staff after the meeting- and I 

go down the list and report to them 

what we decided . 

To get it right, Breyer prepared fully before 

going into Conference: " [We] have a long, 

long list and we will go through several fail­

safe things before the Conference. We will go 

through [the list] with my secretary and law 

clerks because I have to decide how I am go­

ing to vote in all likelihood, so ... on every 

discuss matter I have written down my likely 

vote. What I have to remember to do is, if the 

Conference goes my way I circle it, and if the 

conference doesn't go my way, I erase what I 

put there and I circle that." And when the Clerk 

of the Court and the other Court staff met with 

him after the Conference, Breyer "would read 

to them from the list. And I [would] have next 

to me the Conference book, so if I was uncer­

tain about what I wrote there, I would refer 

back to my book and see more precisely how 
people voted, so I know how it comes out.,,39 

Former Chief Deputy Clerk of the Court 

Frank Lorson remembers that some junior Jus­

tices are initially very anxious about getting 

it right. With no formal pre-Conference train­

ing, it is up to the Court staff to help them . 

"The staff is very good," says Breyer. " I don ' t 

think the staff ever made a mistake [during 

my tenure]. And that is remarkable. They are 

very conscientious. And if, for example, they 

got something from me that they didn't fully 

understand, they would call the office and we 

would work it out before anything became pub­

lic." His staff in Chambers was equally helpful 

. 	"A lot of the duties fell on my secretary, Marsha 

Bishop, who had to be absolutely careful be­

cause . .. no mistake can be made because any 

mistake is very harmful to the people involved, 

and the decisions have to get made in an orderly 

way. ,,40 Lorson recalls that on a few occasions 

he did feel compelled to question a Justice 's 

notes . If there was ever any uncertainty about 

the votes, the case would be relisted. 

Freshman Year 

How is the baton passed from the outgoing 

junior Justice to the incoming one? A small, 

tight-knit community, the Court has no formal 

arrangement for indoctrinating rookies, but the 

support staff at the Court have traditionally 

pulled together to make things work.41 "People 

are helpful. Everyone ... answered my ques­

tions," recalls Breyer of his debut. 

The main new thing when you first 

get to the Court for the office is to 

work out how to deal with the cert list 

.. . The most important transmission 

belt is at the level of the secretaries ... 

Justice Ginsburg [the outgoingjunior 

Justice] had a very competent person 

who had been organizing the Confer­

ence for her, and she showed my sec­

retary how to organize the books and 

how they had done it. And so you im­

mediately can start. It probably took 

her a few weeks over the summer to 

figure out how to do it ... [It] was 

lucky for me that we began in Au­

gust and there wasn't a Conference 

until the end ofSeptember. So Marsha 

[Bishop] learned how to do that, and 

then I could come in and she could 
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Justice Breyer shared a light moment with Marsha Bishop (middle), his secretary, and his law clerk Danielle 
Gray (right). Bishop helped Breyer with the weighty job of "giving orders" to the Clerk of Court, which entailed 
reporting on which cases the Justices had accepted to be briefed and argued. 

show me what she had been doing 

and what Justice Ginsburg had been 
and Justice was very 

helpful in to me how she 

did it.42 

Justice O'Connor was not as as 

with the of her confirmation: 
She arrived on the Court in with 

only three to prepare for the Court's first 
Conference. Faced with piles of that 

had come in over the summer, she and her hus­

band John O'Connor and her clerk Ruth Mc­

carefully sifted 
scrambled to number them in or­

der. "But that's not the way they do it," recalls 

"[S]o that the whole first Confer­
ence, [O'Connor] had to be back and 
forth through her notes.,,43 No one had briefed 

O'Connor that the Conference list is organized 

by type of case: appeals, petitions, extraor­

dinary and so on. But O'Connor was 

offered the guidance of Lewis 

Jr. "No one did more than Lewis 

Powell to help me settled as a new Justice," 
she has written. "fIe found us a place to live. 

Heallowed me to hire oneofhis two secretaries 

as my chamber's Most he 

was willing to talk about cases and the issues. 
His door was open,"44 

When Ruth Bader the 
O'Connor, in turn, went out of 

her a helping hand. According 
to "Justice O'Connor's welcome 

when I became junior Justice is characteris­

tic personality]. The Court has customs 

and habits one cannot find in the official Rules 

or in Stern & Gressman. Justice O'Connor 

knew what it was like to learn the ropes on one's 
, own. She told me what I needed to know when 

I came on board for the Court's 1993 Term­
not in an intimidating 

able me to safely for my first and 
weeks.,,45 When Ginsburg read her first Bench 

announcement summarizing the Court's deci­

a Marshal '5 Office attendant her 

a kind note from O'Connor (who dissented in 

the that read: "This is your first opinion 
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for the Court, it is a fine one, 1 look forward to 
many more.,,46 

More recently, Breyer, in tum, briefed 

Samuel Alito when he arrived in 2006. "My 

secretary spent considerable time with his," 
says Breyer, "and he has picked this up very 

well. And the work of reporting the Confer­
ence ... 1 showed him how I would do it."47 . 

But Alito still found that just being new was a 

challenge, the way it is with any job. He con­

fessed that he got lost in the building his first 
few days. "1 didn't know where anything was, 

how to get in or how to get out," Alito told 

his hometown newspaper. Of course, with the 

Court under renovation and many staff in trail­
ers, Alito wasn't the only one having a hard 

time finding his way around . Alito also had 

trouble learning to use the microphones that 

Justices must tum on so they can question ad­

vocates during oral argument. "You have to be 

very quick on the draw. 1 like to let a lawyer 

Sandra Day O'Connor helped 
show Ruth Bader Ginsburg the 
ropes when she joined the Court 
in 1993. O'Connor herself had 
benefited from the courtly advice 
of Lewis F. Powell when she was 
a rookie Justice in 1981. 

at least finish a sentence. So 1 am waiting for 

a period to ask a question; but if you do that, 

there 's more of a chance that everybody else is 
going to come in.'>48 

Beyond figuring out the nuts and bolts of 

the job, adapting to the workload of the Court 
can be even more daunting. Rookie Justices 

used to the rough and tumble of government 

work have had a particularly hard time adapt­

ing. Fonner New Dealer William O. Douglas 

called it "the monastery" and was unhappy at 
first with the nature ofthe Court's work.49 Sim­

ilarly, when Justice Clark came on the Court 
in 1949, he had a difficult transition from the 

action-packed Attorney General's office to the 
cloistered, deliberative Court. 50 But even for 

an appellate judge, it is still a big adjustment. 
After only a few short days on the high Bench, 

Harry A. Blackmun, who had served as a fed­

eral circuit judge for more than a decade, was 

so overwhelmed that he confessed to a friend, 
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"[IJt is very that the technique and 
the pace and the attitudes are different. I don't 
know if I shall be able to survive."51 Justice 

Scalia found the on becom­
ing a Justice to be "the of the work­
load. I don't think I worked as hard in my life," 
he recalls, "including first year law school, as 
I did on my first year on the Court."S2 

Breyer, who served as an appeals court 

before coming on the also found 
stressful: 

1think psychologically it is a different 
world from the Court be­
cause 1 know, as does everyone, that 
we are making a final decision on a 
matter that is ... very 
to people. That is true of the Court of 
Appeals to a but at least there 
is another 
not true here. And moreover, it's, in a 
sense, a fishbowl: it is not secret, peo­

follow very closely what goes on, 
the press follows very closely what 
goes on, and the part that the press 
is not aware namely what goes on 
in the Conference room, is really dis-

the cases, and eventually the 
press learns what happened because 
we write it down. So it is very, very 
transparent as well as a publicly 
more visible are 
interested in who I am as a person. 
Well, all that combines to put pres­
sure on me or anyone else to do as 

a as they can do. And of 

course that's somewhat be­
cause you that you can do a 
job. And no matter who you are, you 
are not certain can or not. 
And so you learn over time what can 
be done and what can't be done, what 
it's like. 53 

How much time does it take to learn the 
When Justice Clark was a rookie, he 

asked Justice Robert H. Jackson how long it 
had taken him to acclimated. The senior 

Justice that he had asked Chief Justice 
Charles Evans 
he was a freshman 
had said three years. But Jackson told Clark he 
thought the truth was closer to five. Justice 
Harold H. Burton received a similar message 
from 

ChiefJustice once said tome, 
in "1 will never the 
first three years I up 
with the Court. As you go on the 

nearly every line of decision 
with which you come into contact is 
one in which you would have not per­
sonally participated. When you have 
been there three, ten or 15 years, 

more and more ofthe decisions in the 
cases that come before you are in the 

fields of the law which you 
have helped to develop."s6 

outlined this freshmen 
his autobiography: 

A new Justice is not at ease in his seat 
until he has made a study of 
lines of cases, so that when a case is 
argued he at once or by 
looking at a key case brings back to 

his memory, the jurisprudence of the 
Court upon the general subject and 
can address his mind to the 
lar variant now That is the 
explanation of the ability of 
enced Justices to rapidly of 

and also of the difficulties 
the new Justice encounters in 
over which is more familiar 
to his seniors on the bench. 

agrees that it takes several years to feel 
comfortable. "I think Justice used to 
say it takes three to five years before cases of 
a kind to so you begin to see it's 
one of these kind, this kind, the other kind. 
You begin to develop an approach to the Con­
stitution. It becomes somewhat easier then but 
it is still a very strong ,,58 The 

fact that Breyer did not move up in seniority 

III 
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for so many years played no part in his com­

fort level. Time and reviewing lots of cases, 

he says, are the only remedy for feeling like a 
rookie. 59 

Other Duties 

Historically, the junior Justice has been called' 

upon by the Chief to perform minor tasks such 

as meeting with groups or visiti ng dignitaries 

or hosting receptions for incoming clerks. But 

more senior Justices are also asked to perform 

such duties.6o In the past, the junior Justice 
organized the Court 's annual Christmas Re­

cess party for staff and their families , which 

was paid for by contributions from individ­

ual Justices. 61 Now it is Court staff that plans 

the holiday festivity, and funding comes from 

the cafeteria budget.62 In a 1977 interview, 

Rehnquist, then recently upgraded from junior 

Justice, explained that he "really didn't mind 

doorkeeping, or being in charge of the recep­

tion for new clerks in October and the Court 's 

Christmas Party for the staff, but ' I was glad 
to see John Stevens take over. ",63 

There has been speculation that the junior 

Justice must attend the State of the Union ad­

dress and represent the Court if other Justices 

do not attend. There is also a theory that if the 

whole Court is present, then the junior Justice 

must stay away for security reasons : Someone 

must be left to rebuild the Court in case of 

a terrorist attack or other doomsday scenario. 

"There is no such rule," says Breyer. "No one 

is either not allowed to attend or forced to at­

tend . People attend if they wish to attend. I do 
wish to attend, so I gO.,,64 

An Equal Vote 

In sum, aside from doorkeeping and giving or­
ders to the Clerk's Office, the duties of the 

junior Justice are not particularly distinctive. 

Yes , the junior Justice stands last in line, is on 
the periphery in photos and on the Bench, and 

speaks last in Conference. But the system is not 

intended to be humiliating: There is no hazing 

at the Court. The seniority system is simply 

a practical way of ordering the business of the 

Court and keeping it running effectively. "Each 

of us has one vote," says Breyer, "and I think 

each person listens to the other precisely the 

same way whether you are junior or next to 
junior or you are the Chief ... [ don 't see a dis­

advantage or an advantage, frankly. "65 And yet 

the public remains fascinated by the junior Jus­

tice, perhaps because he or she is seen as hav­

ing one foot in the marble palace and one foot 
still in the outside world . Having been riveted 

by the "tryouts," or confirmation hearings , ev­

eryone wants to see how the rookie plays in his 

or her first season and what happens when the 

other players have to slide down the Bench and 

make room. 

While it may take years to become com­

fortable as one of the fina l arbiters of the Con­

stitution, the rituals become habit quickly. "1 
have got [doorkeeping] down, now, I answer 

the door," boasted Justice Alito after only six 

months on the Court.66 But he also told his 

local newspaper that he periodically had to 

pinch himself and say, "Yeah, you're really 

here. You 're on the Supreme Court. This is re­
ally happening."67 
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William o. Douglas Remembered: 
A Collective Memory by WOO's 
Law Clerks 

MARSHALL SMALL 

William O. (WOD), who was the Justice on the U.S. 
Court, was an Associate Justice from April 17, 1939 to November 19, I and thereafter was 
a retired Justice until his death on January 19, 1980. During this period he employed fifty-four 

law clerks, one for each Term of the Court for the 1950, 1967, and 1970 when he 
employed two and in the 1971 when he had three clerks until his retirement. 

"rrv_,"",p of his law clerks are still his first law David who at 

the age of 95 remains mentally and physically active and recently "retired" from his law 
practice. 

As be expected in a career on the replacing, that the Justice's public persona as a 
Court Bench more than laid-back Western olltdoorsman did not accord 

years as an active and retired the with the no-nonsense attitude that he conveyed 
Justice's relationships with his clerks could not while his clerks to do the Court's work. 
be expected to be the same in every Term-and Prospective clerks were told that they would 
some clerks found the to be less sat­ work hard. 
isfying than others. This may be due to a vari- Several have been made over the 

of some to the Justice- years to interview the Douglas in an ef­
including the Justice's health, marital status, fort to understand and a description of 
and age and the compo- the Justice's relationship with his 
sition of the Court-and some, per- clerks, Professor Melvin interviewed 
sonal to the of individual clerks. nineteen of WOD's clerks, including at least 
Incoming clerks were often warned in ,,,n,',m,',. three of those now deceased (Vern Country­

by the former clerks who screened man, Walt and Stanley as 

for the Justice or by the clerks well as several of the clerks who participated 
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in preparation of this article. The results of 
these interviews are summarized in two arti­
cles: "William O. Douglas and His 

in Western and "Get­
the Job Done: William O. Douglas and 

Collegiality in the Court," 
as part ofa collection edited by Stephen Wasby 
under the title He Shall Not Pass This Way 
Again. I Professor interviews gen­
erally describe the nature of the law clerks' 

with the Justice while doing the 
few details on the 

Justice's with his clerks when 
they were not so engaged. Professor Urofsky 
has also a selected collection of the 
Justice's papers deposited in the Library of 

which include letters touching on 
his relationship with his law clerks.2 

Professor David Danelski has interviewed 
eighteen of the Justice's law clerks and talked 
with another both and now de­

including Lucile Lomen (1944 Term, 
the first female law clerk hired at the Qllnrptn" 

David Danelski (pictured) has been in­
terviewing former William O. Douglas 
clerks and is preparing a full-length bi­
ography of the Justice. 

Court). Professor Danielski an ar­
ticle about Lomen in the Journal of the 

Court Histmy.3 His interview of 
Lomen disclosed the same dichotomy noted 
below by other clerks between the 
"all-business" way in which Douglas dealt 
with his clerks in Chambers, and the 
warm, and jovial" manner he exhibited when 
one was a at his home. The results of 
Professor Danelski's interviews will at some 

be included in a new biography of Jus­
tice Douglas on which he has been 
for over ten years, and when should 
be the definitive work on the life of Justice 

More recently, a book Bruce Allen 
Murphy, entitled Wild appeared in print in 
2002.4 Murphy'S book presents an unnattel 

of the including the manner in 
treated his law clerks, In his 
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on their interviews-that, among other 

the Justice called all his law clerks the same 
name, "the law clerk"; "because of their crush­
ing workload, clerks never had time 
to eat lunch with the other clerks and 
views about the Court and its work"; and the 
Justice told Justice Blackmun that "law clerks 
are the lowest form of human life" and Mur­
phy concluded that treated his clerks 

that way. Many of the law clerks interviewed 
by Murphy or Lowe contributed to the prepa­
ration of this article. As included in 
A and some resources,6 

which Murphy refers to as among his sources 
of information,? their responses portray a dif­

ferent and more varied picture of the Justice's 
relations with his law clerks. 

In 2006, Stanford University Press pub­

lished a book by Todd who is 
on the of Roanoke entitled 

Courtiers of the Marble Palace8 In this vol­

ume, Professor undertook a serious 

scholarly effort to document the history and 

significance oflaw clerks at the U.S. 

Court and their with their Jus­

tices. In to understand the rela­
tionship between Justice 

clerks, 


sources, including 


Justice and previously published articles by 

Douglas clerks, also concluded that 
IJpr\l'\prQ 

Justice Douglas treated his law clerks 
rather badly.9 

As a result of the Murphy and Peppers 
characterizations of the relationship between 
Justice and his law clerks, which 
with repetition run the risk of becoming ac­
cepted ]0 several of law clerks 

On August 6, 2003, twenty-three of Justice Douglas's sUrViving law clerks gathered for a reunion in San 
Francisco to discuss a recent unflattering biography of and refute some of its criticisms. Pictured are 
Marshall Small (right), who sent out a questionnaire to fellow clerks asking them to describe their relationship 
with the Justice and Warren Christopher (left). Christopher recounted that when he asked Douglas what he 
should do with his life, Douglas's advice was, "Get out into the stream of history and swim as fast as you can." 
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concluded that it was time to publish their own 

previously memorialized recollections of their 

relationships with Justice Douglas. 1 1 These 

recollections had their genesis in a reunion of 

the Douglas law clerks held in August 2003, 

in San Francisco, California. 
On August 6, 2003, twenty-three of Jus­

tice Douglas's surviving law clerks gathered. 

for a reunion in San Francisco. There had been 

eight prior reunions of the Douglas clerks­

in 1949, 1954, 1959, 1964, and 1972 with 

the Justice, and (following his death) in 1980, 

1989, and 1998 (the last held at the U.S. 
Supreme Court to commemorate the looth an­

niversary of WOD's birth). The 2003 reunion 

was prompted by the recent publication of 

Murphy's unflattering biography ofthe Justice. 

The events of August 6, 2003 commenced 

with a public meeting in the Ceremonial Court­

room in the Federal Courthouse in San Fran­

cisco sponsored by the Federal Bar Associa­

tion, Northern District of California Chapter, 

and the U.S. District Court for the Northern 

District of California Historical Society. At 
that meeting, Judge William Alsup and Jerome 

Falk, two of the Justice's law clerks during the 

1971 and 1965 Terms, shared memories of the 

Justice and sought to correct some of the inac­

curacies in the Murphy biography. Judge Al­

sup's remarks were later amplified and memo­
rialized in The Federal Lawyer. 12 

Following the meeting at the Courthouse, 

the clerks and the spouses and significant oth­

ers who accompanied them adjourned to a pri­

vate dinner, where they shared memories of 

the Justice with Cathy Douglas Stone, the Jus­

tice's widow, Mercedes Eichholz, the Justice's 

former wife, with whom former clerk Chuck 

Rickershauser had kept in contact in Santa Bar­

bara, and biographer David Danelski. 

During the dinner, a series of questions 
were posed by the author of this article, in­

tended both to inject some levity into the pro­

ceedings and to gain a rough sense of how 

far Murphy 's description of the Justice 's re­

lationship with his clerks was off the mark. A 

show of hands in response to these questions, 

combined with the clerks ' individual recollec­

tions at dinner that evening, gave some sense 

of the clerks' collective experiences with the 

Justice. However, no written record was kept 

of the proceedings. Subsequently, several of 

the clerks who attended the dinner decided 

that it would be helpful to memorialize the 

shared recollections of the clerks. Accordingly, 

a written questionnaire was sent to all clerks, 

whether or not they had attended the dinner, 

with a follow-up questionnaire prior to prepa­

ration of this article . Written responses were 

received from thirty-six of the Justice's forty­

two surviving clerks. The responses covered a 

wide cross-section of the clerks, from the Jus­

tice's first clerk, David Ginsburg, to his last 

clerk, Montana Podva. The only significant 

gap came between 1939 and 1947, as all of 

the Justice's clerks from that time period are 

deceased. Appendix A of this article records 

the clerks' descriptions of their relationships 
with the Justice. 13 

In addition to the shared recollections of 

the clerks set forth in Appendix A, the author 
of this article offers the following observations 

concerning certain matters not directly dealt 

with in Appendix A, based on his own experi­

ences and the experiences of other clerks. The 

author has discussed certain of these matters 

with his former partners William Alsup and 

Kim Seneker, and also with Warren Christo­

pher, Bill Cohen, David Ginsburg, and Tom 

Klitgaard . 

1. The Justice's Clerks Worked Very 

Hard, Due to a Combination 


of Factors 


First, except for the 1950 Term and 1967 Term 

and until he began hiring two clerks in the 1970 

Term, the Justice kept only one clerk. In 1947, 

after the Court's budget apparently permitted 

the hiring of more than one clerk, and some 

other Justices had begun to do so, the Justice 

did consider hiring a second law clerk. He dis­

cussed the subject with Stanley Sparrowe, who 

was then his clerk and who advised him that he 
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would prefer to be in a one-clerk office where 
he would have a in everything rather than 
in only some 14 The Justice did 

ment with a second clerk in the 1950 Term, but 
he returned to one clerk in the 1951 Term and 
hired an additional secretary, he con­
tinued for many years thereafter. The addition 
of a second clerk in the 1967 Term was caused 
by Kim Seneker's consecutive bouts with an 

illness and surgery just prior to the start of 
the October which made it advisable to 
bring an additional clerk on board. The rea­
son for only one clerk to be 
due to the Justice's belief that he could not 
two clerks andthathis 
staff allowance could be better 
two secretaries and one law clerk. The Justice 
confirmed this to Kim Seneker during the 1967 

Term. He did begin hiring two clerks in the 
1970 when other Justices were already 

three and in the 1971 Term he be-

am)an~ntlv felt that clerks for other Jus­
tices had too much time on their hands when 
he saw them attending oral which 
may have contributed to the 

UUllJl<',"" pillar" noted in endnote 13. 
in the 1970s, when the tradition 

of law clerks for several Justices 
spreading 

cert memos on 
number of cert among 

the Douglas clerks did not par­
in the pooL The Justice felt that one 

reason for a multijudge court was to obtain a 

breadth of individual viewpoints, and that this 
would be stifled by a practice of having one 
cert memo prepared for several Justices. On 
the other hand, he did not ask his clerks to pre­
pare Bench memos on cases set down for oral 

as some Justices of their 
which relieved the clerks of 

some burden. 
the Justice felt that every petition 

filed with the Court deserved his scrutiny, so 
he asked his clerks to review all in forma pau­

peris petitions and, where there was potential 
merit, to read the record as well. These peti­
tions were normally only reviewed by the Chief 
Justice's clerks and placed on a "dead 
list," the contents of which were never sched­
uled for review and discussion the Court at 
Conference. 

Why did the Justice work his clerks so 
hard? At the 2003 reunion dinner, 
Cathy Douglas Stone offered the explanation 
that the Justice was simply trying to toughen 
up his clerks for the life would face after 
clerkship. Whether that was the Justice's sole 
motivation must be left to conjecture. 
as he confirmed to Kim he felt that his 
office could be better on two sec­
retaries, and that it would not hurt his law clerk 
to work harder for the limited time the clerk 
was at the Court. Whatever the 
his clerks did work very hard. But contrary to 

the created in the Murphy book­
as the responses in endnote 13 and Appendix 

A make clerks had sufficient op­
to lunch with clerks from other of­

fices and otherwise engage in extracurricular 
activities, including several activities with the 
Justice. 

2. Expecting His Clerks to 
Work Hard, How Did Justice ..,V.A!':.'(") 

Really View His Law Clerks? 

Some clerks observed the of 
starting off poorly and then having the rela­

as the year wore on and the 
Justice confidence in the clerk's abili­
ties. Bernie Jacob's response reflects this sort 
ofexperience, when he noted that one question 
!eft out of the questionnaire was whether the 
Justice ever fired a clerk---or that 
he or she should quit or be asked if the clerk 
had gone to law school----during the first week 
ofemployment. Bernie said the answer for him 
was yes, and that it meant a bad weekend, How­

ever, he added that, in the end, he he 
had an amiable relationship with the Justice. 

The in Urofsky's article that clerks 
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were put through an initial month of 
boot camp and that the Justice's rages at his 

clerks were seem to assume incor­
that incidents with individual 

clerks refleeted an experience shared all 
clerks. 16 The author of this article does not feel 
that he was alone in avoiding an initial month 
of boot camp or not of 
anger the Justice. The nearest exposure to 

occurred when he mildly suggested to 
the Justice that he might consider more flllly 

his c;a~VUlll)<, in a case involving 
state taxation of commerce, as an aid to prac­
ticing and was rebuffed with the retort 
that the Justice was in the business of writ-

for the not in writing law 
review articles. 17 Warren Christopher recalls 

that after he had mis-cited a case, the Justice 
"Christo­

on you to an extent you may not re-
as the responses in Appendix 

clerks did not always ex­
treatment. 

the Justice's relationships 
with his it should be remembered that 
the Justice did not, as a matter ofpractice, meet 
or interview his clerks to his 
Chambers at the Court. The Justiee's first op­

a clerk's work would usu­
cert memos prepared 

by the clerks, which were to be short 
no more than one 
and to provide a 

dation on whether and 
(or grant or dismiss an 
know how many clerks hit the runnmg 
or learned by practice on the writing cert 

memos, and how that may have affected their 
initial relationships with the Justice. Another 
potential source of friction may have been an 
individual clerk's inability, even with the help 
of the Justice's secretary, to the Jus­

tice's and sometimes hand­
written notes to his clerks. The Justice often 
communicated with his clerks in this fashion. 

we do not know how to account for 
the marked difference that clerks 

between their working relationships with the 
Justice across the desk-which could be stiff 

and "all business"-and the both 
and after the clerkship that did not in­

volve the Court's work, but which, as many 
of the responses in Appendix A dis­
closed a more relaxed or even amiable social 

In any event, contrary to the quotation 
attributed by Justice Blackmun to Justice 

in the Murphy book that law clerks 
are the lowest fonn of human life, the clerks' 
own accounts of their experiences with the Jus­
tice do not support the view that the Justice 
considered his law clerks "the lowest form of 
human " or that, while he did work them 
very hard, he viewed them in that fashion. In 

the responses in Appendix A disclose that 
the Justice's inclination with his while 

from year to year and clerk to 
to treat them in a friendly, sup­

were not doing the 

3. What About Infamous Buzzer? 

According to David the Justice did 
not use a buzzer to summon him when David 
worked for him at the nor did he do so 

when thev moved to the u.s. Supreme Court. 
recalled that the Justice would buzz 

but that "WOD would generally 

walk into my office with a request (for] an 
assignment, or just for talk. On 
other occasions, his would buzz me 
to say that the Justice wants to see me. In my 

day WOD expressed concern about lack of ex­
ercise; knowing him, I suspect that he enjoyed 
that short, race across the office. When 
I needed to talk with him I'd call his secre­
tary to arrange a time. The of using a 
buzzer to summon the secretary was presum­

followed most of the other Justices as 
well. Gary Torre (1948 Term) recalled that the 

Justice did use a buzzer that Term to 
summon the law clerk. We do not know when 

or why the Justice a buzzer to 
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summon his clerks, and there is no surviving 
clerk between Ginsburg and Torre who might 
shed light on that Kim Seneker re­
called that when there were two as dur­
ing the 1967 Term, the Justice occasionally 
tried to use a two-buzzes but 
generally did not differentiate between clerks 
when he rang for them with the buzzer. Dick 
Jacobson recalled that the 1971 

when the number of law clerks increased to 
three: 

WOD always buzzed once for us, no 
matter who he and if the 
wrong clerk answered the he 
might say "send in but usually 
he simply said like "tell 

Alsup .. " and then he would have 
us convey a message which hopefully 
we One problem 

IN'ntpr~ in combat 

had such reflexes that he would 
have answered every buzz before ei­
ther Bill or I had halfway out of 
ourchairs-ifwe let him, to max­
imize our face time with the Justice, 
we cut a and set up a rotation 
system, WOD never remarked on the 

fact that he never 
twice in a row. 

the same clerk 

Don recalled that in the 1974 Term, 

the Justice would summon clerks by assign-
a number of buzzes to each 

two, or three-and that the clerks have 

been best known the number of buzzes 
used to summon with their names 
an although the Justice generally 

their last names. 
It is that the Justice was the only 

member of the Court who used that method of 
his clerks. In 2003, the author of 

this article put that question in writing to then­
Chief Justice William Rehnquist, who clerked 
for Robert Jackson during the 1951-52 Tenn 

the author'S clerkship and whom the au­

thor had previously known at Stanford Law 
SchooL He advised by return letter that Justice 

Jackson did not use a buzzer to summon his 
law clerks, and that he did not know of any 
other Justice who did so. He then un­
prompted, the anecdote aboutlustice 
Douglas that may be of interest: 

He and hosted me and Nan at 
their on Goose Prairie in the 
summer of either 1973 or I and 

were most and 
hosts. I do remember Bill one 
evening if I take one of the 
books on his shelves to read after I 
went to he to a shelf and 
told me to take any book I wanted 
from jt, All of them were 
by his favorite author. 

In his 2007 book entitled The Supreme Court, 
Professor Rosen asserts that Justice 
L/V'u",w,J often scribbled drafts of opinions 

which his clerks called "plane­
trip and which Rosen considered 
slapdash efforts,19 There is no question that 

the Justice worked quickly in drafting opin­
ions, and one Tom Klitgaard, remem­
bers his of drafting while on travel, 
though not the "plane-trip specials."2o 

the recollection of the clerks 
with whom I have discussed this subject, as 
well as my own recollection, is that the Jus­
tice had a of 

over all 
ensure that they were .,n'r.r_.Tr~." 

many cases he spent time 
-before to write. Warren re­
called that his impression of Douglas's prepar­

opinions was seeing him working 
in his Chambers with copies of the U.S. Re­
ports strewn throughout. Although lJU'U"'lo~" 

may have made clear to his clerks that he was 
for his opinions, he nevertheless 

his law clerks to prepare an occa­
sional first draft of what was 

or dissenting 
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years went by that practice may have increased, 
so that by the 1965 Term, Jerry Falk did the 
first draft of every per curiam, concurring, 
and dissenting opinion issued by the Justice 
and by the 1971 Term William Alsup could 
report that he and his two co-clerks each pre­
pared approximately one-third of the Justice's 
ninety-five concurring, dissenting, and circuit 
opinions that Term. However, all drafts were 
carefully reviewed with the Justice before be­

ing issued. 
One final observation that may stir 

memories---each of us has our own recollec­
tion of the Justice (hopefully undimmed by 

the passing years), with mine being refreshed 
by notes I have kept that the Justice sent me 
about various matters, some related to pend­
ing cases on which we were working and some 
on the broader world outside the Court. Those 

memos-which were usually simply signed 
with the initials "WOD"-revealed a man who 

was intensely interested in the work of the 

Court and in making certain that the opin­
ions for which he was responsible were prop­
erly written. That was a burden we all shared 
as clerks and about which we knew he cared 

deeply: that what finally appeared in the U.S. 
Reports would be accurate and would not con­
tain mistakes that would embarrass either him 
or us. It was a reflection of an attitude that be­
lied any characterization of Justice Douglas as 
"slap-dash" in his opinion-writing or, as in a 
review by Judge Richard Posner of Murphy's 
book Wild Bill, as a "bored," "disinterested," 

and "irresponsible" member of the Court. 22 

Appendix A: Summary of the Law 

Clerks' Descriptions of Their 


Relationships with WOD 


William Alsup (1971 Term) noted that he oc­

casionally had lunch with WOD on Saturdays, 
and went on the C&O hike reunion and social­
ized on other occasions. He commented that: 

Cathy Douglas Stone, the Justice's 
widow, shared a light moment with 
William Alsup, a former clerk. "It pains 
me to see in print unflattering carica­
tures of the man by authors who did 
not know him," wrote Alsup. 

http:Court.22
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The opportunity to clerk for Justice 
Douglas was a honor in my life. 
We were the first year to have three 
clerks. was charming to the 
three of us on afternoons in 
front of the fire with the Scotch cart 
handy, to us the events 

of the conference. He entertained us 
with stories that wound up in his 
autobiography. He gave us huge re-

ions and actions on 
petitions. he was tough once or 
twice, and for good reason, 
but many more times he had us to din­
ner, or breakfast. He and 

were most as hosts. After 
I left, WOD recommended me for 

jobs in the unsolicited. I 
think he had affection for his 

at least when they gave him 
their even though he rarely said 
it in so many words. Douglas spent his 
entire career, save a few 
in and a short law nr<>f'T"'p 

in his country in 

service. He was dedicated to the bet­
tennent of the country. It me to 
see in unflattering caricatures of 

the man by authors who did not know 
him. 

1952 Term) commented: 

After me if I was up 
with my work (to which I lied) he 

took me on a hike along the 
palachian TraiL I got him to remi­
nisce about FDR and the New DeaL 
Jean and I were invited to dinner with 

lVl'''\..'OU"", WOD and some of their 
friends. After the 
see him during the recess 

which he frequently spent at the guest 
ranch where he convalesced after the 
horse rolled on him. We also attended 
a Circuit Conference with Cathy 

and WOD in Pasadena. The 

was a tough but a Iife­
changing one. In addition to a light­
ning quick mind and lawyering at a 
high level, I probably would never 
have gone into without be­
ing pushed by WOD. He probably was 
not pleased when I visited at Harvard, 
though he never said so. Maybe the 
fact that Vern 

helped. To cap it all 
ilege of the Justice. He 
came to my office in Tucson during 
February, pulled out a speeding ticket 
he got from a Patrolman 
outside Yuma, on the way 
back from California. All he said was, 
"He can't prove it. He was d"nnc·ti 

heading in the other direction 

a ticket to another driver. He flagged 
me down and when challenged on my 
speed, said that he knew I was 
ing from the whine my car was 
making." I said I would talk to the 

JP. Here ensued a correspon­

dence which WOD's IJ"",IU'''' 
on the Court was never mentioned. Fi­
nally, the JP in would admon­

ish my client that henceforth when he 
was in he must obey all the 
traffic laws. I reported to the Justice 
that he was duly admonished. His to­
tal was a $50 check. 

::....:..::::=...::==(1974 Term) commented: 

He invited us to his house for 
and we had lunch with him at the Uni-

Club a couple of times. Just 
a few days before his WOD 

and came to a at 
Don Kelley'S apartment, which was 
a modest third floor walk up 
on Hill. It was a scene, 
with the big black court car up 
at this humble address and the Great 
Man walking up the stairs to out 

with his law clerks. I think he had 
mellowed a lot by the time we knew 
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him, partly due to age and partly due 

to Cathy's influence. Of course, for 

the second half of our clerkship he 
was ill and often in the hospital. My 

favorite memory was the time---early 

in the Term-when he gave me a draft 

majority opinion and asked me to fill 

in the citations and footnotes and then 

send it to the printer. I worked fever­

ishly for several days and completely 

reorganized the opinion. I was really 

proud of it because I felt that, without 

changing the substance, I had done 
an excellent editing job in addition 

to adding the authorities. I sent it to 
the printer, and before it came back 

a clerk from the prior year, Ira Ell­

man, stopped by to see how we were 

doing. I told him about my efforts, 

and he said, "Boy, are you in trou­

ble." I sweated it out for a few days, 

and then the Justice buzzed me in one 

day. He was holding the printed opin­

ion, and he said, "Mr. Austin, I can 
see that you did a great deal of work 

on this." "Yes sir," I replied. "Well," 

he went on, "if and when you are ever 

appointed to the Supreme Court then 

you can write the opinions. But in the 

meantime, I will write the opinions." 

He wasn't angry at all. Actually he 

was very kind about it, but of course 

I had to start over and do what he had 

asked me to do in the first place. I still 
think my version was better! 

Dennis Brown (1970 Term) commented: 

We were invited to his home on two 

occasions during the clerkship, on 
New Years Eve and for dinner with 

the ambassador from Yugoslavia. He 

spoke to our wives during those 

events, but not to me. During the 72 

Term (I believe) there was a clerk's re­

union which included a brunch at his 

house on Sunday. During that event, 

we spoke casually for about 10 min­

utes which, I believe, exceeded the to­

tal time of all our conversations dur­

ing my clerkship. It was not a per­

sonally rewarding time, but who says 

great men have to be nice. His impact 

was enormous and needed. 

Carol Bruch (1972 Term): In the 1972 Term, 

WOD returned to a two-clerk arrangement, 

having had three clerks the previous year. For 

roughly the first half of the Term, Carol Bruch 

and Janet Wright clerked alone, often working 

eighty hours a week or more. Because the Jus­
tice did not trust the cert pool, the two had to 

spend the vast majority of their time prepar­

ing cert memos. Bruch reports that the Jus­

tice voted in accord with Bruch's recommen­

dations at a much higher rate than previous 

clerks had said was necessary to remain in his 

good graces. Early in the Term, when WOO 

sent Bruch a note from conference saying, "I 

will dissent in 72-xxx," she thought it was nice 

of him to tell her of his plans, but had no idea 

that this was a signal that she should prepare 

a draft opinion. So, there was none when the 

Justice later asked for it, to their mutual con­
sternation. Nevertheless, not long thereafter, 

WOD asked her to prepare a per curiam opin­

ion that he used as drafted. Bruch also did some 

drafting of dissents. As to the workings of the 

office, she notes: 

Janet [Wright] was a wonderful co­

clerk. For example, we had been told 

that the Judge (who said the rule was 

that the person who wrote the cert 

memo was the person who would stay 

with that case to conclusion) would 

sometimes begin to discuss a case 

with a clerk who had not written 

the memo. We decided to correct the 

Judge if he ever tried this with us (I 

think Janet should take credit for the 
thought). Indeed, Janet, to her credit, 

when called in (by buzzer) on one 

of "my" cases, said, "That's Carol's 

case, Mr. Justice. Would you like me 

to call her?" As I recall, that response 
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worked on 

til Peter Kreindler, who joined us as a 
third clerk late in the arrived and 

went his own way. 

Bruch also noted that "[tJhe [asked] me 
to pay attention to the FELA cases, because he 

suspected the Court was inappropriately 

~~U0VH'p., what had been described to 
her by former clerks as the pattern 

of coming down particularly hard on married 

she said, "When I arrived as the Court's 
first parent, I was his target. Or 

he just picked the person he thought would 

be strong to take it." The Justice at­

tempted some sort of apology to her for his 

conduct at one stating: "I you 

think I am not civil. There is nothing per­

sonal in what I say or do-this is the 

and tumble of the .law as it is practiced in 
courthouses across the nation." Although Nan 

Burgess advised the clerks to work in 

the office for a while if they were 

ever " none of them suffered this 

and Bruch later learned that the Justice had 

written a favorable reference when she 

for a position. She also noted that 

she had a relationship with Douglas's 

wife, Cathy, whom Bruch considered intelli­
gent, gracious, kind, and thoughtful. 

Although Justice invited each of 

her co-clerks to an individual event 
the 1972 Term-a New Year's party for Pe­

ter Kreindler and a concert for Janet Wright­

and invited them both to a dinner at his 

home while Cathy was out of town, Bruch was 

not invited to any event outside the Court with 
the Justice other than a garden at 

the end of which she did not attend, al­
though her co-clerks did. did have a 

drink once or twice with his clerks in Cham­

bel'S on a Friday afternoon and at 

one of these occasions, when asked about his 

number 

I seem to have a lot to say." 

Bruch concluded her comments by stat­

"1 have benefited all my professional life 

from this but I have an sad­

ness that the year was so marred 
by the unkindness." She took many of 

the pictures of the 2003 Law Clerks' Reunion 

that appear with this article. 

James (1964 Term) noted that 
he was invited to WOO's home for dinner and 

on the C&O hike. He commented "I never at 

any time saw any signs of the Justice's heavy 

noted by Posner in his New Re­

==-:::=.:c:= ( I 962 commented: 

I had a very good relation with Dou­

glas. We had a drink after work many, 

many my poor wife 

and kids waited in the Beetle out­

side the court. We had lunch together 

many We went out to din­

ner and hiked. He never fired me 

or even chewed me out. The clos­
est he ever came to that was when 

he threw about 10 pages I had writ­

ten into the trash "I 
these opinions, I'll write them." 

the case, but it was one of 

that 

necessary to 
a way that would be to lower 

courts and lawyers. We talked about 

other 

the court a better court. In 

had a time-worked my ass 

as one clerk, over 4000 certs, etc., 
opinions, one three 

speeches. 
We didn't have many earth­

shaking issues my out 
race cases, some cases applying the 

Bm of to the states, a couple 

ofschool motions-so there were not 

very many reasons to talk about the 
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role of the court and judicial philos­
ophy. But it was clear to me that the 
court work was low on his list of in­
terests. One at lunch I recounted 
to him a conversation I had overheard 
between Harlan and a couple ofother 
Justices returned from sum­
mer recess. Harlan "I've been 
back only three and it seems like 
I've been here for years." Douglas 
said words to the "The first 
five years were great; all the great is­
sues came before the court and I had 
to decide how I felt about them and 
how I would vote. The second five 
years were also because the is­
sues came around and I to 
reconsider my views and decide what 
I After that it was bor­

as helL After fifteen years it was 
just great tedium." I asked him why 
he didn't and do anything else 
while he was still young to do 
it. He said, and I will never forget it, 
even though I the retired Jus­
tice's name--former Solicitor Gen­
eral who had an office in the 
court-UNo one ever invites Justice 

Reed to diolomatic dinners. 

,.,ctAnh",r (1949 noted that he 

Justice returned to the Court from his conva­
lescence, and commented: 

As you probably recall, my own time 
as a clerk for Justice in the 
1949 Term was unusual. On October 
I, on the eve ofhis return to the 
he was severely In a 
accident and was unable to return to 
the Court until after the winter recess. 

the time he was away, I contin­
ued to write memoranda on the certs 
and other petitions, about t"Jj~nr\J_t 

each week as I recall, and sent them to 
him wherever he was 

E COURT HISTORY 

In addition to the certs, Justice 
gave me an as-

his absence. He was 
to work on his Al­

manac of Liberty. He asked me to 
try to write episodes for several 
and then after I had done a he 
asked me, as I recall, to try to \-vrite an 

for each day in the month of 
I would send him drafts of four 

or five at a time and they would 
come back to me with very extensive 
green ink revisions allover the drafts. 
His revisions were not only fascinat­

but contained valuable lessons in 
When the book 

came out, four years later, the Jus­
tice commented in the forward: "The 
result is that I have preserved only 
a fraction of the extensive research 
which Mercedes H. Davidson headed, 
and to which Warren M. Christopher, 
James E William O. Dou­

and Rowland F. Kirks made 
important contributions." 

my relationship with 
the Justice was far from avuncular, 
I did not have any of the bad expe­
riences that other clerks are said to 
have had. I was very young and green, 
and made more than my share ofmis­
takes. I recall on one occasion that 
when I had mis-cited a FTC case in 
some work I was for him on a 
Sherman Act opinion, he caught the 
error and looked up at me with those 
clear blue eyes and "Christo­
pher, I on you to an extent that 
you may not realize." That was all. 

At the end of my clerk-
it took me several to screw 

up my courage to go into his office 
and ask his advice about my future. 
He looked me, then re­
sponded, uGet out into the stream 
of history and swim as fast as you 
can." 
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After I left the Jus­
tice Douglas was kind 
and generous to me. When I vis­
ited Washington, he invited me on 
several occasions to take lunch with 
him in his Chambers. He also wrote 
generous letters on my behalf with­
out any from me for 

the letter at page 257 of 

Melvin I. Urofsky, The Douglas Let­
ters [1987]). 

~'::!!.!~~~c!. 1973 Term) commented: "We 
ate dinner with WOD once in a Georgetown 
restaurant and once at his home the 

year. I visited his Chambers once the 
next year with my girlfriend and we had tea 
with the Justice." 

-'-'-'-=~== (1956 Term) commented 
that he "had lunch with WOD, most Satur­

days across the street from the Court in the 
Methodist and my wife and I were 
invited to the Justice's birthday party soon 
after his return to Washington." He also noted 
that "I was fired once. The secretaries assured 
me that I should it, and the Justice would 
forget it. He did. I viewed the first month or so 
as a rigorous trial period which, thank I 

James F. Jr. (1953 com­
mented: "There was a fair amount ofsocializa­
tion with Mercedes and the Justice the 

October Term 1953, but were both aware 
that Pat and I had a very young son and that 
our was somewhat limited. It was 
a fairly quiet Term except for the segregation 

cases, but I was in the dark about 
as were most of the clerks." 

~~'-== (1959 noted that he 
socialized frequently with WOD, including 
dinners at the Justice's Redskins games, 
lunch most at the Methodist Club, 
and a hike on the C&O Canal. In later years, 
they had lunch a few times in once 
in New Haven, and attended several overnight 
C&O hikes. He commented: 

I guess I had a close relation­

ship with WOD in comparison to that 
of many other but the 
thing that pass for warmth oc­
curred away from the Court. When 
he was at he treated me like a 
machine. He did try to get me some 

graduate fellowships and 
and was 

ble for my getting my teaching 
at Yale. any 
interest in me or my family and never 
told me I did a on anything. I 
knew I was doing well when he didn't 
fire me. When my wife met him on 
social occasions at his he was 

charming to her. She was very 
of the stories I told about his 

aloofness. Mercedes was very warm 
and of both of us. 

=..=::c== (1973 Term) commented: 

We [three law clerks 1all arrived at 
the beginning of the summer, and be­
gan the ritual of sending cert peti­
tions with our memos 
to him every week in Goose Prairie. 

We would package them up with great 
care, warned the secretaries that he 

would be if there was a 
untaped anywhere on the box. 
They would come back to us stuffed 
helter-skelter in a mail sack. 
We would extract our memos, which 
would contain much comment 
by WOO, that every week 

there would be some marked "dissent 
from denial." We took this to mean 
that he wanted us to draft an 
dissenting from the anticipated denial 
of certiorari, and so we began draft-

As the summer wore on the num­
ber ofdraft dissents began to mount. I 
don't recall now but I'm sure 
it was well more than 100 of them, 
perhaps closer to 200 by the end 



310 JOURNAL OF SU E HISTORY 

of the summer, we thought he meant 

us to draft It felt like 2000. It was 

an extraordinarily busy summer and 

as WOD's anticipated fall return drew 

close we became nearly frantic in our 

efforts. 

I think it was the huge pile of 

draft from denial 

that start. We 

will never know whether he hadn't 

realized how many he had asked us 

or whether we had misun­

that he was just scribbling 

down a note of what he intended to 

do, and hadn't meant us to draft 

an opinion. I do think he issued more 

Opll110nS from denial of 

cert that fall than he ever had 

but not nearly as many as we had writ­

ten. the first he would 

call each of us to his office from time 

note 

his dissent The rest of the year was 

felton va­

cation ever since-and often tense. 

But for the most he seemed to 

have some confidence in us. 

1was fired once. There was a Sat­

urday on which J needed 

to get some time to do an errand with 

my wife that couldn't be done on Sun­

day. WOD often left on Sat­

urday, and once he we all could. 

So I had told my wife I could 

bly meet up with her the after-

continued on and 

he wasn't I conferred wi th 

Dick and Mike and decided 

to take my chances. Of course, not 

after I he buzzed for me. 

I was, if I recall, one-buzz, but our 

joint hope was that it would be fine if 

Dick or Mike answered the one-buzz 

call instead. No such luck. For what­

ever reason, at that moment it was 

me he I no longer remem­

ber why. and I wasn't there. Odd Iy, 

I also no remember how 

my tiring was communicated to me, 

but it was. I wrote a humble apology 

and 

my note was never 

after a bit my presence once again 

was, and the worst was over. I prob­

ably earned some slack with WOO 

over Christmas. He to work 

December and it was clear to us 

that he would, as others 

to work when he did. I was the only 

Jewish clerk that year, and Christ­

mas had no to 

me, so I volunteered to cover while 

Dick and Mike took time. We 

this had all been cleared with WOD 

ahead of but there 

was some confusion. He seemed sur­

prised when I was there on the 24th to 

help him with a 

Merry Christmas." I 

he was impressed 

We almost never went to oral ar­

gument because we knew the 

of his objections to clerks 

their time that way; ifwe did, we made 

use ofthe Douglas pillar. We ate lunch 

with the other clerks in the clerks' 

lunch room all the time, and I have 

no idea how anyone got the idea that 

he didn't allow that. Those lunches 

with my fellow clerks one of 

the I loved about that year. 

We did not much socialize with 

him outside of Chambers. He did in­

vite us to lunch on a very occasional 

and he once had us to din­

ner at his house, but it seemed a very 

formal occasion. None of us, to my 
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knowledge, ever had the boldness to 
invite him. But I do remember one so­

cial occasion very fondly. I remained 

In for the year following 

my clerkship, working on the HilL I 
had taken the California bar in sum­

mer after the and was offi­
admitted in the late faiL I asked 

WOD if he would swear me into the 

California bar and he That 

);"-''''C1CU, with my wife, in his office. 

WOD was at his best and 
were ofcourse thrilled. He 

in posing for my 

wife took of him with my parents and 

myself. It was a very nice occasion 

and whatever I 
my parents were he 
was a very nice man indeed. Those 

shots of him, which J still have on 
my wall at home and in my 

were the last photos of him before his 
which he had just a few 

later in December while on vacation 

in, iff recall correctly, the Caribbean. 

I brought one of them with me when 

J visited him at the Rusk Institute 

in New York where he was receiv­

rehabilitation months and 
he it for me then, with some 

from 

lunches on dinners Friday 

nights dinner once at the Justice's 

home, and a hike (and the night be-

on the C&O Canal. After the he 
saw WOD and Cathy quite often~whenever 

he was in Washington and a few times in San 

Francisco. 

David 1938 Term) noted that he 
didn't socialize with WOD the Term. 

he spent most of the summer with 

him and his family at a summer home on a St. 

Lawrence River island. Years later, after Office 

of Price Administration and the Anny, he saw 

him often and walked with him frequently, and 

spoke by Those 
hikes were Ginsburg's first since 

Grossman (1954 Term) noted that 
he socialized with WOD both during and af­

ter his While a law he was 

invited to dinner at WOD's apartment 
and had lunch with him at his club. Near the 

end of his the Justice invited him 

taken. "We went out to 

the Court and he 

took some photos of me with the Court in the 
background. I kept at least one as a memento 

of my clerkship." After his he saw 

the Justice from time to time when he was in 

the L.A. area. For example, he recalls WOD 

at their home and 

him and others for a hike in a 
forest near L.A. 

noted that he 
went on the canal several other hikes, 

and to WOD's house both fora of small 

dinners and for at least two parties . .Iacob com­
mented: "One left out was whether 

WOD ever fired a clerk that he 

or she should quit or ask if the clerk had gone 

to law during the first week of employ­

ment." Bernie said the answer for him was yes, 

and itmeantabadweekend. he added 

that in the he thought he had an amiable 
relationship with WOD23 

=='-"'-"..=== (1971 noted that 

after a that lasted a 

couple of months at most, he took us 

to lunch at Jimmy's on quite 
a few and invited us to din­

ner at his house on a number of occa­
sions. He also invited us to join him 

and Cathy on the C&O canal and 
even gave the three ofus a pint 

of Scotch to share as we camped out 

the before. After the 

I saw him and Cathy a few times prior 

to his stroke, but I was law 

in LA between '73 and '77 (when I 
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returned to DC to work at the SEC), 
and thus did not see him often. Af­
ter the stroke, invited me to the 
house a number of times, and I was 
with Cathy and WOO in the hospital 
when he died. 

Jacobson commented: "I think my year was 
one of the in terms of the clerks' relation­
ship with WOO, but I was still vir­

every minute of every day, that I would 
make a fatal mistake and be fired. I wasn't 
afraid of WOO's gruff demeanor-I took it 
with a of salt, and actually it amused me. 
But I was not confident that my work product 
would be up to his and slaved over 

I did for him. none of his 
clerks ever had a tougher no matter what 

did in later life, and that was true 
of me." Jacobson's account of "The Shower" 
follows as Appendix 8. 

Donald E. (1974 noted that 
there were several very nice social occasions 

the (and might have been 
more had WOO not suffered his stroke in mid­
Term). He remembers at least one lovely dinner 
at the when Jerry Falk was in 
town to argue the Faretta case, and one 
dinner at a French restaurant with Cathy, WOO, 
clerks and staff around the time of WOO's 
birthday. He thought the Justice also took his 
clerks to lunch at his "club" at least once, prob­
ably on a Saturday. may have had a walk 
or two along the Potomac or the Canal, but 
it was certainly not a regular occurrence. He 
believes WOO and Cathy also put in a brief 
appearance at a "cookies & punch" Christmas 
party at his very spartan law-clerk's apartment 
in an old brownstone on Capitol Hill SE (his 
roommate was velY impressed). On these so­
cial occasions, he recalls WOO reminiscing at 

length about his in Washing­
ton in the the early years on the 
favorite he had made (including a sum­
mer or two with Kurdish tribes in Turkey or 
Iraq), international relations. and sundry other 

The Justice could be auite charming 

and relaxed on such occasions, in contrast to 
the rather formal that prevailed in 
Chambers work hours. Since WOO's 
stroke occurred mid-Term and his retirement 
not there were 
very few opportunities for 
clerkship. 

Kelley also commented: 

I think each of us came in for a 
few notes or comments during 
the Term (I recall one note inform-

me that Black would be 
rolling over in his grave if he could 
see one piece of analysis that 
WOO as particularly out­
rageous on my but I think it's 
also possible WOO had mellowed a 
bit by 1974 since there were occa­
sions when he certainly could have 
come down on us harder than he did. 
For example, I recall scrambling to 

an overnight sent out to 
Goose Prairie while WOO was there 
during the break between the end of 
the 1973 Term and the special ar­
gument session for the Nixon 
case; air courier service was in its in­
fancy, at best, and it was neither easy 
nor cheap to accomplish but I 
knew WOO was in a to get 

and I was sure the con­
sequences would be dire if he didn't 
get it. I later heard that he 
asked the 
to let me send him any more 
packages because it cost far too much 
when I did, but he never took me to 
task directly on the We did 

see the twinkle that Tom 
mentioned, even in the of­

fice setting. 1974, the clerks' of­
fice in Chambers was lined 
floor to with bookshelves and 
volumes of case reports. I recall once 

cI imbed on my desk to reach a 
volume on the shelf, whereupon 
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I remained on the desk to 
review whatever case I was 
(seemed more convenient than climb-

down to read and back up 
to the volume). My 

colleagues told me, with great de-
that WOD wandered in the door, 

found himself at a of 
knees or shins, did a very slow pan 
up to the head (buried in a volume 
of u.s. Reports), cocked an eyebrow 
and walked out, de­
cided that the ofaclerk standing 
on top ofhis desk to read was npr'h"l~~ 
unusual but not 

~~::.::...:~,:~~~(l961 Term) noted that dur­
WOD took him to Wash-

Redskins football games-WOD could 
pick Klitgaard up at the go to the game, 
have a few hot dogs, and come back to the 
Court. He had seats next to the 

Chief of Staff. WOD invited 

he saw WOD on 
various occasions when WOD came to the 
Area, had WOD to his home, and had dinner 
out with WOD in Oakland and San 
sometimes with wife and some­
times alone. Klitgaard also saw WOD on a 
number ofoccasions in Washington, and WOD 
invited and his wife to Goose Prairie 
shortly after the Justice married Cathy. For a 
number of years, WOD would call and ask 
Klitgaard and his son to come back to Wash-

to see the RedskinslDallas 
Cowboys football game, and they would then 
visit at WOD's home. also com­
mented: "I saw a person who was kind in a 
quiet way and never took of any­
one. I saw someone who was generous to oth­
ers with his time and particularly with tickets to 
events and who had a twinkle in his eye. I also 
saw someone who gave me some great com­
ments, such as 'beaten paths for beaten men' 

and that is fear.' I 
like him because he was, in my view, a real 
man's man and because he knew what it was 
like to be under someone's 
or otherwise. I saw a great deal of compas­
sion which he showed in many ways. He never 
used his intellect as a but rather as 
a scalpel, and was kind to people who were 
honest and hard." 

-=-=-=--:=-=== (1972 Term) commented: 

I had an 
year clerking for the 

gained experience that has served me 
well for the years that I 
have law since the c1erk­

While the Justice was all busi­
ness in Chambers, I had an excellent 

with him on a profes­
sional In part because I in­
variably completed my work on time 
and always remembered that he, not 
I, was the Justice. The Justice never 
failed to hear or understand com­
ments or of his clerks, 
and rnever made the mistake ofcom­
ing back a second time on an issue. 
Unl ike other Chambers, all ofthe ma-

opinions (literally) 
the Justice were with one excep­
tion. I drafted the final opin­
ion of the year in a complex adminis­
trative law case with multiple issues 
arising from the Act. 
I also drafted a number of dissenting 
opinions. The majority of my time, 

was 
to him on cert 
Cathy, who had completed law 
school, much to the dismay of the 
Justice, with the final crush 
the night before Conference. I mar­
veled at his encyclopedic knowledge 
of Court precedent and the 
alacrity with which he wrote 
ions. He never suffered from writer's 

and was able to express himself 
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and always main­
taining his belief that the Court had a 

in shaping critical pol­
icy to constitutional values 
and individual A "strict con­
structionist" he was not. He truly was 
an intellectual giant. Unlike in Cham­

and 
gregarious 
sense of humor. My 
I several at his home or 
elsewhere with the Justice and Cathy 
and fIiends or The most 
memorable occasion was brunch at 
the Fortas's home on New Year's 
974. I maintained a with 

him after my clerkship. 
Jaw with and I 

had lunch with him, while 
on the Court and after he 

after his stroke. In 
for the Justice was one of 

the most valued of my 
and I was proud to serve as one 

of his pallbearers alone with David 

HU"~ ~ ...~v (1950 Term) noted that he never 
had lunch with or hiked with the Justice, but 
that after his he and his wife Helen 
did see the Justice on maybe three occasions 

(1966 Term) 
2007) commented: 

It was a dream year for me, probably 
attributable to the Justice's new maf­

to Cathy Douglas, which was a 
for both of them. I had heard 

terrible stories and my courage was 
screwed up to take it no matter what 
he could throw at me. The 1966 Term 
was the Term that Justice Brennan let 
Mike go after it "came out" that 
he had been active in anti-war affairs 
at Berkeley. 

So there was a gloom 
over the or at least me. (Bren­

nan's Chambers were next Dur­
the surruner, was usual, the 

cert memos were shiooed off to him 
by Nan and was in the sec­
ond his 
driver. would rather have a driver 
than a second law prac-

I thought, and for me in a 
way). When I got the word 

from Nan that the Justice wOllld be 
coming in the next day, I got little 

that night. 
The next afternoon in he breezed 

with Mrs. Cathy both all 
smiles and energy. It was that 
way for the rest of the Term. The 
time he me is when I knew I 
should be jumped. I was citing a ease 
and thought I knew it 
I a moment about whether it 
was a "See" or " thought about 
reading the case and, without 
the case, went for the stronger form. 
He called me into the office and in 
a voice I had not heard and 
would not hear told me how 
sloppy that was. I told him I 
Of course he had been there when it 
was decided many years ago so he had 
a bit of an advantage. But I should 
have read the case, rather than COllnt­

on what was obviollsly my defec­
tive recollection. That was the end of 
i1. And I learned a powerful lesson. 
Now that is not to say it a party. 
It was all all with 
complete focus and concentration in 
Chambers and work. He was 
formal during the work hOllrs. Not 
prone to small ta Ik. Professional. Li ke 
a large New York law firm, old style. 

I learned his 
. which was I 

and quite llseful. conversational, 
like a person talking to 
another person. Not for opm­
ions, but also for articles, 
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and books. fast, very thorough, 

plowing a lot of resources 

as he went. Fast, but the only 

increased the care and I 
learned that you did not have to daw­

dle to be precise. I tried to duplicate 

the methodology and the style. 

He did allow me to write a 
few first drafts. More than I had been 

told he would. When writing them 
the was to write the way he 

did, in and in form. And 
to get them out quickly, while I had 

the chance. He was a very fast writer. 
His influence me not to daw­

dle, and get a credible first draft 

out fast. He was the 

the boss. On one or two occasions, 

I tried 

,-,,,,'P,1r,,,, that my function was 

not to aid him in his 

judicial philosophy, but to aid him in 

his firmly held and 
them just a mite. I also 

of includ­

one that is still ap­

plicable today, "The Two Faces of the 
Law." 

Once or twice a week we would 

go out to lunch, to the Methodist cafe­
teria next door or a place over on 

E street, I think Jimmy's, that had 

subs. In the after 
five, we would sometimes have a rum 

and coke, and he would talk about 

the Court years, the FDR years, some 

of his favorites like Justice Frank­

furter (ho ho), his Wall Street years, 

including the SEC stint, foreign af­
fairs, like Israel a nation 

I asked him "there" he 

asked me where I thought the new/old 

or old/new nation should and a 

of other over which he 

could skim and then go in for 

the jugular at incredible depth. I was 
free to lunch with the other clerks but 

did not have the time to do so. 

In a way I regret that now. Nor did I 

see an argument before the Court un­

til 1976 when I went to DC with my 
six-year-old son for the Bicentennial. 

The remembers the 

Justice for his fearless defense of the 
individual against any untoward gov­

ernmental intrusion. They as­

sociate that with his civil liberties 
positions. But he was also deeply 

in business. Because of his 
Yale teaching his chair­

manShip of the authorship of 
a text book on business 

and involvement 

important social areas, he knew a 

surprising amount about business. I 
did not fully comprehend it then be­

But I did 

and busi­

ness career, now I do. And, he sure 
knew a lot more about federal taxa­

tion than] did. His career and his in­

fluence pointed me in the direction of 

held corporation. 

I remember once to dis­
cuss an antitrust case with him. I had 

been an econ and 

in law school continued to steep my­

self in economics and business, con­
tinuing to read a lot in those areas. 

So I thought I was ... knowledgeable 

and to date. I started off with 
the economic of 

and WOD started to ask questions and 

then hold forth as if he were back 
It was clear 

even he had not been 

in academia for some he had 

a wellspring of knowledge and was 

pretty current. 

What was it like to discuss 

[c ]onstitutionallaw with him? Really 

By the time I clerked for him 
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he had been on the Court for 
seven years. He knew the cases cold. 
With a lot of the cases up, 
he had "make" the then ap­
plicable law, and was now deciding 

if at all, it would be changed. 
The case would not be before the 
Court if all was well as is. That was 
a unique It gave me a 
huge amount of freedom later on I 

learned not to approach all things as 
" but to and probe 

to see if there was a better answer. 
precedent and stability are im­

. but a lack can lead 
to huge instability as the pressure on 
the tectonic plates a pres­
sure that is then suddenly unleashed 
in chaotic and uncontrollable 
Justice Douglas had the wisdom, 

and the tem­
perament to always be auestioni 
whether And the 
prudence to know when the time for 

was not 
with him over the death penalty were 
typical. (Our only source 
ment; my opinion was not 
really And he listened.) 

of course, went on the C&O 
canal hike (I had been told to 
hiking shoes for me and my wife), 
and one or two warm-ups, and went to 
the Justice's house for dinner a couple 
times. We also had he and Mrs. Dou­

to our small, walk-down apart­
ment near the and Linda 
cooked. It was fun and not as 
uptight as one He called 
me "Merrifield." I called him "Mr. 

" And 
Mrs. UVUgll1:> uvugll1:>." My 
wife went on the peace march 
with Mrs. if I on 

which was quite 
and for me who had 

been opposed to the war. 

I noted that he did not go. I 
whatever his reasons were. The Jus­
tice's comments on the war were in-

and very fully well 
balanced, and firmly as usual. 
And he was also aware of the uncer­
tainties that any future might hold. 

I learned a tremendous amount 
from this man. How far the human 
intellect can go if tested; the breadth 
and of subjects that can be 
fathomed. I learned about writing 
so that people can understand-not 

lawyers, but real people. This 
was summed up to me one after­
noon when I treated to a 
shoeshine in the Court. The propri­
etor of the shoeshine stand had been 
there for many years and had seen 
many Justices come and go. While 
we were the time, he asked 
me "Do you know the difference be­
tween your judge and the others?" I 
responded "No." He said "I can un­
derstand his opinions." 

Our Justice was frequently criti­
cized for not scholarly 
for not writing opinions filled with 

cites and the like. But his 
had a a and a 

meter that made some of them almost 
like poetry that touched the heart and 
the whose lives were 
affected. frequently cried for 
justice. And they were well reasoned 
and well supported. were writ­
ten by a man who had an incredi­
ble range of human pv ..""r.,,,"""'c to 
draw upon, experiences from his ex­
tensive from his 
wide range of associates and friends, 
and experience from his inveterate 

over a range of sub­
maters. WOD had a rare com­

bination of intellectual ability, 
searching curiosity, immense energy, 

formed core values and beliefs, 
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and the ability to bravely out in 
defense of what he thought the Con­

stitution required, frequently willing 
to suffer the harsh winds of popular 
opinion. 

It seems to me that that is what 
you want in an Associate Justice of 
the U.S. Supreme Court, as much as 
a of the "law." An 

exposure to that is clearly what I 
needed at that time in my business and 

career. I will always be thankful 
to him for ir, 

=~~=(1958 commented: 

During the Term I lunched 
with the Justice (and sometimes Jus­
tice Stewart) on usually 
but not always at the Methodist Build­
ing cafeteria. He invited me to his 
home on holidays, and I came to know 
his wife Mercedes 
as she was frequently at the Court. I 
did not more, and did 
not feel that I was being Af­

ter leaving the Court (and no doubt 
because I remained in Washington) I 
saw the Justice socially from time to 

and he was cordial 
(though never entirely easy to con­
verse with). 

In general, I found the Justice 
somewhat distant most of the time 
and not easy to talk to. At the same 

I was able to establish a 

working relationship with him. He 
was intensely interested in what was 
going on in the other Chambers and 
what the other Justices thought about 
pending matters, but was loath to en­
gage in the kind of lobbying that 
Frankfurter did. By 

to 
the Justice what I learned about their 
doings and thinking, I was able to 
establish a rapport with him that he 
seemed to think was worthwhile. 

While the Justice did not invite 
reactions on the substance ofhis draft 
opinions, on those occasions when I 
offered them he listened without un­
due exasperation. I learned quickly, 

nO'Ne'/er. that when he responded to a 
point by "that's the argument 
on the other side" that it was time 
to shut up. Later in the Term I was 

asked to draft one majority opinion 
(in a case that had dropped 
the cracks and that the Justice offered 
to write to help the Court clean up 
the docket) and one or two dissents. 
Needless to say, they were thoroughly 
revised the Justice before 
released. 

I was never fired by the Justice. 
The most moment came 
in connection with an assignment to 
draft a dissent in a case involving a 
civil search ofprivate home (by a 
rat inspector) without a warrant. I was 

the hard going, 
and had made little progress in sev­
eral days after the 
ment(though I had succeeded in 

a number of old pre:ce(lenrs 

The Justice was obviously impatient 
wi th my lack and directed 
me with some to 
him the materials I had ""I-l1plr",/1 In 
less than two days, working with the 
kind of intensity that he was capa­
ble of generating, he one 
of the more brilliant dissents I have 
ever read. That is not just my assess­
ment. The initial vote in the case was 
8-1, but after the dissent was circu­
lated three other Justices sent around 
notes saying that they were switching 
their votes to the and a 
fourth Justice announced he was re­
considering his vote. The latter move 
sent the author of the majority 
ion (Frankfurter) into a oflob­

that went on for some time and 
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and the ability to bravely step out in 
defense of what he thought the Con­

stitution required, frequently willing 

to suffer the harsh winds of popular 
opinIOn. 

It seems to me that that is what 
you want in an Associate Justice of 

the U.S. Supreme Court, as much as 
a deep understanding ofthe "law." An 

exposure to that gift is clearly what I 
needed at that time in my business and 

legal career. I will always be thankful 

to him for it. 

Charles Miller (1958 Term) commented: 

During the Term I lunched regularly 

with the Justice (and sometimes Jus­

tice Stewart) on Saturdays, usually 

but not always at the Methodist Build­
ing cafeteria. He invited me to his 

home on hoi idays, and I came to know 

his wife Mercedes reasonably well , 
as she was frequently at the Court. I 

did not expect more, and certainly did 
not feel that I was being ignored. Af­

ter leaving the Court (and no doubt 

because I remained in Washington) I 

saw the Justice socially from time to 

time, and he was invariably cordial 
(though never entirely easy to con­

verse with). 
In general, I found the Justice 

somewhat distant most of the time 
and not easy to talk to. At the same 

time, I was able to establish a good 

working relationship with him. He 

was intensely interested in what was 

going on in the other Chambers and 
what the other Justices thought about 

pending matters, but was loath to en­
gage in the kind of lobbying that 
Frankfurter did. By spending time 

with the other clerks and relaying to 

the Justice what I learned about their 

doings and thinking, I was able to 

establish a rapport with him that he 

seemed to think was worthwhile. 

While the Justice did not invite 

reactions on the substance of his draft 
opinions, on those occasions when I 

offered them he listened without un­
due exasperation. I learned quickly, 

however, that when he responded to a 
point by saying "that's the argument 

on the other side" that it was time 

to shut up. Later in the Term I was 

asked to draft one majority opinion 

(in a case that had dropped through 
the cracks and that the Justice offered 

to write to help the Court clean up 
the docket) and one or two dissents. 

Needless to say, they were thoroughly 
revised by the Justice before being 

released. 

I was never fired by the Justice. 

The most distressing moment came 
in connection with an assignment to 

draft a dissent in a case involving a 
civil search ofprivate home (by a city 

rat inspector) without a warrant. I was 

finding the assignment hard going, 
and had made little progress in sev­

eral days after receiving the assign­

ment (though I had succeeded in gath­

ering a number of old precedents). 
The Justice was obviously impatient 

with my lack ofprogress, and directed 

me with some asperity to bring to 
him the materials I had gathered. In 
less than two days, working with the 

kind of intensity that he was capa­

ble of generating, he produced one 

of the more brilliant dissents I have 

ever read. That is not just my assess­
ment. The initial vote in the case was 

8-1, but after the dissent was circu­

lated three other Justices sent around 
notes saying that they were switching 
their votes to join the dissent, and a 

fourth Justice announced he was re­

considering his vote. The latter move 

sent the author of the majority opin­
ion (Frankfurter) into a frenzy oflob­

bying that went on for some time and 
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which drove the wavering Justice to 

distraction. In the end, he decided 

to concur in the Frankfurter opinion, 

though a few years later the Court re­

visited the issue and adopted the Dou­

glas dissent as the majority position. 

As for my failure to produce anything 

useful, the Justice never mentioned 

the matter again. 

I was assigned a ridiculous re­

search project- to review and cate­

gorize every case decided under the 

14th Amendment. My predecessor, 

Chuck Rickershauser, had the duty 

of giving me the assignment, and he 

counseled me that I ought not take the 

request literally. In fact, though I took 

a brief pass at trying to organize the 

project 1 never got very far on it, and 

the Justice never mentioned it during 

the entire Term. 

William Norris (1955 Term) commented: 

I did not expect my year clerking for 

Douglas to be an easy one, and it 

wasn't. There was little time for any­

thing but work, which was particu­

larly hard on my wife and three young 

children. That said, it was a very good 

year, both personally and profession­

ally. My relationship with the Justice 

was much closer and warmer than I 

was led to believe it would be. I re­

call only one barbed exchange. Once 

while he was on the Bench drafting a 

dissent and 1 was in my office work­

ing (I don't remember ever being in 

the courtroom during argument), I re­

ceived a note instructing me to check 

out a point of law. In my reply note, I 

cautiously tried to persuade him that 

he was wrong by citing a treatise on 

evidence. His reply: "I don't take my 

law from Wigmore." Game over. 

Otherwise, I was never discour­

aged from telling him what I thought. 

I soon learned that it was not his style 

to talk through problems, as I always 

liked to do with my own law clerks. I 

noticed that he liked to edit his draft 

opinions by attaching what he called 

"riders." I said to myself, why don't J 
prepare riders and offer them to him 

one at a time. He seemed to be re­

ceptive to the idea. Either he tossed 

them into the waste basket without 

comment, stapled them to the draft 

opinion without comment, or, on oc­

casion, talk about them. Once when 

I had what 1 feared was an excessive 

number of riders, he noticed that I be­

gan to hold back in offering them. He 

looked me straight in the eye and said, 

"You are never to hold back. I always 

want to hear what you have to say." 

That was very comforting for a still­

terrified young law clerk. 

Stan Sparrow and other fonner 

clerks told me not to have any ex­

pectations about writing first drafts 

of opinions. Cert memos, yes, one for 

every single solitary cert petition. But 

never an opinion. Stan proved to be 

wrong, but only once that I can re­

calL The Justice usually lingered at 

my desk to give me a brief report on 

what happened at conference. On one 

occasion, he asked me to draft a dis­

sent in a case he knew I had struggled 

with in writing the cert memo. 1 can 

still remember that unexpected mo­

ment. I felt that I was levitating. 

The most unusual assignment he 

gave me was to talk to Scotty Reston, 

then the Washington bureau chief of 

the New York Times. The Justice ex­

plained that even though he knew 

Reston and trusted him, he did not 

grant interviews to any journalist. He 

told me to speak freely, but to use 

discretion and not breach any confi­

dences. During the interview, which 

took place in Chambers, Reston told 

me that the Times ' coverage of the 
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Court was as 

the reporters often had 

difficulty penetrating the procedural 

and that the mer­

its were sometimes shrouded in. Hav­

stringer for the Times 

I had the temerity 

to law school for a semester. 

He thanked me for the idea and soon 

thereafter Tony Lewis was a Sh011­

term student at Harvard Law School. 

After my clerkship, the Justice 

would occasionally invite me to join 

him for lunch in Chambers when I 

was in on business. He 

always was warm and and 

seemed interested in what I was up 

to in Los 

I ran for 

nia (unsuccessfully). When the Clerk 

of the Court called me one day and 

asked if I would the de fen­

dant in one of the five Mi­
randa cases, I had no doubt who was 

for the the 

one Justice who, as usual, was 

during an other­

wise argument and the only one 

who did not ask me a question. 

The last time I saw Bill Douglas 

was in 1980, when I was in Wash­

ington for my Ninth Circuit confir­

mation before the Senate Ju­

diciary Committee. He was bedrid­

den at home, but Cathy encouraged 

me to stop for a visit I went ac­

by my wife and Harrison 

Brown, a prominent Cal Tech scien­

tist and friend of mine who was also 

an old friend of the Justice's. 

instructed us to go into the bedroom 

one at a time. When my wife went in, 

Harrison turned to me with a and 

"I'll bet she'll be in there 

than either of us." She was. 

===::::.::::.-~,,-=(l977-1980 Terms) noted that 

on social occasions the Justice would intro­

duce Monty to others as "Monty my 

law clerk extraordinaire." Monty escorted him 

to lunches at the Club with Ernest 

Sidney "the Cork" 

Corcoran, and to Trader Vic's or Jenkin's Hill 

restaurants. They often ate in his 

Chambers or went out to lunch with his secre­

tary, then Monty's Rebecca And 

at public he would wave to Monty 

with his hand and whisper in Monty's ear 

some quip he had through his 

stream-of-consciousness that was not intended 

for the ears of others. Monty would laugh at 

"cat-that -a te-the­

would spread across his 

face. Podva also commented: "As I 

was told would by his and 

former the Justice did 'fire' me on 

several occasions. he would always 

buzz me back into his Chambers within an 

hour asking for else that I should 

have he would want. After sev­

eral months having his 'pledge' period 

the Justice asked me to 

From that on our 

from my his subordinate to him being 

my mental'. We engaged in many personal. 

political, and philosophical discussions and I 

was to be his last law clerk and 

===-=-~ (1970 noted that they 

had dinner about three times at WOO's and 

in addition were there for his New Year's Eve 

Party of snow); he and Cathy were also 

at a dinner with them at "About a month 

into the I got a letter that 

I was not up to it and I should think about 

quitting. That hurt, but Nan and Fay told me 

to keep On top of the certs that 

summer I had a make-work that had 

nothing to do with any pending case. Our Term 

was probably unique because the first half was 

with impeachment and the second half 

with three IJ""v"'''"'''''' operations." 
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Jr. (1967 Tenn) con­
-,--:------'-!...~-

curred the comments c 

"Kim" and referred me to his book re­
view of Bob Woodward & Scott 
The Brethren in 12 North Carolina Central 
Law Journal 412 (1981) for his own views of 
his relations with WOO. These included the 
following: 

after I had been on the 
respOllde~d to a buzz from Cham­

bers and was handed Justice Douglas' 
draft opinion for the Court in a loyalty 
oath case, Whitehill v. Ellcins. I knew 
that I was to check the state­
ment of facts against the record on 

for accuracy, to citecheck all 
authorities for accuracy, and to add 
a case citation to a propo­
sition of law where Justice Douglas 
had not indicated the authority on 
which he relied. In addition to the 
technical review of Justice 
Whitehill opinion, I prepared a re­
draft of, as best as I can recall, two 
paragraphs, with the thought that the 
wording could be made more spe­
cific. I made no substantive 
however. Also, I prepared a 

with a Mary land 
case on which state officials had re­
lied in in their briefs but which 
the Justice's first draft had not dis­
cussed. On my own I 
alternative ground for one 

and I prepared a footnote Jay­
To me it was 

clearthat additions were 
merely some ideas for Justice Dou­

to consider. He could use them 
if he liked them, discard them if he 
did not. The of work was 
placed in his "in" on his desk. 
A couple of hours later I 
to a buzzer summoning a law clerk 
and received a furious verbal thrash-

from the Justice. I 

of it: It was of me to 

in Whitehill. 


someone who had been nomi­

nated bv the President and confinned 


the Senate as a Justice could write 
Supreme Court I said only 
one thing: "I'll 
trash " and I did. The conversa­
tion ended with my being told to 

out" and not to come back. af­
ter a week on the job, I I was 
fired. Although the Justice did not re­
ally intend a final discharge, I did not 
know that when I left his Chambers 
in shock. "I've been fired/' I moaned 
to the secretaries. "Oh, don't worry," 
said Nan Burgess. "We fired all 
the time. Just go home now and come 
back tomorrow." next day, tJhe 
Justice gave me another opinion draft 
(of a different to work on and 

giving me your ideas." 
resulted not only in 

what apparently were words of en­
couragement, but in Justice Douglas '5 

use ofsome ideas about the loy­
alty oath case. Apparently he had re­
trieved from the wastebasket my sug­
gestions for changes in his Whitehill 

because a few of them ap­
peared in his second draft. 

During my my then-
wife and I had the Justice and 
over for dinner along with the Senek­
ers, and the dinner was a huge 
success. Justice opened up 
and recounted story after fascinat­

to his 
or 
twice invited to a party at the Dou­

home. Most how­
ever, was the invitation to both the 
clerks and their wives to join the Jus­
tice and for the annual C&O 
hike. The hike along the Potomac 
River on the & Ohio 
Canal was designed to direct attention 
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to this scenic and historic of 
land and was part of the to 
obtain its as a national 

There was nothing gruff and 
crusty about Justice Douglas on any 
of these occasions, 

Even on the job, there were oc­
casions when the Justice was cordial. 

"1--, ....J' he would invite Seneker 
and me to him for a drink 
in Chambers late Friday afternoon, 
These sometimes turned 
into discussions of the Court's work, 
More frequently, 
tened while Justice remi­
nisced about the work habits of var­
ious Justices he had known over the 
years, or while he compared the Court 
of the 19408 to the Court of the 
late 1960s. 

noted that =="-===== (1957 
during the clerkship, he regularly had lunch 
with WOO on Saturday. Chuck also hiked with 
him and others from Great Falls back to WOO's 
house, having been driven by Mcrci. Charlie 
Reich was usually Chuck also went on 
the C&O Canal reunion hike, and also went 
to three or four Redskins games, On several 
occasions he was invited to cocktail parties af­
ter work where WOO was an honored 
Chuck was grilled as to who he was, 
as several were high-powered. He doesn't re­
member any other details, He and his wife had 
dinner at WaD's house at least once 
the Christmas season and one or two 
more times, After clerkship, he was asked sev­
eral times to specific Christmas gifts 
for WOO's son, who was in Los An-

at the time. Because he was frequently 
in Washington on he went on a few 
C&O Canal hikes and reunions. Once he went 
on a trip with WaD on the Ap­
palachian Trai I under the ofthe Forest 

arranged by them to rebut some of his 
published criticisms. Later UCLA law 

and former clerks hiked down the Ar­

royo Seco from the to the Jet Propul­
sion Lab 

(1975 com­
mented that "unfortunately, during the 1975 

Justice was in extremely poor 
health, so that his interactions with us nec­
essarily were limited. At some considerable 
personal sacrifice, he invited us out to lunch 
and dinner on several different and 
we also went to his home on one occasion. 
Through his travails, which led to 
his retirement from the Court 
he acted with the greatest fortitude and perse­
verance." 

=-"="-=-=~= (1963 Term) commented: 

[ clerked in the 1963 Tenn. Three ma-
events that year the expe­

rience: WaD's marriage to Joan Mar­
tin in the summer of 1963 before 
or after I started working, President 
Kennedy's assassination in Novem­

and the anniversary celebra­
tion of WOO's tenure on the Court in 

1964. 
I found WaD preoccupied with 

personal issues much of the year, 
which made my job easier. 
There was virtually no work on out­
side writings. Nan and said he 

was not as many hours as 
had been his custom. There were few 
late nights, and most Saturdays were 
only I did, work at 
home most and several hours 
at home most Sundays. 

25thThe anniversary celebra­
tion was a nice time for WaD. In 
addition to the law-clerk reunion 
at David lovely home 
in 1964, David arranged an­
other dinner in May I attended 

by the the Chief Justice, 
Martin Agronsky, Abe and 

about other friends from around 
the country. Vern Countryman, who 

clerked in 1943 and was then a 
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Harvard Law professor, wrote a funny 

mock opinion which was given to 

WOO at the law clerk reunion: Young 
v. Magnolia. We had it printed in 

the basement just like a regular court 

opinion. Then we asked WOO to read 

it out loud at the reunion. He did and 

really enjoyed it. WOO shared the 

opinion with the court. In fact , during 

oral arguments the following week, 

the opinion was making its way from 

Justice to Justice along the Bench. 

WOO worked hard on his opin­

ions. They were carefully done. WOO 

said he drafted the opinions himself 

because he liked to write, and one 

clerk could not handle the workload 

otherwise. I was also spared Bench 

memos, which all the other clerks had 

to prepare. WOO just used the orig­

inal cert memo when the case was 

argued. 

I was asked to draft one dissent 

that year. WOO told me to draft it 

without saying why. His conference 

notes were of little help. After read­

ing the briefs, the conference notes 

and the draft majority opinion 1 gave 

WOO a memo arguing that the major­

ity opinion was correct. A few days 

later WOO buzzed me in, holding up 

my memo. woo said, " 1 asked for a 

dissent, not this." "1 don ' t want an ar­

gument from you." "You are not on 

the Court yet." WOO said that as a 

budding lawyer I needed to pay more 

attention to my instructions . When 

J pointed out that he had given me 

no clue about the basis for a dissent, 

he mumbled a few thoughts and rea­

sons, and sent me on my way. So 1 did 

the best 1 could. He accepted most of 

what 1 wrote and sent it to the printer. I 

still think the dissent was wrong. But 

Justice Blackjoined it. 

One of my interesting pieces of 

research was WOO's request to 10­

cate an income tax case written years 

earlier by Justice Whittaker. That 

produced a "memo to the file" (for 

historians) pointing out that WOO 

drafted the majOlity opinion (still 

bearing Whittaker's name) because 

Whittaker was having trouble writing 

it. Then WOO dissented . He wanted 

history to know he had written both 

s ides of the case. 

1 was always called by my last 

name, even in letters in later years. 

1 regularly lunched in the law 

clerk's dining room. It was one of the 

highlights of the year. It was custom 

to invite each Justice to one lunch 

with all the clerks during the Term. 

Most accepted. 1 was warned by Nan 

or Fay that WOO rarely attended 

those lunches, and would probably 

decline. To my surprise and theirs, he 

accepted. The lunch was a treat. He 

was charming and animated. Gener­

ally, the other clerks felt that WOO 

was perhaps the smartest judge on the 

Court. 

My wife and 1 were invited to 

WOO 's home once or twice, and 

taken to a concert. WOO and [ went 

to several Saturday lunches at Jim­

mies (if J recall the name correctly) . 

The lunches were a highlight. I went 

on the fifteen-mile C&O Canal hike, 

after sleeping on the ground. woo 
was a different person on the hike: 

around his friends, outgoing, having 

fun, acting like a tour leader, making 

jokes, and talking to the press about 

the C&O Canal hi story. 

I had a special seat in the court­

room, behind a pillar where WOO 

could not see me. I tested this once 

by sitting out in the open. Within min­

utes a page brought me a note with an 

obscure research assignment. But due 

to workloads 1 rarely attended oral 

arguments. 
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WOO was stern, 

business-like, and aloof around 

charming with visi­

tors, at times he ill 
at ease with strangers. He was always 

courteous. He could be abrupt. One 

would never say he was fun to be 

around. Maybe around a 

or on afternoon, but nowhere 

else. 
I was invited in on 

a afternoon for a drink or two 

at his desk. He had a massive drawer 
in his desk stuffed with several bottles 

of whiskey. The drawer was actually 

hard to open because so many bottles 

were in it. This casual time with him 

was a treat. I always had 

Cl.\A~'vIJIIJI;;; that I was having a 

drink with William O. Douglas. I was 

always struck the size of his 
and the way he moved them. And the 

way he brushed the side of his head 

with one hand. 

It was hard to maintain much of 
a with WOO after the 

cierkship. I was "''<'''",,''11 in Seat­

tIe. But we did have a few lunches 

and dinners when he came 

Seattle. 

Bottom line: it was a wonderful 

Carl J. Seneker II (1967 com­

men ted that 

Julie and I were invited to WOO's 

home two or three times to attend din­
ner for us, but usu­

ally there were about 10-15 

Eric 
etc.). In addition, we ac­

companied WOO on the annual C&O 

Canal hike. He also would 

call Bill Reppy and me into his of­

fice in the late afternoons on 
to share a drink and talk about the 

disposition of cases and the likely as­

of opinion responsibilities 

to the various Justices. Bill Reppy 

and I would then usually go ahead 
and allocate the WOO opinion work 

between us, although at times WOO 

a opinion 
or research issue individually to one 

of us. Occasionally, WOO would take 

Bill and me out to lunch-I think 

that probably occurred about four or 

five times our clerkship, but 
it could have been less often. Fi-

Bill 

andJulieand 

me, in a small dinner at their 
home on Hill. I always found 

WOO to be 111 

these smaller social and 

trast 


and intolerant demands, and some­


times rather thoughtless comments, 

that he made relatively frequently 


hours. also 

once gave Julie a ticket to attend 

a Joint Session of honor-

the President of Mexico, I be-

and she ended up sitting next 

to Stuart Symington's wife and just 
down the row from Lady Bird John­

son, so that was a thrill for 

her. 

Seneker also commented: 

A general observation I would make 

is that the actually could be a 

very sensitive person and exhibit con­

cern about his clerks when it came to 
health issues. I had both a 

difficult recovery from my Achilles 

tendon surgery to deal with 
the first of months of the 

Court's Term as well as, at times dur­
ing the some halfway debilitat­

tension/migraine headaches. He 
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certain limits that these 

conditions placed on my ability to 

work long and he on 

occasion at to rework assign­

ments to accommodate those limita­

tions. He told me that he had suffered 
from very bad headaches 

in his younger and was well 

aware of what that condition could 

do to a ability to work at 

a torrid and pressure-

filled pace. The only other halfway 

different memory I have about WOD 

was the time that he me to 

attend a showing of one of the porno-

movies that the Court had 

under consideration one of the First 

Amendment obscenity cases. He did 

not want to attend but wanted 

to know if I thought that you 

do "know it when you see it," as Jus­

tice Stewart had "opined" in 1964. He 

wanted me to write him a memo after 

I saw the movie telling him whether 

I there was any standard that 

could rationally be applied to deter­

mine whether something is obscene. 

As it turned out, I can remember start­

ing to write him such a memo until he 

in his rather way 

but with eyes twinkling, that he didn't 

want to see any such memo; 

he wanted me to know what it 

was like to be asked to whether 

something does or does not fit into a 

particular moral view of the world. In 

any event, the most pali of 

the showing was not the movie 

but the running commentary, much 

of it that Justice 

Marshall had to offer throughout the 

film. 

In most cases, I found that his 

opinions, particularly his 

were prepared very quickly and fo­

cused on rather broad propo­

sitions rather than narrow resolutions 

of the issues in disoute. In fact. he 

E COU HISTORY 

did tell me on more than one occa­

sion that he preferred to write his 

opinions in that fashion because he 

believed at least in certain ar­

eas of law, Court decisions 

should offer broad and not 
to be­

mg out of existence be­

cause of an overly narrow treatment 

of the issue in dispute. 1 think 

that Justice Douglas wrote 

his opinions quite rapidly well 

as expansively), that should not be 

viewed as a 

talented and industrious, 

ligent, and knew what he wanted to 

say and how he wanted to say it. 

HH"' •.waH ,-,,,,ao> (1951 Term) noted that during 

the clerkship social occasions were rare--{)nce 

when Helen Linde "retired" as WOD's second 

and to celebrate his 13 th 

he had a small cocktail party In 

Chambers for his two his messen­

ger, and Small, and served martinis the way he 

made them for FDR (5 1part dry ver­

mouth, and lemon rubbed around the lip of the 

glass). Small was invited to dinner and an art 

gallery visit on one occasion (after which the 

Justice went to his Persian lessons) 

and he received tickets to chamber music con­

certs at the of WOD also 

gave him tickets to attend the joint session of 

to consider by 

President Truman following the Steel Seizure 
case, which Small made available to his two 

younger brothers, who were and they 

were thrilled to sit near Bess Truman. At the 

end of his clerkship, WOD took him to lunch 

at his club. After the they corre­

sponded when SmaIL remembered his birth­

day, and WOD exhibited a interest 

in whether Small pursue a teaching ca­

reer. Small visited him at the Court when in 

Washington. The last time Small saw him was 

after his stroke when, at his secretary's sugges­

tion, Small invited him to lunch at the Madison 

Hotel. 
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Small also commented: 

the Court's 
in dealing with the Justice it was all 

and there was no time for 
relaxed conversations. On the few oc­
casions when I did have an opportu­
nity to visit with him when not work-

on Court either during 
or after work, or visits after 
my clerkship year, he was relaxed and 
talkative. My memory of those occa­
sions was refreshed when I 
re-read letters I had written to my par­
ents during my clerkship, which were 
saved and returned to me years later. 
On one the his sec­
retary Edith Allen, and I discussed 
when the trees in the Tidal 
Basin were likely to be in bloom, as 
my a visit to 
Washington and wanted to come at 

nerTV··DIi)SSOm time. The Justice re­
called that the first week in April was 
the best time, although it could snow 

even in April. did come, 
the trees were in bloom I re-

and the Justice made time in his 
busy schedule for a pleasant visit with 
them in his Chambers. On another oc­
casion, when the Court was in recess 
and the Justice was going to be out 
of town, before he told me to 
take it easy and to take some time 
off-he had no compulsion to see that 
I was always hard, although 
I also remember that he did look in on 
me at my desk on one Sun­
day morning when he came in before 

on a hike, so that he knew I 
busy. (I was not invited 

When relaxed, he 
stories, 

one story he told at the small 
he hosted for his secretary, his mes­

senger and me in his Chambers to 
celebrate the anniversary of his 
joining the Court. He was aware that 
I had grown up in Kansas and 
he recalled a 
he had in Kansas where he was 
booked to stay at the Hotel Muelbach, 
the best hotel in town at that time. 
Because he had his dog with 
him, the hotel refused to give him a 
room, and so he and 
at a motel. When the local Chamber 
of Commerce learned of the incident, 

sent Frosty a case of food, 
According to the liked 
that brand of food so much that 
he would never eat any other brand of 
dog food thereafter. 

Overall, I did not consider that 
I developed the close personal rela­
tionship with the Justice that some 
of his other law clerks enjoyed. How­
ever, I have always assumed that when 
he gave me an autographed picture 
of himself at the end of the 
with the in his bright blue-
green ink that never fades with time 
"For Marshall who helped me 

in the 1951 Term--with ad­
miration and affection," that he was 
in his own way thanking me for the 
assistance that I had rendered as his 
law clerk. 

'-'=~,=== (1975 noted that he so­
cialized with WaD twice outside the work 

context. 

In contrast to his style 
in that context, he was on both oc­
casions very his 

which led me to believe that 
part of his style at work 

was to teach his clerks about the 
legal work world, and 
its ways, I do not remember the se­
quence of the two but once 
he took my two co-clerks and me 
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to lunch at, I believe, the University 
Club. On the second occasion, his two 
secretaries (Marty and Sandra), my 
two co-clerks, and I took WOD out for 
dinner for his birthday. Cathy did not 
join us; I think she was out of town. I 
bel ieve it was his 76th . 

WOD never got as far as Christ­
mas 1975 on the Court. Indeed, I 
nearly never got as far as Christmas 
1975 as a clerk. Shortly after WOD 
retired, in November 1975, my co­
clerks and I visited the Chief Jus­
tice (Burger) in his Chambers. He in­
formed us that clerks were line items 
on the Court's budget and that there 
was only one line for clerks for re­
tired Justices. Two of us, we were in­
formed, would have to go. What had 
been a dream for this young man from 
Tucson seemed in danger of quickly 
ending, but better heads prevailed in 
the conference. I was asked to be­
come Justice Brennan's fourth clerk. 

Sternstein also commented: 

I have ambivalent feelings about 
WOD. He was a tough taskmaster, for 
most of the short time that I worked 
with him. WOD and Brennan were in­
teresting studies in contrast. I sensed 
a very private and somewhat insecure 
side to WOD, and I believe it was 
something of a need to establish a 
zone of protection about himself, if 
you will, that also motivated much of 
his jurisprudence protecting the in­
dividual against the state. This was, 
in part, if not in predominant mea­
sure, I suspect the source of his lib­
eralism. Brennan, on the other hand, 
was one of the more centered indi­
viduals I have known . He was com­
fortable with himself and, therefore, 
comfortable with, accepting of, and 
tolerant of nearly all comers ... or so 
he would make it seem. It was this 

capacity for fearlessly embracing hu­
manity (black, white, yellow or red; 
holy and profane; criminal and law­
abiding) that I believe was a signif­
icant source of his liberalism. The 
state and its citizens had less to fear 
than they believed they did. 

It is ironic, and then again not, 
that one Justice, something of a 
recluse, and the other, truly a hale fel­
low well met, were each pillars of lib­
eralism in the history of the Court. 

Gary Torre (1948 Term) commented: " Yes, on 
two occasions I had dinner at his apartment 
with other guests. The first occasion I was not 
yet married but 011 the second my wife was 
also invited. When the Judge returned from 
his Middle Eastern trip in the summer I gave 
him two auto lifts before he went West. I also 
attended a formal dinner party that Abe Fortas 
and his wife gave for Douglas's daughter in 
1948." 

Jay Kelly Wright (1974) commented: 

I had a rewarding year as one of the 
Justice's law clerks during the 1974­
1975 Term. I reported in June 1974. 
My co-clerks, Don Kelley and Alan 
Austin, were already there. Although 
the new set of law clerks had arrived, 
the work of the court for the 1973­
1974 Term was not quite over. The 
Nixon Tapes case, United States v. 
Nixon , had been argued but not yet 
decided . The Justice was in Goose 
Prairie the day I first started work. 
But he had been at the Court the pre­
ceding week, and my co-clerks Don 
and Alan had already met him . A few 
days after I started work, the Justice 
returned to Washington for what be­
came the final conferences before the 
unanimous decision in United Slates 

v. Nixon was announced. 
After the final conference the 

day before the decision was an­
nounced, the Justice called (buzzed) 
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all three of us into his office. Harry 

Datcher in a beaten-up 

cardboard box containing clinking 

and the Justice poured drinks 

for all of us and told us what had 

happened at the conference and what 

would the following day. 

More about this incident is recounted 

in the remembrance I wrote that was 

in the 1990 Yearbook ofthe 

,)tlllfe:m,<, Court Historical 

(By the way, I never found the 

buzzer to be or 

offensive. Each law clerk had a sep­

arate buzzer It seemed to me 

a logical and efficient way of 

LlS to come to his which was 
<:P,,,:rr5ltp/i from the law clerks' office 

the office for the two 

After the announcement of the 

Nixon decision, the Justice went back 

to Goose Prairie, where he 

the rest of the summer. The work of 

the law clerks was much like what 

others have described~we sent him 

the cert and our memos, 

and he sent us back instructions. In 

several cases in which he was inter­

ested, he predicted (accurately) that 

the Court would not grant cert and 

therefore wrote that I should draft a 

dissent from denial of cert, I drafted 

sent them back, and he made 

revisions. 

After all the Justices returned for 

the conferences that preceCle the first 

Court day in October, the Justice re­

turned from a conference one and 

told me he wanted me to draft an opin­

ion on a case where I had written the 

memo over the summer. WOD told 

opinion sum­

the decision below. I 

did a draft, which he reviewed and did 

not find "The Court is divided 

on he told me, "and this draft is 

not enough to be 

He told me ofcases [had not cited that 

I should read, and sent me back for an­

other My second draft was much 

more to his liking, and after 

it and making his own revisions, it ul­

timately became a unanimous per cu­

riam decision: United States v. A1ichi­

gan National Bank, 419 U. I (1 

This process was characteristic 

of a II the other I did dur­

mg my He would tell me 

what he wanted, review my 

and then edit it, usually also 

me to do more work and pro­

duce another draft, There was never 

any doubt about who was deciding 

the case (him, not and whatever I 

wrote got reviewed. He was 

not rubber-stamping my work. Other 

opinions from the Term 

where he gave me a lot of drafting re­

sponsibility included the opinion for 

the Court in Bowman 

Inc< v. Arkansas-Best ,'System 

419 U.S. 281 (1974) and his dis­
sents in [the] KP,:Ylflmli 

zation Act 

and Emporium 

ern Addition Organiza­

lion, 420 U.S, 50 (1975), 

On the side, there were 

times when the Justice invited us to 

join him at lunch on Saturdays, and 

we and our spouses or 

ers attended a dinner for him around 

his birthday at the restaurant Chez 

Francois in 

One of the most memorable 

and occasions 

in the Term, when Jerry 

Falk came to Washington to argue 

the Faretla California case (in­

volving a defendant's right of self­

The Justice invited 

Jerry and his wife to the house on 

Hutchins Place for and the 

law clerks and spouses 
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Cathy Douglas Stone and Mercedes Eicholz, the Justice's second wife, both attended the reunion. Many clerks 
remember being invited to the Justice's home for dinner or otherwise socializing with the Justice and Cathy 
or Mercedes. 

others) were also invited. I remember 

the particularly because my 

Meredith, and I were the first to 

arrive. The Justice answered the door 

himself. I We were not well 
acquainted at that point, and my wife 

had never met him. Meredith, how­

ever, admired one of the 

many treasures in the house he had 

back from his travels. The 
Justice immediately took her by the 

arm to show her the piece and ex­
plain its origin. The entire 

was 

My clerkship was marred only 

the stroke the Justice suffered over 
the holiday period at the end of 1974. 
Except for a briefperiod of 

he continued to work 
on Court business. But his medical 

treatment and rehabilitation drained 

some of his energy. He wrote fewer 

we saw him less often. and 

as a result I was less 

I would not have traded that year 

for anything. r never considered any 
of the to be "boot 

camp. The hours were somewhat 

than my clerkship the 
year with Harold Leven­

thal on the District of Columbia cir­

deal longer. Our 

Court law clerks 

were about the same as law clerks for 
other Justices. 

Appendix B: The Shower 

Richard l. Jacobson 

There are many stories about WOO's reJa­
with his law clerks. It is common 

that clerking for him could be like 
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fifty-two weeks of boot camp. It is difficult 
to convey, unless you went through it, the ab­
solute terror that a clerk felt at the 
thought of a mistake. My year, Octo­
ber Term 197 I, supposedly was a "good" one. 
There were three of us-me, Bill Alsup, and 
Ken Reed. It was the first year WOD had three 
clerks, We turned out a lot of which 

seemed to 
afraid of 
than life figure to us, and we were completely 
in awe ofhim. We would have done anything to 
earn his at least to show him that 

his seeming indifference to our 
efforts, WOD knew what effect he had 
on us, and loved every moment He also wasn't 
above stretching the truthjust a trifle ifit would 
help him us terrified. My favorite story 
from the year I with WOD underscores 
both the spell I was under and the terror that 
was never far from my thoughts. It does not 
involve though, It is about basketball. 

Some say that the "highest court in the 
land" is not the beautiful marble courtroom on 
the first t100r of the Court building 

but rather the basketball court 
directly overhead. While 

is somewhat low, and the caliber 
of play often not much the enthusiasm 
for the game among law at least in my 

was immense. We usually played three on 
three, and there were almost always enough 
players on Saturday to five on five. We 
even had a couple cookies who could 

Justice White a battle under the boards. 
After the game, physically exhausted but 

we all would return to 
Chambers to shower and Each Jus­
tice, of course, had a full bathroom adjacent 

office, which the clerks had the 
for this purpose, 

Well, to be absolutely precise, I should say 
that most of the clerks had the permission of 
their Justice to shower after games. WOD was 

a somewhat different We decided 
on to assume we had his permission, but not 

formaHy to ask for it. Our reasoning, even now, 
years strikes me as unassailable: 

What if he had said "no"? 
OUf assumption was particularly reason­

able during the first summer of our 
When we first came on board in July 1971, 
WOD was in Goose Prairie. We talked to him 
on the from time to time, but had never 
met him. We sent him packages of cert pe­

he sent us notes. His office remained 
empty, his shower unused. What could possibly 
be the harm in these underutilized 
facilities for the purpose for which they had 
been designed? 

When WOD returned to Washington for 
the ofOT 1971, we decided-since 
we never had the time nor the to play ball 
while he was in the office-that there really 
was no reason to raise the issue. We would not 

a game until he left for and we 
would meticulously clean the bathroom after 
we used it. Since WOD would never know, why 
risk a 

Hah! To think that we ofourselves 
as the best and the Idiots-that's 
what we were. Our 
one fateful weekend in November. On 
WOD went home 

a speech at University. As soon as his 
car pulled out of the garage, we it 
to the basketball court. 

Later, after showering and I no­
ticed that my clothes were getting more than a 
bit Since WOD would soon be 
on the way to Atlanta, I rinsed all my stuff out 

and left my shirt, jockstrap and socks 
hanging in the bathroom to dry. 

A law clerk's day WOD 
wanted at least one clerk in the office by 7:30 
a,m. In my year, he didn't care which one of us 
it was, so we rotated the "honor. That Satur-

I did not have to be in early. Thus it was 
that at 7:00 a.m., I was roused from a sound 

of the phone. 
law student 

who worked part-time in the 
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fifty-two weeks of boot camp. It is difficult 
to convey, unless you went through it, the ab­
solute terror that a Douglas clerk felt at the 
thought of making a mistake. My year, Octo­
ber Term 1971, supposedly was a "good" one. 
There were three of us-me, Bill Alsup, and 
Ken Reed. It was the first year WaD had three 
clerks. We turned out a lot of work, which 
seemed to please him. And we were 
afraid of WaD. He was a 
than life to us, and we were completely 
in awe ofhim. We would have done anything to 

resne(:t~ ~r at least to show him that 

his seeming indifference to our 
efforts, WaD knew what effect he had 
on us, and loved every moment. He also wasn't 
above stretching the truth just a trifle if it would 
help him us terrified. My favorite story 
from the year I spent with WaD underscores 
both the spell 1 was under and the terror that 
was never far from my thoughts. It does not 
involve though. It is about basketbalL 

Some say that the "highest court in the 
land" is not the beautiful marble courtroom on 
the first floor of the Court building 

but rather the basketball court 
directly overhead. While 

is somewhat low, and the caliber 
of play often not much the enthusiasm 
for the game among law clerks, at least in my 
day, was immense. We usually three on 
three, and there were almost always 

on Saturday to play five on five. We 
even had a couple cookies who could 

Justice White a battle under the boards. 
After the game, exhausted but 

refreshed, we all would return to 
Chambers to shower and Each Jus­
tice, of course, had a full bathroom adjacent 
to his office, which the clerks had the 
privilege of for this purpose. 

Well, to be absolutely I should say 
that most of the clerks had the permission of 
their Justice to shower after games. WOD was 
a somewhat different We decided 
on to assume we had his "pr'rTI1"~ but not 

formally to ask for it. Our reasoning, even now, 
years strikes me as unassailable: 

What if he had said "no"? 
Our assumption was particularly reason­

able the first summer of our 
When we first came on board in 
WOD was in Goose Prairie. We talked to him 
on the phone from time to time, but had never 
met him. We sent him of cert pe­
titions; he sent us notes. His office remained 
empty, his shower unused. What could possibly 
be the harm in these underutilized 
facilities for the purpose for which they had 
been 

When WOD returned to Washington for 
the ofO.T. 1971, we decided-since 
we never had the time nor the to ball 
while he was in the offic(.'---..that there 
was no reason to raise the issue. We would not 

a game until he left for and we 
would meticulously clean the bathroom after 
we used it. Since WaD would never know, why 
risk a 

Hah! To think that we ofourselves 
as the best and the brightest. Idiots-that's 
what we were. Our deception crumbled 
one fateful weekend in November. On Friday, 
WaD went home early. He was town 

at the break of dawn Saturday to 
a speech at Emory University. As soon as his 
car pulled out of the garage, we high-tailed it 
to the basketball court. 

Later, after and changing, I no­
ticed that my clothes were more than a 
bit Since WaD would soon be 
on the way to Atlanta, I rinsed all my stuff out 
and left my shirt, shorts, jockstrap and socks 
hanging in the bathroom to dry. 

A law clerk's day WaD 
wanted at least one clerk in the office 7:30 
a.m. In my year, he didn't care which one ofus 
it was, so we rotated the "honor." That Satur-

I did not have to be in early. Thus it was 
that at 7:00 a.m., I was roused from a sound 

of the [It 
law student 

yPrlrOPT""Jn who worked in the 
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Marshal's office and who WOD used almost 

exclusively as his driver (because Jerry could 

get him from Hutchins Place to the Court in 

less than ten minutes, even if he had to drive 

on the sidewalk to do it). 

Jerry was calling me from the airport­

and he was calling about my gym clothes. Ap­

parently, WOD had stopped by the Court on, 

the way to the airport and used the bathroom. 

When he saw my stuff drying on the rack, 

he asked Jerry to call the F.B.I. to find out 

who had "broken into" his Chambers and left 

gym clothes all over the place. Knowing ex­

actly who the culprit must be, Jerry called me 

instead. 

Well, I was scared to death. I had no idea 

what to do other than to get down to the Court 

as qujckly as possible and remove my stuff 

from the bathroom. When I arrived I asked Nan 

and Fay, WOD's long-time secretaries, for their 

advice. They suggested I write a short note, ex­

plaining what happened and apologizing for it. 

Did Justice Douglas (pictured) really stop by the 
Court just to take a shower before going to a Sat­
urday evening dinner? Or was he merely trying to em­
barrass his clerk, who had used the shower without 
permission? 

So I did . I composed a brief paragraph, admit­

ting the gym clothes were mine, apologizing 

for leaving them in the bathroom, and promis­

ing that "it would never happen again." Exactly 

what " it" was, however, I left ambiguous . My 

intent was only to promise never to get caught 

again. Despite this brush with disaster, I felt 

that with just a little more discretion, life-and 

basketball-could go on as before. 

My apology was apparently accepted, for 

I was not fired, nor did WOD even mention 

the incident. No F.B.I. agent knocked on my 

door. My folded note was simply returned to 

me without comment. We continued to play 

ball , and to shower in WOD's bathroom . We 

were just more careful about his whereabouts 

when we did so. 

Then came February. It was on a Satur­

day. WOD again left early. There was a hot and 

heavy five-on-five game, in which all three of 

us from WOD 's Chambers played. After the 

game, I showered last. Ken and Bill were both 

married and wanted to get home as soon as 

possible, since we were all taking a rare Sat­

urday night off. I agreed to hang around and 

clean up , as I was single and had no date. 

I finished my shower about 6: 15 p.m. My 

co-clerks were long gone. I decided, before get­

ting dressed and cleaning the bathroom, to call 

the girl I had been dating. With nothing but a 

towel wrapped around me, I sat at my desk and 

made my calJ. Candy was at work, and I was 

well on my way to convincing her to go out 

with me that same night despite the appalling 

lack of prior notice, when the roof dropped in. 

Or should I say, when WOD, in a suit and 

tie, sauntered through the door and went into 

his office. My god! It was 6:30 p.m. on Satur­

day. What the hell was he doing here? I quickly 

hung up, pulled on my pants and shirt, and pre­

tended to work. He was in his office for about 

halfan hour. I couldn ' t tell what he was doing 

and was afraid to go in after him to find out. 

If only he doesn 't go into the bathroom, 

I prayed si lently to myself. As they say in 

the pulp novels, the seconds crawled by. Fi­

nally, about 7 p.m. , he came out through the 
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office r was feigning inter­
est in some files), smiled at me, said "good 
night," and left. 

[made myselfwait a few minutes to make 
sure he was gone. Then J slowly walked 
into his office. The door to the bathroom was 
open, as I left it. That was a sign. But the 
bathroom which I had left on, was now 
off. That was bad. 

up my courage, I walked to the 
bathroom door, on the light and looked 
inside. I expected to see evidence of the three 
showers that we had taken. You 
water on the floor, dirty towels on the sink, that 
sort of 

I was not however, for the sight 
that met my eyes. The bathroom was 
All the dirty towels were stowed; there 
waS not a drop of water anywhere. 
WOO had down on his hands and knees, 
in his suit, and mopped up the whole bloody 
room. No wonder he had been in there so long. 
No wonder I felt sick to my stomach. 

I knew this was the end. What could 
say or do to get out of this 

mess? Whatever "it" was that I had promised 
in November would never happen had 
just happened. It seems funny now, but I was 
terrified. I didn't know what WOO would do. 

he would fire me, for breaking 
my " Maybe he ignore me 
for the rest of the Term-a fate which had 
been known to befall clerks who displeased 
him greatly 

I truly that my year, if not my en­
tire career, was at stake. I spent the next 
day and a half composing another apology. 
This had to be an apology to end all apologies. 
Each word was crafted. I solicited in­
put from Marshall's and Stewart's clerks as well 
as WOO's secretaries and my co-clerks. When 
I got done, very late Sunday my 
magnum opus was about of a 
page, It was the very best work 
I could do. 

I got in about 7: 15 and 
the note on WOO's desk. He showed up 

on time, at and went into his office, 
There was an oral argument scheduled that 

so I figured that something would 
before when he had to go on the 

Bench. I was wrong; nothing did, He didn't 
buzz us, and he didn't send for a 
was going crazy, anticipating the worst. 

the buzzer rang for oral argument, 
and WOO left without a word, I rushed into his 
office to see if he had written me a memo and 
put it in his out-box. There was 
where. Nothing in any desk drawer; in 
the waste paper in the secre­
taries' tray. I couldn't even find my original 
note, 

I returned to the law clerks' office 
very nervous. I sat at my desk, unable to 
commiserating with Ken and Bill. About half 
an hour later, a page came in with a note for 
me from WOO. He would often send us notes 
from the as a point in an oral argument 
would lead him to think of a research project, 
or a case he wanted to look at 

This note, had nothing to do with 
any case pending before the court. It was, in 

my folded in two and addressed 
to me. WOO had taken it with him and had 
alllotated it while listening to oral argument. 

Each one of my carefully worded 
of explanation had been shredded in an angry 
hand. I had started it was custom­
ary for the clerks to use their Justice's shower 
after basketball. He noted in the "with­
out Score one for WOO. 

I had also that the excess water 
was due to the fact that all three of us had 

and showered in numbers I), and 
that I intended to clean up as soon as I finished 

an intent which was by 
his arrival. He responded: "Y1aybe r need new, 
housebroken law clerks." 

I also explained that my previous 
was intended to be taken as a promise to be 
more careful in cleaning up rather than a com­
mitment not to use the shower at all. r con­
cluded by since difficulties had 
arisen despite our best efforts, we would not 
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use the shower again. WOD didn't directly re­

spond to this. He just commented at the bottom 
as follows: "I came down to take a shower as 
our water heater had broken down at home. 
What do I find? Dirt and water everywhere. 
Where the hell do you expect me to go? Rent 
a hotel room?" 

I immediately showed the note to Nan . 
and Fay to get their interpretation. I was per­
sonally encouraged by the fact that WOD 
had responded to most of my points "on the 
merits," had not accused me of breaking a 
prior promise, and had not said that he "defi­
nitely" needed new law clerks. Could this be 
a second-or rather, a third--chance? Their 
consensus was that I had weathered the storm, 
but that if it happened again, I should con­
sider changing professions, assuming I was 
sti II alive. 

WOD, of course, never once mentioned 
either incident-nor did 1. Some time later, 
I asked Cathy, as nonchalantly as I could, 
whether their water heater really had broken. 
As those who know WOD should already sus­
pect, she told me it had been workingjust fine. 
I never did find out what brought him back to 
the Court that Saturday night. 

Did I ever use WOD's shower again? What 

do you think? 
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alignment, and WOO began sending notes to 

me about the case, aski ng oddly obscure ques­

tions I did my best to answer despite my puz­
zlement. He fin ally called me in to say that he 

saw I wasn't doing anything on it. He wasn 't 

happy. J meekly offered my apology, suggest­
ing that perhaps 1 didn 't understand what he 

had mea nt for me to do . He managed to get 

out, despite hi s obvious difficulty in saying the 
words, that he wanted me to draft the opin­

ion, a request he never made for his opinions 
for the Court and which I had therefore never 

imagined he meant. WOO had received the as­

signment about a week before, and J knew that 
from his perspective the draft was embarrass­

ingly late. We had this conversat ion on Friday 

in the early afternoon. Saturday was always a 
work day in WOO 's Chambers, and it was clear 
to me that I had to have a draft to him before 

we went home the next day. WOO 's problem 

with the case, Kahn v. Shevin , was clear. He 

had only recently joined Brennan in the 4-3 

plurality for the short-handed Court in Fron­

tiem holding gender classifications shou ld re­

ceive strict scrutiny under the Equal Protection 
Clause, and now he wa s voting with conser­

vatives to deny the Equal Protection claim of 

a Florida man who objected to the state law 

allowing widows , but not widowers, a break 

on their property taxes. Perhaps he wasn 't sure 

how to square the two, although he told me 

that, unlike Brennan, he was not so concerned 
with doctrine. In any event, rnow had about 24 

hours to draft the opinion for the Court. What 

I gave him on Saturday was short ifnot sweet , 

a gender discrimination claim turned into a tax 
case, and he took it. This is probably an exam­

ple of his not being as careful with opinions as 

he should be, although I'm not sure that more 

time would have helped much. He remembered 

hi s mother'S experiences as widow and didn't 
want to endanger the tax break that Florida gave 

them. That concern was more important to him 

than fidelit y to Frontiero. 

22Richard A. Posner, "The Anti-Hero," review of Bruce 

Murphy, Wild Bill, NelV Republic, Feb. 24, 2003 , p. 27. 

23Jn Urofsky's article in Westel'l1 Legal HistOlY, he indi ­

cated that of the nineteen clerks he interviewed, not one 

had personally been fired, but all assured him that Douglas 

had fired-and then rehired-derks who displeased him. 

Urofsky, supm note I, at 7 fn. 27. 



Attorney General Kennedy 
versus Solicitor General Cox: 
The Formulation of the Federal 
Government's Position in the 
Reapportionment Cases 

BRUCE J. TERRIS'" 

In a recent article in this "May It Please the Court? The Solicitor General's Not-

Archibald Cox and the 1963-1964 Reapportionment Helen 
1. Knowles shows how the the arguments of the Solicitor 

Archibald Cox, in "one man, one vote" as the principle for the election of 

state In making this demonstration, Ms. Knowles also shows how Attorney General 

Robert on Cox to the plaintiffs in reapportiomnent cases 
In doing so, Ms. Knowles was more than generous in 

in this story. 

Ms, Knowles' article is largely based on The to start is neither with the 

the memoranda in the of General nor with the Solicitor 
Justice and White House concerning the fed- . General. In in Colegrove v, Green,3 

eral position in these cases. The the Court considered a to 

is to provide further infor- the apportiomnent of congres­
mation rrvnr,'rn the of sional districts in Illinois, which had not been 
the General and Solicitor General on redrawn since 190 I despite census es­
reapportionment and the manner in which the substantial In 

differences between them were resolved based a 4-3 vote, the Court upheld the dismissal of 

on the author's personal participation in these the action and held that the case was not justi­
events, ciable, The holding is summarized as 
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As Attorney General, Robert Kennedy chose to argue Gray v. Sanders, the 1963 malapportionment case, which 
gave birth to the "one man, one vote" requirement. 

being based on the political-question doctrine. 

of the four votes, two 

joined the opinion of Justice Frankfurter that 

found that apporrjonment was not 

a poli tical J us­

tice 

concurrence in which he argued that the mat­

ter was in fact justiciable, but that the Court 
should nevertheless exercise its dis­

cretion to refuse feliefto the plaintitTs because 

of the circumstances of the case, and 
not because it presented a political 4 

Subsequently, in I then Senator John 
wrote an article for the New York 

entitled "Shame of the 
States."5 Senator Kennedy that, as a 

result of malapportionment, "rarely in elect-
state does an urban vote, in 

effect, count for as much as a rural vote." He 

detailed numerous examples of state legisla­
tures across the country that either engaged in 

deliberate malapportionment or refused to re­

shifted from country to 

that this was the "most funda­

mental and the most blatant" form ofdiscrim­

ination against urban areas, and he advocated 

the elimination ofthese electoral imbalances.6 

In I in Baker v. Carr,? the District 

Court for the Middle District of Tennessee 

ruled,per curiam, that it could not intervene in 
a chal to the of the Ten­

nessee legislature 
on the ground that the issue raised 

a political question, relying on Justice Frank­
furter's opinion in v. Green. After 

the Court noted probable jurisdiction 

on November 21, 1960,8 the federal govern­

ment, through President Eisenhower's Solici­
tor General, 1. Lee Rankin, decided to file an 

amicus brief in support of the 

thereafter, John Kennedy became 

President, Robert Kennedy 
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and Archibald Cox Solicitor General. The logi­
cal assumption was that the new administration 
would eagerly support the plaintiffs in the 

Court. After all, President Kennedy 
had previously his position, and it 
was assumed that ordered 
reapportionment would greatly help the Demo­
cratic party by shifting seats in state 
tures from rural to urban areas. 

The federal government filed an ami­
cus brief in support of the plaintiffs. The 

by chance, I was ''''"''F'.''''U to 
review in the Solicitor General's Office-­

that, contrary to Colegrove, the chal­
lenge to maJapportionment of state legisla­
tures does not present a political to 

It contended that the position in Colegrove 
was contained in a plurality opinion, endorsed 
by three Justices, and that, in any event, 
that had been "undermined by subse­
quent ,,11 The brief further ar­

that malapportionment of state 
tures greatly exceeds the malapportionment 

dis­
that "at some point become so gross 

and discriminatory as to violate the Fourteenth 
Amendment.,,12 

the taken by the govern­
ment in its brief, the new Solicitor General 
had serious doubts about the role of the fed­
eml courts on this issue. Victor 
ports that Cox at first 
Davis, the First Assistant to the Solicitor 

argue the case, despite its enormous 
"",·t"y,,,,,, i3 Ultimately, Cox was convinced 

to argue it. The government asked for an un­
usually large amount of time for oral 
by an minutes-which re-

was granted. 14 The argument occurred 
on April 19, 1961. 

Two weeks later, without explanation, the 
Court set the case for reargument at 

the start of the fall Term.'s The government 
submitted a new amicus brief that 

nl~'oYl')l)'" was no rel­

evant or particularly in the case of 
malapportionment of state legislatures. 16 The 
brief further 
stitutional because 
state malapportionment was "subverting re­
sponsible state and local government" and was 
markedly "more severe than Congressional 
malapportionment," and that electoral 
ities were The brief as 
President Kennedy had done several years ear­
lier in his article in the New York Times 

that "the most 

gross underrepresentation of urban interests" 
and against urban areas."IS 
The brief advocated that the "starting 
for a constitutional apportionment was 

and capita equality 
of rf'nrp"f'ntM and that "equal represen­
tation" based on popUlation "is in 
our constitutional system20 

Cox again delivered the argument for the 
government in Baker v. Carr. After 
harshly by Justice Frankfurter dur­

the argument, as Cox and I walked out of 
the courtroom, he whispered that "Felix Frank­
furter is " It is of course extremely rare 
for an advocate in the Court or in any 
court even to think, let alone admit, that his 
position 
even more important, psychic energy 

induces advocates to think that their 
posItion is or, at not wrong. Cox's 
statement undoubtedly reflected both his hon­

and his doubt about the use 

of the courts to remedy the malapportionment 

Whether or not Justice Frankfurter was 
right in the he was not right in terms of 
the subsequent of the Supreme 
Court. The Court in Baker v. Carr held that 
the challenge to 

apportionment 
and presented a 

y,,,".v.uv',-, constitutional cause of action" un­
der the Fourteenth Amendment21 The Court 
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and Archibald Cox Solicitor General. The logi­
cal was that the new administration 
would support the in the 
Supreme Court. After all, President Kennedy 
had previously his and it 

tures from rural to urban areas. 
The federal filed an ami­

cus brief in of the plaintiffs. The 
by chance, I was to 

review in the Solicitor General's Office-­
that, to the chal­

lenge to malapportionment of state legisla­
tures does not present a political 10 

It contended that the position in 
was contained in a plurality opinion, endorsed 

only three Justices, and that, in any event, 
that position had been "undermined by subse­
quent developments." I I The brief further ar­
gued that malapportionment of state 

exceeds the mal apportionment 
districts, dis-

and discriminatory as to violate the Fourteenth 
Amendment." 12 

the taken by the govern­
ment in its the new Solicitor General 
had serious doubts about the role of the fed­
eral courts on this issue. Victor Navasky re­
ports that Cox at first that Oscar 
Davis, the First Assistant to the Solicitor 
General, argue the case, despite its enormous 
""''',Art,,,,,,,, 13 Ultimately, Cox was convinced 

to argue it. The asked for an un­
usually amount of time for oral argument 
by an amicus-forty-five minutes-which re­

14 The occurred 

on April 19, 1961. 
Two weeks without explanation, the 

Court set the case for reargument at 
the start of the fall Term. ls The nmJPrlntTIPnt 

ened its prior arguments. It 

fully that malapportionment was 
not a question and that the plural-

position in was no rel­
evant or applicable, particularly in the case of 
malapportionment of state legislatures. 16 The 
brief further that the "need for con­
stitutional protection urgent" because 
state malapportionment was re­

state and local and was 
"more severe than Congressional 

malapportionment," and that electoral 
ities were 17 The brief argued, as 
President Kennedy had done several years ear­
lier in his article in the New York Times 

that "the most 

gross underrepresentation of urban interests" 
and against urban areas.,,18 

The brief advocated that the 
for a constitutional apportionment system was 
"numerical equality" and capita equality 
of and that 
tat ion" based on population "is m 

our constitutional system.20 

Cox again delivered the argument for the 
in Baker v. Carr. After 

harshly Justice Frankfurter dur­
the argument, as Cox and I walked out of 

the courtroom, he that "Felix Frank­
furter is " It is of course extremely rare 
for an advocate in the Court or in any 
court even to let alone admit, that his 
position is wrong. The investment of time and, 
even more important, energy virtually 
always induces advocates to think that their 
position is right or, at least, not wrong. Cox's 
statement undoubtedly reflected both his hon­
esty and his doubt about the use 

of the courts to the malapportionment 
problem. 

Whether or not Justice Frankfurter was 
right in the abstract, he was not in terms of 
the subsequent jurisprudence of the 
Court. The Court in Baker v. Carr held that 
the 
Tennessee's apportionment system 
was not a political question and presented a 

constitutional cause of action" un­
der the Fourteenth Amendment. 21 The Court 

http:Amendment.21
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Bruce J. Terris (above), the author of this arti­
cle, helped Robert F. Kennedy prepare for his only 
Supreme Court argument. Terris argued seventeen 
cases while serving in the office of the Solicitor 
General. 

emphasized that the opinion of Justice Frank­

furter in Colegrove, upon which the majority 

below had relied to dismiss the case for lack 

ofsubject-matterjurisdictioll, was approved by 

only three of the seven Justices in the case, that 

this plurality was in tension with other prece­

dent establishing that there was subject-matter 

jurisdiction, and that the challenge was justi­

ciable. Thus, the federal courts were now open 

to cases challenging legislative maJapportion­

ment. 

The first case flowing from Baker v. Carr 

turned out not to be a legislative malappor­

tionment case. Rather, it concerned statewide 

elections. Gray v. Sanders22 involved use of 

Georgia's county-unit system in Democratic 

primaries for the nomination of United States 

Senators, the Governor, and other statewide 

officials. In those bygone days, the Demo­

cratic primary in Georgia was the equivalent 

of election. Each county was given a specified 

number of unit votes, ranging from two unit 

votes for the least populated counties to only 

six unit votes for the most populated counties. 

The majority of the county-unit vote deter­

mined the nomination. Because of the wide 

disparity in population among counties, the 

value of a vote was as much as ninety-nine 

times greater in rural, less populous counties 

than in populous counties. 

Again, the federal government submitted 

an amicus briefsupporting the plaintiffs.23 The 

brief argued that the Georgia county-unit sys­

tem was unconstitutional because the arrange­

ment grossly and systematically discriminated 

against voters in populous counties in favor of 

voters in rural counties. The brief argued that 

the Fourteenth Amendment requires, "at the 

very least, .. [that] the point ofdeparture must 

be equal or substantially equal treatment of all 

voters."24 The brief further argued that "once 

it appears that persons similarly circumstanced 

have been denied equality of voting rights," 

then such scheme is unconstitutional unless 

any "differentiation has a relevant and substan­

tial justification."25 

It was customary, at least at that time, for 

Attorneys General to argue one case during 

their tenure in office. Kennedy wanted to argue 

Gray P. Sanders. Navasky describes a meeting, 

attended by Deputy Attorney General Nicholas 

Katzenbach and Assistant Attorney General 

for Civil Rights Burke Marshall, in which they 

maneuvered Cox into suggesting that Kennedy 

make the argument. 26 Cox's ready acquies­

cence to giving up a case of this importance, 

without making any effort to argue the case 

himself, is only understandable based on his 

attitude toward reapportionment. In contrast, 

Kennedy's interest in arguing the case fore­

shadowed his support for "one man, one vote" 

in the subsequent legislative cases. 

Kennedy argued that the county-unit 

system in Georgia violated the Fourteenth 

Amendment. In his prepared remarks, he did 

not go all the way to support "one man, one 

http:argument.26
http:plaintiffs.23
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vote," stating that "We are not that 

under all circumstances every vote must be 

weight But under 

"conceive" of a county-unit system making 
"sense. ,,28 

In the district court's decision 
to enjoin the county-unit system, the Court in 

Gray v. Sanders explicitly embraced the "one 

that the 

" .....'nri"'nt'p to Lincoln's Gettys­
Fifteenth, ,"\/P"tp,pn!'h 

and Nineteenth Amendments can mean only 
one person, one vote."29 In 

so, the Court explained that it had long been 

recognized that all qualified voters have the 

constitutional "to have their vote counted 

once" and that the weighting of votes that 

was constitutionally concerned allo­

cation of Senators and the use of the electoral 
in the choice of the President. 30 

at least with to statewide the 
Court made clear that one person's vote must 

be counted equally with those of all other vot­

ers in a state. 

The first case to come to the 

Court on the merits 

tionment of a legislature was v. 
31 which involved the malapportion­

mentofseats in the federal House 
tatives among the then ten districts in 

While the Constitution the method 

of allocating seats to the various states in Ar­

ticle I, Section 2, it did not deal 

with the allocation of seats within a state hav­

more than one district. The result was that 

there were extreme in the number of 

residents among districts in numerous states. 

Under the system 
in Georgia, a from the 

Fifth District two to three times as 

many voters as were represented by each of the 
~"QQtr"'" from the other Georgia congres­

sional districts. 32 The district court 

dismissed the complaint, Justice Frank­

furter's opinion in 


Court noted probable on June 10, 
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The federal government filed an amicus 

brief in support of the The brief 

was not to dispute within the Depart­
ment of Justice. The brief argued that federal 

courts have the power to consider the constitu­

tional that such 

are justiciable, and while the 

merits of the case should be remanded to the 

district court, the applicable standard should 

be that congressional districts must be as 

in population as Cox did not have 
any trouble with the brief, and it was submitted. 

However, the choice of the in the 

Solicitor General's Office to argue the case on 

behalf of the United States was distinctly un­

usual. a true 

argued two cases in each two-week session of 

the Court. Since there were not two 

cases in each session of importance-

the federal government did not participate in 

as a proportion of Supreme Court cases 
as it does now--Cox often argued cases of 

considerably less he 

chose not to argue \Y. despite 

its obvious effect on the composition of 

the House of 

Instead, r )'. 

Sanders. I was never told why, and r never 
asked. I was then thirty years old and had been 

Court cases for only three 

could not have been by 

chance. While, as we will see, Cox four 

state cases in that 

they all involved the same issues 

and similar facts. Cox's decision not to argue 

'H'esberry-or at least to it to his First 

or Second Assistants-must have reflected his 
reluctance to argue in favor of "one man, one 
vote." 

consistent with thc U()'\JPrn'T1Pt1 

that the Court need 

the substantive standard. How­

ever, if the Court did choose to determine the 
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I strongly urged that this standard 
should be "congressional based di-

on population, without any substantial 
deviation."J6 

The Court not only held that the 
Georgia apportionment 
against voters in the Fifth 
decided to determine the standard to III 

congressional elections. The Court held un­
equivocally that "the command of Art I, s 2 

... means that as nearly as is one 
man's vote in a election is to be 
worth as much as another's.'m there­
fore firmly established that "one person, one 
vote" applies to elections. 

On June 10, 1963, less than three months 
following its initial enunciation of the "one 
man, one vote" principle in 
the Court noted probable 
ofthe six state 
discussed by Ms. 
v. Sims. 38 Later that same year, the Court noted 

probable jurisdiction in the other two cases de­
cided with Revnolds v. Sims. Together, these 

was asked to consider 
whether the "one person, one vote" 

v. Sanders for statewide e1ec­

sional 
ment of both houses of state 

The most difficult of the state 
ment cases for Cox was WMCA v. Simon.40 

It involved a challenge brought by five of the 

parity in New York was nol 
as that of the other state apportIOnment cases. 

Ms. Knowles describes the series of 
memoranda written for Attorney General 

by the Solicitor Deputy At-
General Theodore Soren­

son, President Special Counsel, 

John the Assistant Attorney General 
various in the 

Division of the Department of 
All the even 

that 

con­
cerned whether to advocate in the Supreme 
Court that the Fourteenth Amendment com­

this particularly in both houses 
of the 42 All the memoranda, ex­

cept for those of the Civil Rights Division 
and that the federal government 
not support a "one man, one vote" principle 
in both houses. Katzenbach, Sorenson, and 

all would have supported all of the 
plaintiffs but would not have asked the Court 
to hold that the Fourteenth Amendment re-

adoption of a "one person, one vote" 

standard. Cox's memorandum argued that the 
government should not advocate a "one man, 
one vote" standard because, in the unlikely 
event the Court adopted this strict standard, it 
would precipitate a "major constitutional cri­
sis" that would cause "an enormous drop in 

public support for the Court." He emphasized 
that the standard would render forty-six out of 

state legislatures unconstitutional, caus­
damage both to the and to 
" and openly "doubt[ ed] whether 

the decision could be made to stick. 

in support of the government a "one 

man, one vote" standard.44 He had written an 
article for the Harvard Law Review on 
portionment while a Nieman Fellow at Harvard 
Law School in which he that the Four­
teenth Amendment required 
resentation." He gave as an 
equitable representation district 
4 to I. Whether or not Lewis's efforts were 
fully consistent with journalistic he had 
staked out a position indeoendent of being a 

http:standard.44
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foJlowed the internal de­
knew more than even the 

After the numerous memoranda had been 
held 

antechamber of his 
was attended 

Sorensen, Assistants to the President 

Kenneth O'Donnell and Lawrence 
brothers-in-law, 

had run his presidential 
and Shriver, then the director 

eral 
Research Section of the Civil 
Harold Greene (later the chiefjudge of the fed­
eral district court in Washington, and 

This meeting was extraordinary not 
only because of the importance of the 

but because several had no obvious con­
nection to the topic under discussion. 

In it was clear that the meet-

of 
the federal government in the rp~,nn()rtl()rlml'nt 

cases then before the Supreme Court That de­

cision had already been made. The Attorney 
General had decided to the plaintiffs 
in all the cases and to attempt to induce the 

Court to adopt the "one man, one 
vote" standard. 

The was for another 
purpose: to persuade Archibald Cox to 
a brief supporting the It is extrernel 
likely that the position of Cox and the federal 

had greatly influenced the Court 
in its crucial decision in Baker v, Carr. At least, 
this was the prevailing view at that time in the 
Department of Justice. realized that 

if Cox did not sign the brief in Reynolds v. 
Sims and argue the case, it would be obvious 
to the Court that the Solicitor General did not 
support the federal position. The 
Court had great not merely be­

cause of his office as the Solicitor General but 
also because of his great intellect and his deep 
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feeling for the role both of the Court and of his 
office. On the other hand, understood 

that he could order Cox to support "one 
man, one vote." 

started by Atthe ''''-'''''''''" 
Cox to explain the issues in the pending cases. 
Cox described the issues in his usual brilliant 
manner, in detail and at Most impor­
tant, he emphasized that there was no sound 

basis for the federal government to argue for 
"one man, one vote" in both houses of state 
legislatures and therefore to support the plain­
tiffs in all of the cases, He concluded 
that the Court would not go this far 
and the Administration would be hurt in 
so extreme a Cox's presenta­
tion, Kennedy left the room to get some 
orange juice and returned to the continuation 
of Cox's talk. 

O'Brien and O'Donnell then discussed the 
politics of the issue, stated that, con­
trary to popular reapportionment would 
not help the Democratic because reap­

add to the number 
quickly dismissed 

;.fUll""". He said that it did 

tionment was wrong. After some more 
his contention that 

the Court would never approve "one man, one 
vote" and it would hurt the government even 
to ask for it. He said that he did not know how 
a brief in favor of 
tion could be drafted. Kennedy then ended the 

by "Archie, I know you will 

find a way." 
no one, not Kennedy or any­

one had formulated what substantive stan­
"dard the federal government should present in 

its brief Such a clear decision would 
bJy have resulted in a confrontation with Cox. 

it was just assumed that the govern­
ment's brief would support the in all 
the cases and that Cox would somehow 

out how to do this and follow his conscience at 
the same time. 
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Cox and I walked together down the fifth­

floor corridor between the Attorney General's 

Office and the Solicitor General's Office. On 

the way, Cox said to me, "He doesn't un­

derstand." While I did not re-

I thought about how much Kennedy did 

understand. He not understood the funda­

mental legal-political issue but he understood. 

his man, Archibald Cox. 

Cox did just what chal 

him to do. Instead of the government's brief 

being drafted in the relevant division of the 

of Justice-in this case, the Civil 
Division-and then edited by an Assis­

tant to the Solicitor General such as myself and 
then the First or Second Assistant to the Solic­

itor General, Cox wrote the brief himself. It 
may have been the only my tenure 

of seven years in the Solicitor General's Of­

fice written 

era!' And Cox did what 

out a way to the plaintiffs in 

all the cases. 

Cox's brief, which was filed in the first 

of the state apportionment cases, /ldmyland 
Committee for Fair l'. Tawes, 
was the principal brief for alJ the cases. It 

did not argue for the strict "one man, one 

vote" standard. Instead he argued that the "ba­

sic standard of comparison is the representa­
tion accorded qualified voters per ,,45 

The brief argued that state vio­

lates the Equal Protection Clause if anyone of 

three tests is met: (I) the apportionment creates 

inequalities in per representation 

without any rhyme or reason"; the appor­

tionment is based on criteria that are 

to express constitutional limitations or other­
wise such as race or sex, or is based 
on criteria that are "whimsical" or "irrelevant," 

such as a county's geographic or (3) 

the apportionment subordinates popular rep­

resentation as a whole "to the 

subdivisions to such a decree as to 

create gross inequalities among voters," 

ing control of the legislature to small minori­

ties of oeoole. However, Cox's brief did hold 

open the possibility that the Equal Protection 

Clause might establish a stricter standard, in-

the "one man, one vote" In 
the briefs filed in each of the cases, Cox 

that all the state before the Court 

violated one or more of these tests. 46 

Subsequently, before the Court 

decided the state reapportionment case, it 

noted probable jurisdiction in Lucas v. Col­
orado General Assembly. This case, which 

involved the Colorado presented 

an even more difficult factual situation for Cox 

than the previous five state cases. One house 

was apportioned almost according to 
The other from a pop­

ulation basis only to the extent that 36 per­

cent of the people could elect a majority of the 

state senators.48 Moreover, in a recent referen­

every county in the State had approved 

the nODulous ar-

Once again, Kennedy was concerned 

about Cox's position. Deputy Gen­
eral Katzenbach met with me confidentially 

to discuss whether any problems were likely 

lI1 the I 

did not know of any, and none developed. 

Cox had convinced himself that the 
(T"vprnmpnt could support the 

tionment. 

The brief acknowledged that "the 

case is closer than those which pre­
ceded it."49 Nevertheless, it that the per 

in the state senate, which 

were growmg because of population 

were sufficient to make a facie case of 

invidious discrimination. The brief further ar­
gued that this discrimination in per rep­

resentation from the gross 
tionment of the senate had no rational relation 

to objectives of appor­

tionment. 

To Cox's great surprise, the 
Court's decisions in all six of the state appor­

tionment cases went further than the federal 

http:senators.48
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government and Cox's position and embraced 
the of and that votes 

must be treated equally. In Reynolds v, 

which contained the main holding in the six 

cases, the Court held "as a basic consti­

tutional the Equal Protection Clause 
that the seats in both houses. , . must 

be apportioned on a basis."so The 

Court held that an individual'8 right to vote for 

state is unconstitutionally 
when its is diluted substantially when 

compared with votes ofcitizens in other 

of the state, 

In states that had re­
sisted reapportionment, 
rural areas that had lost 
population to the cities 
still enjoyed dispropor­
tionate representation. 
This 1961 cartoon crit­
icizes the unfairness of 
the situation. 

reports that when Chief justice 
Warren was the 

Lewis gave Cox a note asking: "How does 

it feel to be present at the second Ameri­

can Constitutional Convention?" Cox wrote 

"It feels awful. It is safe to say that 

few advocates who win a case of this 
tance have such in their moment of 

victory. 
The result of v, Sims and the KOImnlf1C 

state apportionment eases 

was to end Of course, 

new problems have most 
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increasingly and extreme 
52 Nonetheless, there are few 

who would with the 
proposition that Attorney General 

and the Supreme Court were that the 

Protection Clause of the Fourteenth 
the malapportionment 

that this ar­

ticle is not Archibald 

Cox in any way. He was one of 

the great Solicitors General in American his­

tory. He was a brilliant lawyer and outstand­
ing oral advocate, Few lawyers have come 

close to his presence before the 
when he virtually lectured the 

in these 

enonnously Important cases, 

affected the American system of gov­

ernment, Robert Kennedy's political acumen 

outmatched Archibald Cox's legal brilliance. 
It may be worthwhile for to ponder 
this lesson. 
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Two decades ago, in the summer of 1 celebrations of the bicentennial of the United 

States Constitution were in high gear under the watchful eye of then recently retired Chief 

Justice Warren E. Burger, who chaired the Commission on the Bicentennial of tile United States 

Constitution between 1985 and 199 J . I Numerous seminars, and conferences across 

the land made clear not the role and value of what Chief Justice William Howard Taft 

once called "the ark of our covenant"2 in the life of the nation but also the central the 

judiciary had as state and national courts confronted vital 

questions of and dividing the As that astute French aristocrat 

Alexis de Tocqueville first noted in I is dragged in of himself 

onto the political field .... There is hardly a question in the United States which does 

not sooner or later turn into a judicial one."3 With the "right to declare laws unconstitutional," 

he explained, the "cannot compel the to make but at least he can constrain 

them to be faithful to their own laws and to remain in harmony with themselves.,-4 

De observations remain true 

The number of issues the execu­

tive and legislative branches of both state and 

federal governments seems 

and it is rare indeed when judges do not have 

at least some part in their attempted resolution. 

Pre-eminent among American courts ofcourse 

is the Court of the United States. Yet 

its distinction springs from more than its loca­

tion on an organizational flow chart as the final 

point of appeal for many litigants. Rather, in 

establishing the of the national Con­

stitution and statutes in the context of decid­

ing cases, the Justices have had much to do 

with shaDinQ: the kind of society that defines 

American life. The Court has served as the 

"balance of the As Justice 

Robert H. Jackson wrote more than a half 

century ago, 

In a in which rapid 

tend to upset all equilibrium, the 

without CXCCCUIl its own lim­

ited powers, must strive to maintain 

the great system of balances upon 

which government is based. 

Whether these balances and checks 

are essential to liberty elsewhere in 

the world is beside the they are 

indispensable to the 
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Chief of these balances are: be­

tween the Executive and 

between the central govern­

ment and the states; third, between 
state and state; fourth, between au­

thority, be it state or and the 

rule of the 

the individuaL6 

Understandably, In de Toc­
"the power granted to Amer­

ican courts to pronounce on the constitution­

ality of Jaws is one of the most 

barriers ever erected the tyranny of 

political assemblies. Justice Jackson's refer­

ence to "free echoed a term spo­

ken and written often by those in the Found­

In most contexts it referred to 

the intricate of restraints consist­

ing offederalism and that 

the Constitution erected.9 Recent books about 
the Supreme Court relate to these several di­

mensions of constitutional balance that Jack­

son highlighted. 
familiar with the history of the 

Court realizes that the recognizable "Marble 
Palace"lo of today is a far different institution 

from the one established the First 

in 1789 in advance of the Court's first ses­

sion in J790. Increased of both 
the Court and process in the 1790s 

has been facilitated immensely a vast re­

search and editorial effort that has occupied 

the part of three decades and manifested 

itself as The Documentary History of the 

Supreme Court of the United States, 1789­

1800. The happy result is that much of what is 

known about the federal judiciary in this pe­
riod is or will be attributable or in­

directly to the Documentary History's first 
seven volumes. II Students of the Court who 

have followed the progress of the series thus 

far will therefore be pleased to know that the 

concluding installment, volume under 

the editorship of Washington 

University historian and scholar Maeva 

has The contents 
of this latest installment relate almost 

to the cases the Court decided 1798, 

and 1800. 

From the outset, the of 
the Documentary History has been 

to rescue the Court of the pre-Marshall era 

from the obscurity it has endured. Those 

years are the least understood and ap­

preciated in all of Court 

much so that, unti I lately at 

has been treated writers as more of a pre­

lude to a play, with the first act 
only upon Marshall's arrival in 180 I Or as one 

scholar of this period has opined, when asked 

what think of the "most peo­

with an interest in the law and his­

tory respond that do not think about the 
early Court."I] Little wonder that a popular 

that Marshall was the 

first Chief Justice. Even the massive first vol­

ume of the Holmes Devise History reserved 

only three for the Supreme Court as 
suCh.14 That those eleven years remain terra 

even among those who should know 

more than they do is the deficiency the Docu­

project has to rectify. 

by the Supreme 

Court History with encouragement in 

its inception by then-Chief Justice Burger and 

others on the and with additional sup­
port from various foundations, the project has 

demonstrated that the years 1789--1800 

merit study on their own. Much life has been 

found beneath what hitherto had been 

a published record. When the author of 

this review essay examined the first volume of 

the Documentary two decades ago, 

he noted a made by editors Marcus 
that the set ·'will consti­

tute a collection of materials that no individual 
scholar could toduplicate."16 With thefi­

nal volume now in hand, it is easy to conclude 

that their pledge has been more than fulfilled. 
What was true of volumes one through seven 

remains true for volume Many valuable 

materials-such as letters, official 
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The eighth and final volume of the Documentary History project, which covers cases the Court decided during 
1798, 1799, and 1800, was presented to the Court last spring. Justice Souter and Chief Justice Roberts 
attended the reception and received the book on behalf of the Court. 

and extracts from newspaper articles-are in 
for the first time. and for the first time 

and 

several galaxies away. 
One is literally far back into time. 

The period covered is 
noteworthy in several ways. the years 
J798-1800 were highly thanks to 
the newly emerged party that formed 

partly over what amounted to an undeclared 
war with France that was in progress, and the 
recently enacted Alien and Sedition acts that 
attempted to squelch dissent. Still, in 
contrast to the Court with which Americans 
are familiar today, most of the "war-related 
and red-hot issues of the did not come 

before the Justices. 17 For examole. desoite the 

as circuit judges in trials and convictions under 

the Sedition Act of J the Court never ruled 
on a case the Sedition Act for 
the reason that the Court's ap­

pellate jurisdiction did not encompass appeals 
in criminal cases from the circuit courts, one 
of the two kinds of federal trial courts estab­
lished by the Judiciary Act of 1789. 18 From the 
perspective ofDemocratic RepUblicans-Vice 
President Thomas Jefferson's followers, who 
were the principal targets of the legislation­
that might have been just as we II, as much as 
they insisted that the law was unconstitutional. 

What they assuredly did not want was a ruling 
by the Supreme Court validating the Sedition 
Act's constitutionality against their protesta­

tions to the contrary. That was a valid concern. 
After all, Justices such as Samuel Chase had 

presided over Sedition Act tri­
with partisan rhetoric running 

the Court-all of the members of which 

or President Adams-was viewed 
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by Jeffersonians as a bastion of the Federal­

ist or at least as an arm of the executive 

branch. 
HOW,.'"pr enough of the Court's business 

had a political dimension to demonstrate that 

the newly established national judicial power 
would not be able to escape political involve­
ment, as seen in Baas v. Tingey.!9 In contention 

was the salvage amount to be awarded to the 

officers and crew of an American naval ves­

sel that had recaptured a merchant ship 
seized by a French privateer. Under an 

act one half of the value of a cap­

tured vessel and its cargo could be claimed, 
the prize was retaken from an "en­

of the United States. Thus the Court 

had to decide whether France constituted such 

an " Concluding that at least a lim­

ited war was under way, the Justices held that 
the term "enemy" could aptly be applied to 

France. The reaction in the Jeffersonian (and 

pro-French) press was as il­
lustrated by the Aurora of Philadelphia, which 

took the Bench to task. "If this report and the 
opinions ofthe be faithfully 

given, in our opinion every who asserted 

that we were in a state of war contrary to the 

rights of to declare it, OUGHT TO BE 

'-",","Vll\..!, as concern among Jeffersonians 
over the constitutionality of the Sedition Act 

reflected, the this time "continued 

the ofjudicial review by on the 
constitutionality of measures."2! 

The Court had first engaged in constitutional 

in 1793 in Chisholm v. Geor­
gia, a decision so unpopular that it promptly 

led to ratification of the Eleventh ""'....UlU"''''H 

which attempted to withdraw from the federal' 

judicial power suits states a citizen 
of another state or foreign But it was 

In v. United States, 
in volume seven of the Documentary His­

tory, that the Court decided its first case chal­

lenging the constitutional validity of an act of 

The statute survived the but 

the clear message from the arguments and the 

decision was that the judicial power encom­

passed the authority to disregard a statute that 

the concluded was in conflict with the 

Constitution. The Court would not make that 
decisive move until 1803, in Marbury v. Madi­
son, although one suspects had IVf{j!F "I'n v 

not occurred when it did, it would have been 

only a matter of time until the Bench formally 

negated a legislative enactment. That seems 

probable, the groundwork that was be-

laid and the expectations that were 

established the 1790s. 
Calder v. Bull,25 which came down two 

years after Hylton, found the Court reviewing 

the constitutionality of a state statute way of 

section 25 ofthe Judiciary Act of I which 

allowed Court review ofa decision of 

the highest court of a state-in this 'HJ'UHV~, 

the Court of Connecticut-if the lit­

igation implicated the Constitution, a federal 

statute, or a treaty, and if the court below had 

held against the federal claim. The case in­
volved a squabble between the Calders 
and the Bulls over an inheritance?6 

The legislature of Connecticut a 
law a new hearing to Bull and his 

wife after their right to appeal a probate court 

decree had expired. At the second 

the Bulls were successful. The 

other claimants, then appealed 
to the highest Connecticut court, before 

ing their case to the Court on a writ 

of error. Their federal question was the con­
tention that the action allowing a 

new probate hearing constituted an "ex post 

facto law" in violation of section 10 of Article 

I of the Constitution, the provision that Chief 

Justice John Marshall would later deem "a bill 

of rights for the people of each State.'>27 

When the case was decided on 9, 
however, the statute was not found to 

be contrary to the ban in section 10 UI;,_a u:"", 
in the views of participating Justices 

Iredell, and Patterson, 

facto laws 

not 

civil, actions. According to the opinion filed 
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Jeffersonians as a bastion of the Federal­

ist party, or at least as an arm of the executive 

branch. 

However, of the Court's business 
had a political dimension to demonstrate that 

the newly established national judicial power 

would not be able to escape involve­
ment, as seen in Baas v. 19 In contention 

was the salvage amount to be awarded to the 

officers and crew of an American naval ves­

sel that had recaptured a merchant 

ously seized by a French privateer. Under an 
act one half of the value of a cap­

tured vessel and its cargo could be 

provided the was retaken from an "en­

of the United States. Thus the Court 
had to decide whether France constituted such 

an that at least a lim­

ited war was under way, the Justices held that 

the term could be applied to 
France. The reaction in the Jeffersonian 

press was as il­

lustrated by the Aurora which 

took the Bench to task. "ffthis report and the 
opinions of the Judges, be faithfully 

mour who asserted 

that we were in a state of war to the 

rights of Congress to declare it, OUGHT TO BE 

IMPEACHED. 

as concern among Jeffersonians 
over the constitutionality of the Sedition Act 
reflected, the Court during this time "continued 

the practice ofjudicial review by on the 
of measures."21 

The Court had first in constitutional 

in 1793 in Chisholm v. Geor­

22 a decision so unpopular that it 
led to ratification of the Eleventh Amendment, 
which attempted to withdraw from the federal . 

power suits states a citizen 
of another state or country. But it was 

in Hylton v. United 23 a case discussed 

in volume seven of the Documentary His­
that the Court decided its first case chal­

the constitutional validity of an act of 

The statute survived the attack, but 

the clear message from the arguments and the 

decision was that the judicial power encom­

passed the authority to disregard a statute that 

the concluded was in conflict with the 

Constitution. The Court would not make that 
decisive move until 1803, in 

son, although one suspects 

not occurred when it it would have been 

only a matter of lime until the Bench formalIy 

negated a enactment. That seems 

probable, the groundwork that was be-

laid and the 

established 

Calder j" Bull, which came down two 
years after Hylton, found the Court 

the constitutionality ofa state statute by way of 

section 25 of the Judiciary Act of 1789, which 

allowed Supreme Court review ofa decision of 
the court of a state-in this instance, 

the Court of Connecticut-if the lit­

igation implicated the Constitution, a federal 
statute, or a treaty, and if the court below had 

held against the federal claim. The case in­
volved a family squabble between the Calders 

and the Bulls over an inheritance.26 

The legislature of Connecticut a 
law a new to Bull and his 

wife after their right to a probate court 

decree had At the second 
the Bulls were successful. The Calders, the 

other claimants, then 

to the Connecticut court, before bring­
ing their case to the Court on a writ 

of error. Their federal was the con­
tention that the legislative action a 

new probate constituted an "ex post 

facto law" in violation of section 10 of Article 

I of the Constitution, the provision that Chief 
Justice John Marshall would later deem "a bill 

of fights for the people of each State. 

When the case was decided on 9, 
however, the statute was not found to 

be contrary to the ban in section 10 

in the views of participating Justices Chase, 
Cushing, and Patterson,28 the ex post 

facto laws contemplated 

c1uded only certain criminal, not 

actions. According to the opinion filed 

http:inheritance.26
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by Justice the ban would disallow only 

criminal laws that worked a hardship on some­

one, as would if a law made an action 
criminal that was innocent at the time it was 

committed, or assessed a greater punishment 

than would have been 
the time it 

ex post facto laws be retroactive, not 

all retroactive laws were ex post facto Jaws 

within the of the Constitution. Per­

haps accounting for this narrower construction 

was the realization offered by Justice Iredell 

that application of the clause to civil laws 

would unduly constrict the governing power 

in that must sometimes yield to 
public in order for both govern-

to survive. Thus, the deci­

sIOn dlsappoll1ted those who this part of 

the Constitution, which contained some of the 

threatened vested 

Calder v. Bull has had considerable stay­

ing power. The Court's 

the ex post facto clause still 

the editors of volume note that one Jus­

tice has that "'Calder and 
its progeny ... be reconsidered. "'30 

What has also maintained currency is the 

relevance of an between Justices 

Chase and Iredell over whether should 

invalidate a statute because it was in conflict 

with extraconstitutional values. In finding no 

constitutional deficiency in the 

statute, Justice Chase 

that 

olation of natural law. "There are certain vital 

he observed, "in our free 
lican governments which will determine and 

overrule an apparent and flagrant abuse of leg­
islative power. An act of the (for I 

cannot call it a law) contrary to the 

of the social compact cannot be con­

sidered a rightful exercise of the 
,,31 

Justice Iredell, however, felt 
to Chase's I~"""()(," claim. For 

of "some 
that if the 

Constitution itself imposed no checks on 
islative power, "whatever the chose 

to enact would be lawfully enacted, and the 

power could never 

nounce it void:' "The ideas of natural 

are no fixed standard," he contin­

ued. "The ablest and purest of men have dif­

fered upon the subject, and all that the Court 

could say in such an event would 

be that the legislature .. had an act 

in the opinion of the judges, was incon­
sistent with abstract of 

that power might nonetheless be 

he concluded by insisting that 

must be content to limit power, where we can, 

and where we cannot, consistently with its use, 

we must be content to repose a salutary con­

fidence. It is our consolation, that there never 
existed a government, in ancient or modern 

more free from danger in this respect, 
than the governments of America."33 

aside from the foundations 

occasional reference 

review, the Court 

to shape a judicial sys­

tem still very much in its infancy by delineat­

ing in concrete terms how the system would 

operate with to the relations between 

the Supreme the lower federal courts, 

and the state courts. In passing the Judiciary 

Act of I defined federal court 

to encompass suits between cit­

izens of ditlerent states, to pro­

vide a federal forum that might be free from 

the discrimination of local judges and 

at the Pennsylva­

nia ratifying "is it not necessary. 

if we mean to restore either public or private 
credit, that as well as ourselves, have 

a just and tribunal to which they may 

resort? I must ask how a merchant must feel 

to have his property at the mercy of the 
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laws of Khode IsiandT34 the act re­

quired that the amount in had to ex­

ceed $2,000. Wilson v. Danie136 how 

the threshold would be applied. 

Did the rule apply to the for which 

Thomas Daniel13? had sued William Wilson, or 

the $1 that the circuit court in Virginia had 

award Daniell?38 The answer would determine 

whether the Court had 

For the majority, the sum originally demanded 

Daniell-not the circuit court's award­

constituted the amount in controversy. Other­

reasoned Chief Justice Oliver Ellsworth, 

a plaintifrwould maintain an over 

a defendant. As as a plaintiff sued for a 

sum exceeding be able 

to retain review in the Court whereas 

a defendant would be blocked from doing the 

same if the judgment came in for a sum less 

than $2,000. "It is not to be that the 

intended to give any such an 

advantage over his and it to 
be avoided."39 

Delineation decisions like Wilson were 

important because many details of operation 

for the federal court system were not 

out in any statute. There was no model at hand 

for easy analogy, in that there was par­

allel to the federal courts within any of the 

states, and there had been no national court 

system under the Articles ofConfederation. As 

de would later write from an out­

side perspective, of 

the United States is the hardest thing there for 

a to understand."4o Moreover, "[iJt 

was, in almost their con­

tact with the judges sitting in these Circuit 

Courts that the people of the country became 

acquainted with this new institution, the Fed- . 
eral Judiciary.,,4] 

in addition to 

the Court was establishing 

its own internal operating 

nificant ways these years. un­

"'IJ'''''''''"'A' in volume eight is further evi­
dence that the Court under ChiefJustice Oliver 

Ellsworth "had developed a practice of deliv­

an opinion of the Court rather than se­
riatim opinions.,,42 This method of present­

the Court's decision became sufficiently 
routine··at least in ,n->nr.,rC.",," cases-that on 

one occasion when it was not used and the 

Justices reverted to seriatim Jus­

tice Chase seemed "{ pre­

sumed that the sense of the Court would have 

been delivered by the and there­

fore I have not prepared a formal 

on the occasion.,,43 According to one 

toward the end of Ellsworth's time in 

the "Justices would try to achieve consensus 

and present a single opinion through their chief 

or the senior Justice. The percentage of opin­

ions delivered seriatim declined, while the per­

of majority opinions by the Chief Jus­

tice increased. Ellsworth 

cally used the "opinion of the court" 

on at least one occasion. The use of a 

opinion became the norm after Marshall's ap­

pointment as ChiefJustice in 180 I, probably as 

a defensive measure to present a unified front 

whenever possible as a result of the 

tension within the government after 

the Court experienced divided government for 

the first time following the ejections of 1800 

that left the Bench in the position of a political 

Fifth, cases such as Calder v. Bull and Wil­

son v. Daniel were a glimpse of the 

that the docket for the foreseeable 

future would be dominated by the sorts of dis­

putes that arose in a burgeoning, 

commercially vibrant over 

land ownership, customs duties, bills of ex­

and bankruptcy law.46 

the years 1798-1800 demon­

strated the importance of judicial se­

lection as vacancies opened on the Bench. In 

I Justice Wilson died. One ofPres­

ident Washington's appointees to the 

his departure created the first 

vacancy, for in the decade of the 1 judi­

cial vacancies seemed more the rule than the 

exception, but his departure marked the first 

death ofaJustice in harness, with the demise of 
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Justice Iredell following a year later. 

To fill Wilson's seat, President Adams offered 

the seat to John Marshall of Virginia, who had 
recently returned to the United States from a 

diplomatic mission to France and the XYZ Af­
which had only worsened relations with 

France. Marshall, was reluctant to 

abandon his lucrative Jaw practice in Rich­

mond, and declined. Adams then turned to 

Washington's of 
Virginia, who 47 With a tenure lasting 

until I Justice Washington became known 

as one of Marshall's staunchest all ies after the 

latter's designation as Chief Justice. 
Jefferson William 10hnson would 

later refer to Marshall and 

as "one However, had Marshall ac­

the nomination for Wilson's seat, it cer­

seems arguable that he might never have 

become Chief Justice. 

That presented itsel f after Pres­

ident Adams received word from Ellsworth­
then in France on a diplomatic mission­

in December that he was resigning as 

Chief Justice. By 1801, filling this 
vacancy became urgent. Because the electoral 

yielded a tie vote between Jefferson 
and Aaron which would not be resolved 

by the House of until Febru­
ary, Adams did not know who the next Pres­

ident would only that he would not be 
President after March 4. Moreover, the Ju­

diciary Act of 180 I, which became law on 
February I and which the next administra­

tion in 1802, would reduce the size 

of the Bench from six to five Justices at the 

next vacancy. Both electoral and statutory cir­

cumstances thus counseled against any delay. 
On December the President former 

Chief Justice John Jay for the and the 

Federalist-controlled Senate confirmed the ap­

on December 19. Jay, who 
had left the in 1795, declined 

to accept, deficiencies in the judicial sys­

tem (principally the onerous du­

ties that, the Judiciary Act was about 

to address, ifonly temporarily). Party leaders 

then urged that the nod go to a staunch Federal­

ist such as William who was the most 

senior Associate or to C. C. Pinck­
ney. on January 20 and with minimal 

Adams turned to his forty-five­

John Marshall, one 

of Jefferson's distant cousins and someone to 
. whom Adams's successor would sometimes re· 

fer as "that malignity."sl The national 

government had moved to in the 

fall of 1 so Marshall was Chief Justice 

when the Court met for the first time in the new 

in 1801. Marshall's 

ment thus owes much not only to refusal 
to return to his former post, but to the outcome 

of the election of I 

the nation's first truly contested presidential 

contest. In that event, Adams received seventy­

one electoral votes to Jefferson's sixty-eight. 

Had the votin!! been the other way with 

as Jefferson's Vice Presi­
dent in that pre-Twelfth Amendment era, it is 

inconceivable that a President Jefferson would 
have chosen Marshall as Ellsworth's successor. 

The volumes of the Documentary His­

tory project stand as both monuments to the 

past and valuable resources for the future. One 

is led to a project of similar scope and 

that might be an succes­
sor to the decades-long handiwork of Dr. Mar­

cus and her able or to consider the 
form such a proiect might take in an age of 

complementing the Documentary 

is publication of the Selected Letters 

of John Jay and Sarah Livingston Jay, com­

and edited by independent researchers 

Landa M. Freeman and Louise V North of 

Westchester County, New and 
scholar Janet M. of Man­

hattanville College52 

Among leaders in the Founding genera­

tion of the American nation, John seems 

safely to repose among the lesser-known 

ures. Students of the Court remem­
ber him as the first Chief Justice. But that he 

was President Washington's choice to head the 
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'llI,r?IFnP Court was itself to an im­

list of accomplishments before that 
appointment in 1789.53 A member of both the 
First and Second Continental and a 
successful he helped draft New York's 
first constitution, served as the state's chief 

undertook several diplomatic missions 
for the young national government, served as 

of Affairs for the Congress 

under the Articles of Confederation, and was 
a junior collaborator with Alexander Hamil­
ton and James Madison in the writing of the 

newspaper essays (Jay authored no 
more than five because of that be­
came known as The Federalist. While Chief 

Justice, he a",~"..""u Washington's 
as envoy extraordinaire to defuse tensions with 
Great Britain and a treaty that still 

bears his name that the Senate ratified in 1795. 
He as Chief in the same year after his 
election in absentia as Governor ofNew York. 

In an age when communication between 
two people out of earshot would almost invari-

The editors of a new compilation, Selected Letters of 
John Jay and Sarah Livingston Jay, focus on corre­
spondence between John Jay (pictured) and his wife, 
Sarah, but a few letters to and from George Wash­
ington, Thomas Jefferson, and family members are 
included as well. 

ably be by letter, if it was to occur at so var­
a career yielded much 

While the bulk ofSelected Letters consists of 
letters between and his wife corre­
spondence with other members of the family is 
included, as are a few letters to and from nota­
bles such as and Jefferson. Those 

into as well as relations 
among members of the family. For example, 
on April 7, I John and Sarah's son Pe­
ter Augustus several 
matters to William his grandfather: 
"Dr would have wrote to you be­
fore now, but papa to go to Elizabeth 
Town & take me with him last the 
weather being bad .... We have this 
day begun our house Our Stable is 

but the other two of the Tiles 
were blown off the roof. Two or three nights 
ago one of the willows which papa has lately 
procured was stolen out of the & the 
Cow has eat off the tops of those which he 
had before; but he says that next you 
may take your choice either to have the old 
one which will sprout from the roots or 
some which he had lately set out. 

Letters in the latter category did not neces­
sarily concern matters ofstate, as illustrated by 
a letter Washington wrote Jay in 1789 
that "the Harness of the President's 
was so much injured in from New 

that he will not be able to use it today. 
If Me Jay should propose going to Church this 
Morng. the President would be to him 

Sunday morng. 
published correspon­

nr",l1P,,,pr is available prinCI­

pally in two volumes edited by the late Richard 
Morris.58 Those interested in letters and other 
writings by Jay that have not yet 
in should access the massive 
of John Jay," an online archive consisting of 
some 13,000 documents that is maintained by 
Columbia 59 

Selected Letters is also enriched by a 

series of short essays that explore various 

http:Morris.58
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time, including health 

and 

and active in 

oreover, the Introduc­

tion provides information on such es­

ofthemail system 

in the late including de­

tai Is on postage rates and probable delivery 
times. One learns that pl1\!plC\np were rarely 

used because was based on the num­

ber of sheets in a letter well as the distance 

to its destination), and an counted 

as a sheet.61 the reader is Im­

both with the uncertainties and risks 

associated with in that era and 

with the unavoidable time such communica­

tion entailed-between the actual writing of a 

letter and its posting, its 

ally, if matters proceeded as 

of a reply from the intended It was 

truly an age in which news, whether of po­

litical successes or rarely 

traveled at more than four or five miles per 

hour on average. 

Aside from the collection of 

letters conveys about the Jay and their 

the reader also finds of Jay's 

political thought. For 

letter to on January 7, 

offering perspective on how a new gov­

ernment might be to the sys­

tem under the Articles: 

Convention is in 

and r am glad to find your name 

among those of its intended Mem­

bers .... Perhaps it is intended that 

this Convention shall not but 

recommend. If so, there is Dan­

ger that theif Recommendations will 

endless Discussions nprh",.,< 

Jealousies and party Heats. 

Would it not be better for 

plainly & in to 

declare that the present federal Gov­

ernmt. is inadequate ... but that in 

their opinion it would be 

for the people of the States with­

out Delay to appoint State Conven­

tions the way chuse their gen­

eral with the sole and ex­

press power of appointing 

to a Convention .. I\o alter­

ations in the Government should I 

think be made, nor if will 

take place, unless deduceable 

from the only source 

The 62 

This was echoed in the 

authored in Chisholm v. some six 

years later, When, as noted earlier in connec­

tion with the Documentary the Court 

found that was subject to suit in fed­

eral cOUli a citizen of another state: "From 

the crown of Great Britain, the sovereignty of 

their to the 

in the hurry of the war. . . made 

a confederation of the States, the basis ofa gen­

eral Government. Experience the 

had formed from it; and then 

in their collective and national ca­

pacity, established the present Constitution. It 
is remarkable that in establishing it, the peo­

ple exercised their own rights, and their own 

proper and conscious of the 

tude of it. they declared with becoming 

the United do ordain 

and establish this Constitution.' Here we see 

the as sovereigns of the whole 

country. 

A decade before Jay's death in I 

Supreme Court decided McCulloch v. 
land. 64 no decision, Marbury 

v. Madison included, has had a greater 

term impact on the development of political 

institutions and policy in the United 

States. familiar with American consti­

tutional should therefore not be 

surprised to discover that this decision is the 

subject of one of the latest volumes to appear 

in the Landmark Law Cases & American Soci­

ety series: M'Culloch v. Maryland, by Mark 

R. Killenbeck of the University of Arkansas 
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The latest volume to appear in the Landmark Law Cases & American Society series published by the University 
Press of Kansas is M'Culloch v. Maryland, by Mark R. Killenbeck of the University of Arkansas School of Law. 
Pictured is a branch of the Second Bank of the United States, for which James McCulloch refused to pay a 
tax, thereby precipitating that landmark suit. 

School of Law. 
Press of Kansas under the 
of Peter Charles Hoffer and N. E. H. Hull, 
the series now claims more than thirty titles, 
almost all of them decisions the 
U.S, Court. Additional entries are in 
preparation 66 

For at least the past several the 
case has been a venerable part of the lit­
erature on process, even 
the Landmark Law Cases series. 
the details of litigation from inception 

one is able to learn much about how 
and courts operate. The is not 

that a particular case study demonstrates how 
and courts function in every instance, 

No case, after will be exactly like any other 
in all its details. Rather, from a series of such 

one is fruitfully able to make gen­
eralizations and draw conclusions about how 
the process ordinarily or unfolds, and' 
about how judges and other actors in the pro-

conduct themselves, 
The case that Killenbeck re­

eounts involved James McCulloch and his re­
fusal to pay a tax imposed by the state of 
Maryland on the Second Bank of the United 
Stales, The litigation that ensued has assured 
Mr. McCulloch a of immortality in con­

stitutional law as the most if 
not notorious, bank cashier in nineteenth cen­
tury American history, 

As the editors of the Landmark series ob­
serve, "The lives of landmark cases are never 
short have their m 

,,68 Certainly McCulloch is no excep­
tion, Its roots lie in one of the first 
over the 
in President first term: whether 

could and should charter a bank, In 
foHowed Hamilton's re-

and chartered the Bank of 
the United States, After the Madison admin­
istration allowed the Bank to in I II, 

created the Second Bank in 1816, It 
was this institution that 1818 had become 
the of considerable anti-bank sentiment 
in Maryland and elsewhere. 
der the of a revenue measure a 
land statute that the Bank buy spe­
cial stamped paper from the state on which to 
print its notes or pay a fee of$1 per year. 

the Bank could close its Mary­
land branch in where McCulloch 
was cashier. The state's was clear. 
Maryland wanted to make the Bank's cost of 

business in the state and to 
drive the U.S. Bank notes out of circulation in 
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to notes issued Maryland banks. 

When McCulloch refused to with the 

the state brought suit to compel obedience. 

Following defeats in two courts, the 

Bank to the United States 
Court. The the case presented were 

simply stated but profound in their implica­

tions: Did Congress possess the authority to . 
charter the Bank? If so, could Maryland tax 

the Bank? 

Oral argument in the able hands of 
William Wirt and Daniel Webster (for the 

and Luther Martin Maryland) be­

gan on 22, 181 more than a 

year after Maryland had passed the prohibitory 
law. Decision by the Court followed 

on March 6. The pace was remarkable 

nineteenth-century-and later-standards 

of practice and attempted enforce­

ment of the measure, rulings by two state 

courts, docketing, and decision 

in the Supreme Court all took place within 

about weeks. 

The Bank won and lost on both 
questions. But the of the decision 

went well an affirmation of congres­

sional authority to create a bank and a de­

nial of Maryland's authoritv to tax it. Chief 

on an !c"-""'!CUII 

tional powers, Hamilton's own ar­

to Washington in support of a bank 
years before. In Marshall's view, 

not only did the Necessarv and PrODer Clause 

of Article I, section 
of means in carrying out the powers that the 

Constitution expressly but by "nec­

essary" Marshall reasoned that these implied 

powers need be convenient and ap­

not essential. Congress pos­

sessed not those powers granted by the 
Constitution but an indefinite number of oth­

ers as well unless by the Constitu­
tion. the breadth that the Constitu­

tion allowed in a choice of means was largely 
a matter for not the to 

decide. 

As for Maryland's tax on the Bank, Mar­

shall's reply practically assumed that the state 

had taxed a department of the national gov­

ernment, not merely a chartered 
by in which the national governmen 

held a minority interest. A part of the union 

could not be allowed to cripple the whole. 

For defenders of state 
Marshall's opinion was a double dose of bad 

news. the ordinary remedy for unaccept­

able national legislation lay not with the Court 

but with 

be attentive to victims ofslate 
McCulloch therefore stood for the 

that the Court was to be less a fo­
rum to the limits of national power and 

more a forum to protect national from local in­

terests. Once Congress the Bank 

inferentially, any other national instrumental-

enjoyed constitutional immunity from hos­

tile state actions. "[A] state of has now 

grown up in some of the states," Justice John­

son would write in another case, "which ren­

ders all the necessary, that the gen­
eral government can to this bank."70 A 

measure of the of the deci­

from the of the twenty-first 

is to ponder the consequences had the 

case been decided against the Bank on both 

As for cashier McCulloch, his career with 

the Bank, if not with ended in May 
1819, when he was dismissed after it was re­

to one source, that he had en­

in frauds involving well over one million 

dollars. 71 Little wonder the Bank seemed short 

of friends among the Later indicted 

on fraud chames in McCulloch was 
acquitted in 1823. Soon the former cashier 

was elected to the state and in 

1826 named ofthe state house of rep­
resentatives. In 1842 he was confirmed 

the United States Senate as First 

of the been nominated to 

that post by President John Tyler. Presum­

ably enough Senators concluded that he was 

by then a reformed man, because 

http:dollars.71
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the Senate in those days conducted such busi­

ness in executive no record of the 

floor deliberations survives. Still, for Sena­

tors with good McCulloch's nomi­
nation must surely have provoked an awkward 

discussion. 
The Bank did not fare as well. In July 

1832, President Andrew Jackson vetoed a bill 
renewing and the Bank's 

which expired on its own terms in March I 

just days before the Senate confirmed Roger 

B. Taney as John Marshall's successor follow-


the death of the Great Chief Justice in 

1835. Ironically, as Jackson's of the 


had a hand in drafting Jack­
son's veto message for the Bank bill,73 a mes­

sage that the constitutional finality of 
Marshall's opinion in McCulloch: 

The opinion of the no 

more authority over than 

the opinion of has over the 
and on that point the Presi­

dent is independent of both. The au­

thodty of the Court must 
not, to con­

trol the or the Executive 

when acting in their capac­

but to have only such influence 

as the force of their may 

deserve. 74 

Wholly from the policy issue of the 
desirability ofa national bank, Marshall's opin­

ion failed to persuade others as 
those who resisted the TOlr.• rp"p im­

plications of his jurisprudential conclusions, 

which touched even the slavery issue, as did 

almost every other pol itical in the pre-
Civil War era. 75 Jndeed, the decision the' 

nineteenth equivalent of talk radio 
and the blogosphere: a 

icism of Marshall was so 

in Virginia and in other places where critical 

essays opponents such as William Brock­

enbrough, Amos Kendall, and Roane 

were the Chief given 

the importance of what was at stake, felt com­

to author a series in his own de­

fense under the pen name "Friend of the Con­

stitution" that were published in the Alexandria 
Gazette. 76 

despite Jacksonian ascen­
dancy, which largely dominated American 

itics until the Civil War, as a pil­

lar of American remained 

In part, this was because its oppo­

nents and the of the Bank were too 

successful. 
the Bank or cr.rnt>Tt'\. 

vetoed the 

There was thus no bank to before a Bench 
without Marshall's presence, have 

felt less wedded to his doctrines of national 

supremacy. with Jacksonian values 

driving national policy for much of the pre­

Civil War there was a deal1h of other 

passed that might have a 

reexamination of this part of the constitutional 
foundation Marshall put into 

The confrontation over the Bank and na­

tional power between the Court and Jackso­

nian Democracy was first but hardly 
the last bouts of Court-directed animus in the 

political system. As Charles Gardner of 

Indiana University School of Law at Bloom­

ington skillfully describes in When Courts 
& Congress Collide,78 such sugges­

tive encounters, have come at "gen­

erational intervals since the founding of the 
nation,,79--or at least, one add, since it 

became apparent that the legal role of the 

would be a governing role as well. The 

Marshall Court, for example, encountered op­

position from President Jefferson as well as 
President Jackson. There was tension bel:\veen 

the Court and President Lincoln after 
1860,80 and further tensions between 

and the Court over various 

construction. Populists and railed 

the during the decades on 

either side of the turn of the twentieth cen­

tury, and President Franklin Roosevelt under­

took an audacious assault on the Court some 

thirty years later. As if a I.atter of 

http:deserve.74
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critics was not to be outdone, attacks on the 

Court during the 19S0s and 1960s included 

calls for Chief Justice Warren's !m­

Much more recently, the Court has 

been the target of both conservatives and lib­

erals for decisions that have for­

saken the rule of law and written the 

of the Justices into the law of the 

land. As Geyh the receives 

For one 

commentator on the 

gantly authoritarian" and "a band of outlaws" 

that has promoted and license in the 

moral order." From the the Court seems to 

be the "felonious five," the shills 

for the right wing of the Republican party," 

and "iudicial sociooaths" who "belong behind 

has not gone 

study follows others that have ex­

amined this of the political dimension of 

the judicial process82 Moreover, at­

tacks on the judiciary seem inevitable in 

the American political system for at least two 

fundamental reasons. On the one there 

is the ideal of constitutionalism itself and lim­

ited the Constitu­

tion. On the other hand, there is the 

The first is institution­

Court and the rest of 

the federal judiciary, where judges are deliber­

shielded from the usual political account­

ability. The second is institutionalized in repre­

sentative govenmlent and a system ofelections 

that encourage the same accountability that the 

first 

Yet the 

yields substantive injudicial de­

cisiol1s. "Whereas threats to diminish and COI1­

troljudges are commonplace, on 

those threats is not For example, no fed­

eral has ever been removed for making 

unpopular and there is no modern 

instance where has totally 

the courts of all authority to hear certain kinds 

of cases. then, has the 

remained within its scab-

this as the re­

sult of the rise of a zone of autonomy, or a 
zone of ,,84 for the 

courts. Over time, Congress came to appre­
np"A",,,t judieiary. 

of means to control court it 

them as antithetical to ju­

dicial independence. I n other having 

Iy the benefits of an inde­

system of courts, concl uded 

that those values were incompatible with direct 

control. Thus, the independent as it 
is known today, "derives less from the text of 

the Constitution or from judicial divinations 

of that text than from institutional norms that 

have over the course of the relation­

ship between the courts and Congress and that 

are now an entrenched of our constitu­
tional culture.,,85 As a despite the harsh 

rhetoric about the courts that continues to be 

heard from time to a serious breach of 

the wall of independence by Congress IS 

probably as improbable as it would be politi­

cally and costly. 

The one obvious deviation "from this tra­

dition of and deference 

has been in the area of 

ments which has been 

since Washington's administra­

tion, when the Senate the nomination 

of former Justice John Rutledge to succeed 

John as Chief Justice. This development 

that has since the 1790s thus presents 

a question: What "explains the emergence 

appointments as the battlefield of 

choice for control of the courts, !.dven the 

of alternate According to 

"As customary independence became 

increasingly entrenched toward the end of the 

nineteenth century and as gradually 

rejected other means at its disposal to curb the 

courts, the appointment process ... 

as the one viable mechanism that 

would allow to influence judicial 
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decision making."gg In the 

branch has come to rely upon the same means 

that were in the hands of the executive branch 

at the outset. 

characterizes the 

velopment as equilibrium, a term 

and he borrows from as 

varied as art, botany, and economics. It refers to 

a condition or balance resulting from the inter­

action ofopposing forces. These forces consist 

of ( I ) the between and the 

courts, the tension between the principles of 

independence and accountability, the colli­

sion between constitutional text and social and 

priorities, and the competition be-

and relatively po­

law as a shill 

to conceal nakedly political decision of 

a sort best reserved for or the 

then such , . becomes 

indefensible .. , . however, we con­

clude that judges continue to an important 

the rule oflaw, then judicial 

retains its status as a vital instru­

mental value, and the eonstitutional norms that 

have IJ"J"""',-,U the judiciary's 

for over two eenturies deserve our 
support,,90 

The interaction between 

cal factors to which 

where 

definite article is 

not only part of the title but reflects the con­

tents of this compact and readable 

book. 

At one the volume is a collection 

of fouf nearly essays about four 

remarkable Black, Felix 

William O. Douglas, and Robert 

H. Jackson-who served on the Court during 

the years demarcated 	 the title92 All ap­

by Franklin this 

a brief time proceeded to vote and write in 

ways consistent with a simultaneous commit­

ment to civil rights ex-

and economic narrowly, 

themselves from the misdirec­
'~93 

At a second The Great Justices 
explores a "How could it 

that these sharing core jurispruden­

tial beliefs and ambitions before appointment, 

divided as did into liberal 

and conservative 

swer to the question he poses is "personality," 

conceived95 "When the characters are 

and the jurisprudential stakes an 

approach personal over full­

blown biography or constitutional history does 

its best work. For Domnarski, it is "the per­

sonal side of a that informs a 

interactions with the on the Court 

and helps to shape the arc of a justice'S ca­

reer. is the active ingredient that 
take to the Court,,,97 a point that Jus­

tice Frankfurter himselfemphasized: "The true 
face even ofa public man is his private face.,,98 

The on is enriched the 

author's research in a variety of sources, in­

cluding the transcripts at Princeton University 
of the Douglas 99 and in turn 

reveals three stories that unfolded this 

One of these stories is the evolving ju­

risprudence on civil liberties and civil 

and the role that each Justice played, es­

pecially in terms of the differences among 

them that are eonveniently displayed statis­

tically in the nine tables that comprise the 

and voting and 

alignments of the four Justices. too The sec­

ond story is "about the justices themselves and 

the of each of them to let 

resentment, and intransigence prompt self­
destructive contrariness.,,'ol That pighead­

edness could characterize these 

Domnarski "means that it could 

pen to any of the current the 
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is not time-locked to 

any particular judicial era. The third is 

"about the Court as an institution and its rela­

tion to the American public, a public that can 
find in the Court the paradox of inscrutability 

just beyond its public face. how the 
Court works is as today as it was 
then." I 03 

At still a third level, Domnarski notes 

differences benveen the Court on 

which Black, and Frankfurter sat and 

the Court of Most prominent, 

is that the Court of "is 

an institutional anonymity, fashioned in part 

through who a low public pro­
file and in part through the bland, JlVIIIlV!,;'C­

nous, and voiceless prose of law clerks."104 

In contrast, "not only did the individual 

rices of the group offour have their individual 

voices, which they with their unsur­

passed ability, the Court as well had 
a voice that shunned the institutionaL"los In 

Domnarski highlights Justice Pot­

ter Stewart's estimate of Jackson that because 
of his "extraordinary gift to express what he 

had to say with such clarity and there 

shines through the pages of his not 

just his intellect, but the whole force of his 
personaiity."1()6 Missing today, Domnarski be-

are the public-oriented 

that some of the most 
tantcasesofthe 1941-54era."lo7 

"the justices of that era were public figures 
,dOSof a sort unknown by today's 

a that probably reveals more about 

the than the 
themselves.109 Such differences matter, he be­

lieves, in our "judicially tinged "110 

Yet one recalls the assessment offered posthu­
in 1954 Justice Jackson: that the 

"whatever its defects," "is sti II the most 

and cus­

todian that our affords for the trans­
lation of abstract into concrete constitutional 
demands. II 
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example, according to Alexander Hamilton's notes 

accompanying the debates for June 6,1787, althe Philadel­
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